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Key Figures

2023 2022

19. 19.40

Revenue in BN € Revenue in BN €

0./6 119 0./3 112

Net income' excluding Dividend per share Net income' excluding spe-  Dividend per share
special items? in BN € in €3 cial items and PRF2in BN € in€

119,345 ... 128,044 ...

332,548... 344,687 ..

Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG.

2 2023: costs related to the FME25 program, Humacyte Investment Remeasurement, Legal Form Conversion Costs and impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization; 2022: costs related to the FME25 Program, Net Gain Related to InterWell Health, Humacyte Investment Remeasurement, Hyperinflation in
Turkiye and Impacts Related to the War in Ukraine. Additionally, 2022 was adjusted for the Provider Relief Funding.

¢ Proposal to be approved by the Annual General Meeting on May 16, 2024.

* Headcount.
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Fresenius Medical Care is the world’s
leading provider of products and
services for individuals with kidney
diseases, of whom around 4.1 million
worldwide depend on dialysis treat-
ment. Thanks to our decades of
experience in dialysis, our innovative
research, and our value-based care
approach, we help our patients enjoy
the very best quality of life.

SELECTED KEY FIGURES

]
O

2023 2022 Change
Revenue in € BN 19.45 19.40 5% cc
Net income’ in € BN 0.50 0.67 (24%) cc
Net income' excl. special items and PRF? in € BN 0.76 0.73 6% cc
Operating income in € BN 1.37 1.561 (7%) cc
Operating income excl. special items and PRF?
in €BN 1.74 1.54 15% cc
Basic earnings per share in € 1.70 2.30 (24%) cc
Basic earnings per share excl. special items and
PRF2in € 2.58 2.49 6% cc
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
in € BN 2.63 217 21%
Free cash flow® in € BN 1.96 1.48 32%
Capital expenditures, net in € BN (0.67) (0.69) (8%)
Acquisitions and investments
(excl. investments in debt securities) in € BN (0.04) (0.06) (40%)
Operating income margin excl. special items and
PRF? in % 8.9 7.9
Return on invested capital (ROIC)* in % 2.8 3.3
Net leverage ratio® 3.2 3.4
Equity ratio (equity/total assets)® in % 43.7 43.2

cc = at constant currency

" Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG.

2 2023: costs related to the FME25 program, Humacyte Investment Remeasurement, Legal Form Conversion Costs and
impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization; 2022: costs related to the FME25 Program, Net Gain Related to InterWell
Health, Humacyte Investment Remeasurement, Hyperinflation in Turkiye and Impacts Related to the War in Ukraine. Addi-

tionally, 2022 was adjusted for the Provider Relief Funding.

3 Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, after capital expenditures, before acquisitions and investments.
4 See calculation in the Group Management Report, chapter “Overview of the Group”, section “Performance management

system” starting on page 36.

5 See calculation in the Group Management Report, chapter “Economic Report”, section “Results of operations, financial posi-
tion and net assets — Financial position — Financing strategy” starting on page 56.

6 As of December 31 of the respective year.
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We continteé
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Kidney care. |
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| etter to our
Shareholders

Dear Shareholders,

The year 2023 was a transformative one for Fresenius Medical Care, as we
set out to achieve important structural, operational, and cultural changes.
With your support, and thanks to the hard work and dedication of our
employees around the world, | am proud to say that we successfully
executed on our commitment of fundamental transformation and made
progress against all facets of our strategic plan.

The structural changes we set out to achieve were no small undertaking.
We introduced a new operating model, realigning our business into two
distinct global segments: Care Delivery and Care Enablement. This then
enabled us to implement a new financial reporting framework with
enhanced transparency. And we significantly simplified our governance
structure with the change of our legal form, which in turn strengthened the
rights of our free float shareholders.

Critically, we achieved all of this in 2023 while driving a turnaround of the
Helen Giza business and improving our operating and financial returns. | thank you -
Chief Executive e our shareholders — along with our employees and our patients, for your

and Chair of the . . L .
ongoing support and trust during this important year of level-setting.
Management Bo going supp 9 P y 9
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Exceeding expectations: Our 2023 performance

Last year was not only a year of great structural change but also of opera-
tional performance turnaround and improving financial key performance

indicators. For fiscal year 2023, we delivered top- and bottom-line growth, i | m r d 't 't h 't
even exceeding our twice-raised earnings outlook. a p O u O S ay a

At the same time, we continued to successfully execute on our FME25

transformation program. We achieved annual sustainable savings of We S u C C e S S u y exe C u e

346 million euros, ahead of our initial plan for the year (250 to 300 million \

euros). The program continues well on track to achieving the targeted

650 million euros of sustainable annual savings by year end 2025. O n O u r C O I I | I I I I I I l e n O

Additionally, we made significant progress on our turnaround efforts in .

Care Delivery in the U.S., driving operational efficiencies in labor productiv- u n al I l e n a ra n S O rl | l a I O n y

ity and improving our clinic operating leverage.

We have been moving at speed on our portfolio optimization program to a n d I I | ad e p rO g re S S

reduce distraction and focus on our core and higher margin businesses. In

the first quarter of 2023 we ceased the development of a non-global dialy- .

sis cycler. Later in the year we announced and closed divestments of our ag al n St al | faC etS Of O u r
clinic network and production sites in Argentina; our clinic network in Hun-

gary; and National Cardiovascular Partners (NCP), our cardiovascular clinic ] b3

network in the U.S. In 2023 we announced additional divestments that are St rate g I C p | a n

subject to regulatory approval and are in the process of closing. These .

include our clinic network in Sub-Saharan Africa and Cura Day Hospital

Group in Australia.

The divestments closed in 2023 accounted for 214 million euros of reve-
nue and 20 million euros of operating income.
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CEO Helen Giza looks
back on a strong
performance in 2023.
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Disciplined capital allocation

Our strategic plan includes a stringent financial framework and a clear
capital allocation priority to deleverage, strengthen our balance sheet, and
create headroom for our strategy beyond our published 2025 plans.

| am very proud to report a 21 percent increase in operating cash flow. In
line with our commitment to deleverage, we used proceeds from the Tri-
care settlement, as well as 135 million euros in divestment proceeds, to
reduce debt. Net financial as well as total debt including lease liabilities
was meaningfully reduced by 1 billion euros in 2023.

We have been successful in reducing our net leverage ratio from 3.4x to
3.2x, putting us closer to the lower end of our self-imposed target range of
3.0x to 3.5x.

CORPORATE
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In light of fully being on track for our deleveraging and as prescribed by
our dividend policy, for 2023 the Supervisory Board and Management
Board propose a dividend of 1.19 euros per share. This 6 percent increase
is in line with our year-over-year adjusted net income growth.

Purpose-driven. Patient-centric.

At Fresenius Medical Care we are driving change and executing against
our strategic priorities from a very privileged position.

As the leading vertically integrated kidney care company worldwide, our
products serve roughly half of the world’s dialysis patients. Those suffering
from kidney disease count on us in the most fundamental ways. We are
truly Creating a future worth living. For patients. Worldwide. Every day.

In 2023 we continued to make progress toward our sustainability goals.
Underscoring our focus on high quality care, patient feedback measured
by the Net Promoter Score resulted in an “excellent” designation of 72.
Throughout 2023 we saw sequential stability in our clinical quality perfor-
mance at a high level, another important measurement of patient service
and care.

With our commitment to the Science Based Targets Initiative (SBTi), we
underlined our goal to achieve climate neutrality in our operations by 2040,
in line with the Paris Agreement.

Aligned with our commitment to increase the proportion of women in man-
agement across the two levels below the Management Board, | am pleased
to report the achievement of a four point increase in 2023 (34 percent in
2023 versus 30 percent in 2022). By the end of 2027 we aim to increase the
share of women in the first level below the Management Board to 35 per-
cent, and the share of women in the second level to 45 percent.
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Focused execution: Our 2024 roadmap

2024 will be a year of continued disciplined execution and value, building
on the critical foundational work accomplished in 2023. As we move fur-
ther away from the COVID-19 pandemic, we anticipate a return to treat-
ment volume growth in the U.S. over the course of the year.

Financially, in 2024 we expect to deliver revenue growth in the low- to
mid-single digit percent range, and operating income growth in the mid-
to high-teens percent range, compared to prior year.

Through on-going execution of our FME25 transformation plan,
we expect to achieve an additional 100 to 150 million euros in sustain-
able savings.

Portfolio optimization continues at speed throughout the year. At the
beginning of the year, we announced the sale of our clinic network in Tur-
kiye. In March we announced the sale of dialysis clinics in Brazil, Colom-
bia, Chile, and Ecuador for a total transaction price of 300 million euros.
The transactions represent further important milestones in our portfolio
optimization program, with each expected to close throughout 2024.

Looking further ahead

We have re-confirmed our group margin target of 10 percent to 14 percent
by 2025, with a detailed roadmap to achieve it. While it is critical that we
remain focused on executing against our current strategic plan through
2025, in parallel, | am working with the Management Board and my Lead-
ership team to shape the future of Fresenius Medical Care beyond 2025.

| am very excited by the opportunity to once again lead the market in kid-
ney care innovation with the introduction of high volume hemodiafiltration
(“high volume HDF”) in the U.S.

Building on the success achieved in Europe, in February 2024 we
announced receipt of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration clearance for
our 5008x Hemodiafiltration system. This system, which is enabled by our
expertise in membrane technology, delivers meaningful mortality reduc-
tions and has the potential to be a game-changer for patients in the U.S.

MANAGEMENT REPORT
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and for our commercial success. Thanks to our vertically integrated busi-
ness model, we are well positioned to once more set the new standard of
care for our industry.

We are taking a holistic approach and remain long-term focused in shaping
our strategy beyond 2025. Capital allocation and shareholder returns are
crucial focus points in the definition of the strategy.

| would like to thank you for your ongoing trust in us and support as we
continue to further strengthen our business and position ourselves to once
again shape the future of kidney care.

Sincerely,

Helen Giza

Chief Executive Officer and
Chair of the Management Board
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Management Board

Helen Giza
CEO and Chair
(since December 2022)

William Valle
Care Delivery

{fromisanuanezios Chief Financial Officer
until December 2023) =i (from November 2019

ic 4 e- until September 2023)

Franklin

W. Maddux, MD
Global Medical Officer
(since January 2020)
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Martin Fischer
Chief Financial Officer
(since October 2023)

Dr. Katarzyna
Mazur-Hofsas
Care Enablement
(since January 2022)
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Report by the
Supervisory Board

Dear Shareholders,

We reflect on an eventful year, one that Fresenius Medical Care AG has
successfully completed. Persistent geopolitical conflicts and a challenging
macroeconomic environment have characterized the past year and thus
influenced the health care market. Rapid developments in technology, such
as artificial intelligence, in the utilization of large datasets, and advances in
biology and drug research, are bringing about fundamental changes in the
health care industry.

Amidst these changes, Fresenius Medical Care has even exceeded its own
targets set for the fiscal year 2023. The Company has implemented a new
operating model along with transparent financial reporting and has consis-
tently advanced the transformation and optimization of its portfolio. Follow-
ing the deconsolidation from the Fresenius Group and the change of legal
form, Fresenius Medical Care has opened a new chapter. This historic step
grants the Company more freedom and more responsibility. Fresenius
Medical Care can now fully focus on what it does best: advocating for the
well-being of patients worldwide.

In the past year, the Supervisory Board has been reconstituted. | extend my
sincere gratitude to the outgoing members for their dedication, energy, and
ideas. To the new members, | wish them every success in their work for the
benefit of Fresenius Medical Care.

On behalf of the Supervisory Board, | express my appreciation to the lead-
ership team and all employees for their successful work during this chal-
lenging year. | warmly congratulate Martin Fischer and Craig Cordola on
their appointment to the Management Board. | also extend my gratitude to
William Valle, the outgoing board member, for his significant contributions
to shaping the Company over many years.

For 2024 and beyond, the foundation for sustainable, value-creating growth
has been laid. | am convinced that the management team, led by CEO
, Michael Sen Helen Giza, together with the dedicated employees, will build upon what
/ S hairgien Y has been achieved and successfully tackle the significant challenges of
. of the Supervisory Board
! today and tomorrow.
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Fresenius Medical Care successfully implemented several sig-
nificant steps in the past fiscal year. As an important mile-
stone, the change of legal form from a partnership limited by
shares (Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien — KGaA) to a stock
corporation (Aktiengesellschaft - AG) was successfully com-
pleted on November 30, 2023. Since then, the Company has
the legal form of an AG with the company name “Fresenius
Medical Care AG”. The resulting simplified corporate gover-
nance structure gives the company more flexibility and auton-
omy and strengthens the role of the free float shareholders.

The General Partner Fresenius Medical Care Management AG
ceased to be the Company’s general partner upon the change
of the legal form of the Company becoming effective. The
management of the Company and the conduct of its business
are now no longer the responsibility of the general partner, but
of the Management Board of the Company." Furthermore,
upon the change of legal form becoming effective and the exit
of the General Partner, the Company only has one Supervisory
Board that combines the responsibilities of the Supervisory
Board of the Company in the legal form of the KGaA on the one
hand and of the Supervisory Board of the General Partner on
the other hand.? In deviation from the Supervisory Board of the
Company in the legal form of the KGaA, the Supervisory Board
in the legal form of the AG is now also responsible for the
appointment, dismissal and compensation of the members of
the Management Board as well as resolutions on the approval
of transactions requiring approval.

Furthermore, Fresenius Medical Care continuously advanced
its structural change initiated in the past fiscal year with the
implementation of the new operating model with two global
operating segments (Care Delivery and Care Enablement) and

' Against this background, references to the Management Board in the Report by the Supervisory
Board refer to the Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG for the period
until the change of legal form became effective on November 30, 2023 and to the Management
Board of Fresenius Medical Care AG for the period thereafter.

2 Against this background, the information in the Report by the Supervisory Board for the period until
the change of legal form became effective on November 30, 2023 refer to the Supervisory Board of
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and to the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care
AG for the period thereafter.
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the alignment of the financial reporting with the new structure.
By the measures taken to increase operational efficiency and
the turnaround plan, significant sustainable savings were
achieved as part of the FME25 transformation program. In
addition, Fresenius Medical Care advanced the optimization of
its portfolio and withdrew from unsustainable markets and
divested non-core businesses that had a dilutive effect on the
operating margin.

Fresenius Medical Care will continue to pursue and expand
the FME25 transformation program to continuously optimize
its processes along the new operating model. Through a clear
focus on strengthening the core business and further opera-
tional and structural efficiencies, the Company aims to return
to a sustainable profitable growth path and improve the cre-
ation of shareholder value. Fresenius Medical Care will, in par-
ticular, focus on the core areas of company structure, capital
allocation, operational efficiency and portfolio optimization.

Significant events concerning the organization and composi-
tion of the Management Board or the Supervisory Board were:

> New composition of the Supervisory Board
As a consequence of the change of legal form, the Supervi-
sory Board of Fresenius Medical Care AG is to be composed
in accordance with different statutory provisions than before.
The Supervisory Board is now composed of twelve mem-
bers, six of whom represent the shareholders of the Com-
pany (shareholder representatives) and six of whom represent
the employees of the Company (employee representatives).
The term of office of the previous members of the Supervi-
sory Board of the Company ended upon the effectiveness of
the change of the legal form of the Company on Novem-
ber 30, 2023. The shareholder representatives on the Super-
visory Board of the Company in the legal form of the AG were
elected by the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Com-
pany on July 14, 2023 or, based on the appointment right
(Entsendungsrecht) in favor of Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA,
have been appointed by the latter. The shareholder represen-
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tatives on the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care
AG are Mr. Michael Sen (Chairman of the Supervisory Board),
Ms. Sara Hennicken, Mr. Shervin J. Korangy, Dr. Marcus Kuh-
nert, Mr. Gregory Sorensen, M.D., and Ms. Pascale Witz.
Mr. Sen and Ms. Hennicken were appointed to the Compa-
ny’s Supervisory Board by Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA, while
the other shareholder representatives were elected to the
Supervisory Board by the Extraordinary General Meeting of
the Company. The employee representatives on the Supervi-
sory Board of the Company will be elected by the employees
in the course of 2024 in accordance with the applicable stat-
utory provisions. In order to ensure that the Supervisory
Board is already fully staffed before the conclusion of these
elections, Ms. Stefanie Balling, Ms. Beate HaBdenteufel, Mr.
Frank Michael Prescher, Dr. Manuela Stauss-Grabo, Mr.
Ralf Erkens and Ms. Regina Karsch have been appointed as
employee representatives to the Supervisory Board of the
Company, upon motion of the Management Board of the
Company, by court order of the local court of Hof (Saale),
Germany, effective as of January 26, 2024. The term of office
of the court-appointed employee representatives on the
Supervisory Board of the Company will remain effective until
completion of the election of employee representatives by
Fresenius Medical Care’s workforce located in Germany.

Changes in the Management Board

Effective October 1, 2023, Mr. Martin Fischer was appointed
as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) to the Management Board
with responsibility for the global finance organization of
Fresenius Medical Care. He succeeded Ms. Helen Giza, who
was appointed Chair of the Management Board in December
2022 and continued to serve as acting CFO until her succes-
sor took office. Mr. Fischer had been Head of Finance for Sie-
mens Healthineers’ Diagnostics Division based in Tarrytown,
New York, U.S. since 2019. Previously, he headed the Board
Office and Organizations function for Siemens Healthineers
and was responsible for the development of the business
plan and the reorganization of the operating model for the
company’s initial public offering in March 2018. Prior to that,
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Mr. Fischer held a number of key international operational and
finance positions in the health care sector within Siemens AG.
Mr. Fischer holds a degree in business informatics from the
Reutlingen University of Applied Sciences for Technology and
Economics and an MBA from Friedrich Alexander University
in Nuremberg and completed the Chief Financial Officer Pro-
gram at Columbia Business School in New York, USA.

As of January 1, 2024, Mr. Craig Cordola was appointed as
member of the Management Board and Chief Executive Offi-
cer of the Care Delivery segment which consolidates the
global health care services business. As part of a planned
transition, Mr. Cordola succeeded Mr. William Valle who left
the Management Board at the end of the year under review.
Prior to joining Fresenius Medical Care, Mr. Cordola served in
several executive roles with Ascension from 2017 through
2023, including Executive Vice President of Ascension Capi-
tal, Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, and
President and Chief Executive Officer, of Ascension Texas.
Previously, Mr. Cordola held several senior executive and
leadership positions at Memorial Hermann Health System in
Houston, Texas. He is a Fellow of the American College of
Healthcare Executives and holds a degree in Psychology from
The University of Texas in Austin. Furthermore, he also earned
a Master of Healthcare Administration (MHA) and a Master of
Business Administration (MBA) from the University of Hous-
ton-Clear Lake.

In the past fiscal year, the Supervisory Board once again
observed all duties imposed on it by law, the Articles of Asso-
ciation and the rules of procedure. In this context it also took
into account the recommendations and suggestions of the
German Corporate Governance Code. The Supervisory Board
supervised the Management Board or, respectively, the Gen-
eral Partner within its responsibility, regularly advised the
Management Board and was involved in decisions of funda-
mental importance to the Company. Supervision and advice
also included sustainability matters.
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All relevant questions of the business policy, the company’s
planning and the strategy were subject to the deliberations.
Reports of the Management Board on the course of the busi-
ness, the profitability and liquidity as well as on the situation
and outlook of the Company and the group formed the basis
for the work of the Supervisory Board. Further topics were the
risk situation and risk management as well as discussions on
portfolio changes and investment projects. The Supervisory
Board and its competent committees comprehensively dis-
cussed these as well as also all further significant business
events. The Supervisory Board passed resolutions within its
competencies according to law and the Articles of Association.

Meetings

In the past fiscal year, fifteen meetings of the Supervisory
Board, some of which lasted several days, were held (twelve
meetings of the Supervisory Board of the Company in the legal
form of the KGaA and three meetings of the Supervisory Board
of the Company in the legal form of the AG). Of these meet-
ings, seven meetings were conducted in presence, one meet-
ing was conducted as hybrid meeting, i.e., in presence with
the possibility of a virtual participation, and seven meetings
were conducted as video conferences. In addition, the mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board who are considered indepen-
dent within the meaning of the applicable provisions discussed
the intended change of legal form three times via video confer-
ences in the past fiscal year. The Supervisory Board also met
regularly without the Management Board. To the extent that
the auditor was called upon as an expert at meetings of the
Supervisory Board or its committees, members of the Man-
agement Board attended the meetings only to the extent
deemed necessary by the Supervisory Board or the commit-
tee, respectively.

The participation rate of the members at the meetings of the
Supervisory Board and its committees was in total 98.3%. The
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table on the next page shows the participation of the individual
members in the past fiscal year.?

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board cooper-
ate on a basis of trust to the benefit of the Company. The
Supervisory Board was in regular contact with the Manage-
ment Board and was always promptly and comprehensively
informed by it. Between meetings, the Management Board
reported to the Supervisory Board in writing. During the meet-
ings, the Management Board also informed the Supervisory
Board verbally. In addition, the Supervisory Board was also in
contact with members of the senior management level last
year. The members of the Management Board were further
available to the Supervisory Board for follow-up queries. The
Chair of the Supervisory Board maintained continuous con-
tact with the Management Board outside of the meetings, in
particular with the Chair of the Management Board, on ques-
tions regarding strategy, business development, the risk situa-
tion, risk management and compliance of the Company. In
case of important occasions or events, the Chair of the Man-
agement Board promptly informed the Chair of the Supervi-
sory Board. In such cases, the Chair of the Supervisory Board
subsequently informed the other members of the Supervisory
Board in the next meeting at the latest. During the entire fiscal
year, the Chair of the Supervisory Board also was in close con-
tact with the other members of the Supervisory Board.

The members of the Audit Committee are entitled to obtain
information, via the Chair of the Audit Committee, directly from
the heads of certain central departments of the Company. As in
previous years, it was however standard practice for the heads
of central departments to report directly to the Supervisory
Board and to be available for questions and for discussion.

2 The employee representatives were appointed to the Supervisory Board only after the end of the
year under review. The Nomination Committee and the Joint Committee did not convene in the
year under review and are therefore not shown in this overview.
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T1.1  PARTICIPATION OF THE MEMBERS IN THE MEETINGS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND THE COMMITTEES

IN THE PAST FISCAL YEAR

Supervisory Audit Presiding Compensation

Board Committee* Committee Committee

Rolf A. Classon 11/12 7/8 - -
Sara Hennicken 3/3 - - -
Shervin J. Korangy 3/3 - - M
Dr. Marcus Kuhnert 3/3 1 1 -
Dr. Dieter Schenk 12/12 - - -
Michael Sen 3/3 - 1N -
Gregory Sorensen, MD 15/15 i - -
Dr. Dorothea Wenzel 12/12 8/8 - -
Pascale Witz 15/15 9/9 - 11
Prof. Dr. Gregor Ziund 12/12 - - -

* Until November 30, 2023: Audit and Corporate Governance Committee

Focus of the discussions
in the Supervisory Board

One of the main focus areas of the Supervisory Board’s discus-
sions in the past year was the comprehensive support of the
Management Board with the change of legal form from a part-
nership limited by shares (Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien —
KGaA) to a stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft — AG). In
particular, when preparing its proposed resolution on the
change of legal form for the Extraordinary General Meeting of
the Companyon July 14, 2023, the Supervisory Board carefully
reviewed whether the change of legal form is in the best inter-
est of the Company and its shareholders and, in this context,
thoroughly considered the effects and potential risks of the
change of legal form.

At several meetings, the Supervisory Board also focused on
the further development of the FME25 transformation program

by the Management Board and was extensively involved in its
implementation during the year under review.

In the year under review, the Supervisory Board also dealt with
investments, the business strategy, the portfolio optimization,
including the divestment of non-core businesses, as well as
strategically relevant environmental, social and governance
(ESG) aspects.

As part of its strategic focus, Fresenius Medical Care concen-
trates on businesses and markets that offer the greatest
potential for sustainable profitable growth. The Company is
therefore withdrawing from unsustainable markets and selling
non-core businesses that have a dilutive effect on the operat-
ing margin. The Company is thus placing a clear focus on debt
reduction as part of a stringent approach to capital allocation.
In this context, Fresenius Medical Care withdrew from the dial-
ysis business in Argentina and Hungary in the year under
review and agreed the strategic sale of dialysis centers in
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southern Africa. The Company also completed the sale of its
outpatient cardiovascular clinic business National Cardiovas-
cular Partners in the USA. In addition, Fresenius Medical Care
reached an agreement on the sale of the Australian Cura Day
Hospitals Group in the year under review, subject to final reg-
ulatory approval.

The business development, the competitive situation and the
Management Board’s planning for the individual functions and
business segments were also focal points of the Supervisory
Board’s discussions. The Supervisory Board was also exten-
sively informed by the Management Board about a study by a
pharmaceutical manufacturer on the efficacy of GLP-1 recep-
tor agonists. In this context, the Management Board provided
the Supervisory Board with comprehensive reports on the
potential impact on the patient base and the evaluated conse-
quences for the expected business base and business devel-
opment. In joint consultations with the Management Board,
the development of the production quantities and their expan-
sion were also discussed.

In the past fiscal year, the Supervisory Board again discussed
the development of cost reimbursement in the various health
care systems, in particular in the U.S. With a view to the con-
tinued aim of increasing efficiency, the Supervisory Board fur-
ther informed itself also in the past year about the success of
the measures taken by the management already in previous
years to improve the cost situation.

In the past fiscal year, the Supervisory Board also dealt with
the preparation of a revised compensation system for the
members of the Management Board for approval at the Com-
pany’s 2024 AGM, which shall apply to the compensation of all
current Management Board members from 2024 onwards. It is
intended in particular to include sustainability as a perfor-
mance target also for the long-term incentive and to introduce,
in addition to the already existing shareholding requirements,
formal Share Ownership Guidelines, which will link the long-
term development of the Company even more closely to the
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compensation of the Management Board. In accordance with
the regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion (SEC) and the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) applica-
ble to the Company as a foreign private issuer, the Supervisory
Board also resolved to introduce a policy providing for the
recovery, under certain circumstances, of incentive-based
compensation paid to members of the Management Board on
the basis of financial information that is subsequently restated
(so-called Incentive-Based Compensation Recovery Policy).

The Supervisory Board also dealt with group financing matters
in the year under review. In the past fiscal year, Fresenius
Medical Care refinanced a bond in the amount of EUR 650 mil-
lion, which matured in November 2023. The Company used a
mix of long-term bank financing at very attractive financing
conditions as well as cash and short-term loans for refinancing.

The Supervisory Board was also in the year under review reg-
ularly informed about the Company’s compliance. Findings of
the internal audit department were also taken into account. In
particular, the Supervisory Board has also informed itself
about the findings, assessments and recommendations of the
independent expert (Monitor) engaged by the Company in ful-
fillment of its obligations under the agreements it entered into
in March 2019 with the U.S. Department of Justice (DoJ) and
the SEC with a view to provisions of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act (FCPA). The “Non-Prosecution Agreement” con-
cluded in this context expired on March 2, 2023, and the sep-
arate SEC order expired on March 29, 2023.

The Supervisory Board also received detailed reports on the
IT security systems and measures implemented at Fresenius
Medical Care, including data security incidents that occurred
in the year under review and their remediation.

The Annual General Meeting of the Company in the year under
review was held as a virtual general meeting without the phys-
ical presence of shareholders or their proxies on May 16, 2023.
The Extraordinary Annual General Meeting of the Company on
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July 14, 2023, which resolved on the change of the Company’s
legal form was held as a physical meeting. In this context, the
Supervisory Board also prepared the selection of the candi-
dates proposed separately for election as shareholder repre-
sentatives on the Supervisory Board. In doing so, the
Supervisory Board paid particular attention to ensuring that
the candidates proposed for election had a broad range of
skills and backgrounds, namely extensive experience in vari-
ous areas of health care and in all major markets, including the
USA. Further details can be found in the Declaration on Cor-
porate Governance starting on page 134 of the Annual Report
(Geschéaftsbericht).

Committees of
the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board has formed professionally qualified
committees from among its members that support the Super-
visory Board as a whole in its supervisory and advisory func-
tions and the adoption of resolutions of the Supervisory Board.
The respective Chairs of the committees have regularly
reported to the Supervisory Board on the work of the commit-
tees. Details of the composition of the Supervisory Board’s
committees can be found in the Declaration on Corporate
Governance which can be found starting on page 134 of the
Annual Report.
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Audit Committee

In accordance with its rules of procedure, the Audit Commit-
tee (until November 30, 2023: Audit and Corporate Gover-
nance Committee) in particular performs all the duties imposed
on an audit committee pursuant to section 107 paragraph 3
sentence 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and
the applicable rules of the SEC and the NYSE. This includes, in
particular, the monitoring of the accounting process, the effec-
tiveness of the internal control system, the risk management
system and the internal audit system, the audit of the financial
statements, in particular the selection and independence of
the auditor as well as the quality of the audit. Also, the Super-
visory Board of the Company has delegated the responsibility
for adopting resolutions on the approval of transactions with
related parties in accordance with sections 111a et seqq. of
the German Stock Corporation Act to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee convened nine times in the past fiscal
year. Of these meetings, four meetings were conducted in pres-
ence, and five meetings were conducted as video conferences.

All members of this committee in the year under review* —
Dr. Marcus Kuhnert (since November 30, 2023, since then also
Chair), Ms. Pascale Witz (until November 30, 2023 also Chair,
since November 30, 2023 Deputy Chair) and Mr. Gregory
Sorensen, MD (since November 30, 2023) — and the members
who left before the end of the year under review — Mr. Rolf A.
Classon (until November 30, 2023) and Dr. Dorothea Wenzel
(until November 30, 2023, until then also Deputy Chair) — are
financial experts according to section 100 paragraph 5 AktG.
Based on their many years of experience, they each have
expertise in both accounting and auditing and are each inde-
pendent within the meaning of the applicable provisions. Fur-
ther details on the qualifications and independence of the

4 Following the court appointment of the employee representatives to the Company’s Supervisory
Board, the Supervisory Board also elected Ms. Stefanie Balling (since then also Deputy Chair) and
Mr. Frank Michael Prescher as employee representatives as members of the Audit Committee with
effect from March 14, 2024. Ms. Pascale Witz resigned from the Audit Committee at the same time.
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members of the Audit Committee can be found in the Declara-
tion on Corporate Governance starting on page 134 of the
Annual Report.

In the past year, the committee dealt with the annual and con-
solidated financial statements, the proposal for the allocation
of profit and the report according to Form 20-F for the SEC as
well as the separate Non-Financial Group Report of the Com-
pany. It also discussed the quarterly reports with the Manage-
ment Board. Also, the engagement pertaining to the audit of
the consolidated financial statements according to the Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the internal
controls concerning the financial reporting, which are part of
the report according to Form 20-F, was issued by the commit-
tee. The committee further negotiated the fee agreement with
the auditor. Audit focal points and further key audit matters of
the past fiscal year were the assessment of the recoverability
of goodwill, the effects of the premature termination of a study
by a pharmaceutical manufacturer on the efficacy of its GLP-1
receptor agonists, asset groups held for sale, the valuation of
receivables from dialysis treatments in the U.S., the valuation
of uncertain tax positions, the accounting treatment of signifi-
cant legal disputes, changes in segment reporting, the
accounting treatment of a contract for value-based renal care,
the impact of cyber risks, finance transformation, the FME25
program and the portfolio optimization program on financial
reporting, the effects of a settlement with the U.S. government
relating to the Tricare program and the effects of macroeco-
nomic and geopolitical developments on the Fresenius
Medical Care Group and on the Company’s annual financial
statements, the valuation of investments in affiliated compa-
nies and the recognition of income from investments.

Representatives of the auditor participated in all meetings of
the committee and informed the members of the committee of
their auditing activities. In addition, they provided information
on any significant results of their audit and were available for
additional information. In the absence of the members of the
Management Board, they reported on the cooperation with
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them and shared their observations with the committee. The
committee also consulted with the external auditors on a reg-
ular basis without the Management Board. The Chair of the
committee also had regular exchanges with representatives of
the auditor outside the meetings of the committee, in particu-
lar on the progress of the audit, and subsequently reported
thereon to the committee.

The committee dealt on several occasions with the monitoring
of the accounting and its process, the effectiveness of the
internal control system, the risk management system and the
internal audit system as well as with the audit of the financial
statements — in particular the selection and independence of
the auditor, the quality of the audit and the additional services
provided by the auditor — as well as with the compliance man-
agement system. Further, the committee discussed with the
auditor the audit risk assessment, the audit strategy and audit
planning, and the audit results.

In the course of its audit, the auditor audited the internal con-
trol system in relation to the accounting process, the elec-
tronic reproduction of the consolidated financial statements
and the group management report pursuant to section 328
paragraph 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) prepared
for disclosure purposes (so-called ESEF documents) as well
as the early risk recognition system. The audit showed that the
Management Board has appropriately implemented the mea-
sures required under section 91 paragraph 2 AktG, in particu-
lar regarding the establishment of a monitoring system, and
that the monitoring system is suitable for the early identifica-
tion of developments that may endanger the continued exis-
tence of the Company. The Management Board periodically
reported to the committee on major individual risks. It also
regularly informed the committee on the compliance situation
as well as on the audit plans and results of the internal audit.

The committee also dealt with environmental, social and gov-
ernance (ESG) aspects of strategic relevance to the Company.
In this context, the committee discussed in particular the regu-
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latory requirements in the area of sustainability and the Com-
pany’s progress in pursuing the set global sustainability targets.

The committee again reviewed the business relations of the
Fresenius Medical Care group companies to Fresenius SE &
Co. KGaA and the latter’s affiliated companies. It was con-
firmed in each case that these relationships corresponded to
those between unrelated third parties.

Certain transactions of the Company with related parties may
be subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board pursuant
to section 111b paragraph 1 AktG. The Supervisory Board has
made use of the option to delegate the responsibility for the
approval resolution to the Audit Committee. In the year under
review, there were no transactions requiring such approval. In
accordance with section 111a paragraph 2 sentence 2 AktG,
the committee reviewed whether transactions between the
Company and related parties were conducted in the ordinary
course of business and at arm’s length. No objections were
raised in this respect.

The Chair of the committee regularly reported to the Supervi-
sory Board on the results of the discussions and resolutions in
the committee.

Presiding Committee

The Presiding Committee was formed for the first time in the year
under review by the Supervisory Board of the Company in the
legal form of the AG by resolution dated September 21, 2023.

The Presiding Committee is, in particular, responsible for pre-
paring the meetings of the Supervisory Board, coordinating
the work of the Supervisory Board and its committees and
advising and supporting the Chairman and Deputy Chairman
of the Supervisory Board as well as administrative matters.
The Presiding Committee resolves upon matters that cannot
be delayed if the Supervisory Board cannot pass a resolution
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in a timely manner. The Presiding Committee is also responsi-
ble for various matters concerning the Management Board,
such as recommendations to the Supervisory Board on the
appointment or dismissal of Management Board members.
Furthermore, the Presiding Committee reviews and assesses
the Company’s corporate governance.

The Presiding Committee convened in the past fiscal year one
time in person to deal with constituting the committee and
with corporate governance aspects of the Company.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee was formed by the Supervisory
Board of the Company in the legal form of the AG by resolution
dated September 21, 2023.

The Compensation Committee prepares the decisions of the
Supervisory Board regarding the compensation of the mem-
bers of the Management Board. This includes the preparation
of the determination of the compensation system and the plan
terms of the short-term and long-term incentive of the Man-
agement Board as well as the definition of the targets for vari-
able compensation components and the definition of target
values as well as of the determination of the target achieve-
ment. The Compensation Committee also reviews the com-
pensation report.

In the past fiscal year, the Compensation Committee con-
vened one time in person to prepare the review and revision of
the compensation system for the members of the Manage-
ment Board by the Supervisory Board.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee identifies and recommends suit-
able candidates to the Supervisory Board for its proposals to
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the General Meeting for the election of Supervisory Board
members. The Nomination Committee also recommends suit-
able candidates to the Supervisory Board in case a judicial
appointment of a shareholder representative on the Supervi-
sory Board is required. The Nomination Committee further
makes recommendations to the Supervisory Board on mem-
bers of the shareholder representatives to be elected to the
committees of the Supervisory Board. This does not apply to
the election of members of the shareholder representatives to
the Mediation Committee.

In the past fiscal year, the Nomination Committee did not con-
vene since no meeting was required.

Mediation Committee

The Mediation Committee (Vermittlungsausschuss) was
formed with effect from March 14, 2024 after the employee
representatives had been appointed by the court and there-
fore after the end of the fiscal year. The Mediation Committee
is responsible for proposals for the appointment or dismissal
of members of the Management Board to the Supervisory
Board, if the respective measure is not passed by the Supervi-
sory Board with the required majority during the first vote.

Joint Committee

Until the change of the legal form of the Company became
effective on November 30, 2023, the Company had a Joint
Committee, which was composed of two members of the
Supervisory Board of the General Partner as well as two mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board of the Company. For certain
matters, the Management Board required the approval of the
Joint Committee. In the past fiscal year, the Joint Committee
did not convene since no meeting was required.
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Dialogue with Investors

The Chair of the Supervisory Board and, until the change of
the legal form of the Company became effective, the Lead
Independent Director were also available for discussions with
investors in the year under review to the extent permitted by
law and in close consultation with the Management Board. In
these discussions, investors were given the opportunity to
exchange views with the Chair of the Supervisory Board and
the Lead Independent Director on matters concerning the cor-
porate governance of the Company falling within the compe-
tence of the Supervisory Board. Key topics in the year under
review were the change of the legal form, the corporate gover-
nance structures and the composition of the Management
Board. The function of Lead Independent Director was not
re-established following the change of legal form.

Corporate Governance

The members of the Supervisory Board in principle self-
responsibly undertake educational and training measures
required for their tasks, such as on changes in the legal
framework and on new, future-oriented developments and
technologies, and are adequately supported in this respect
by the Company.

In addition to the information provided to them by various
external experts, also experts of the Company’s departments
regularly report on relevant developments. This includes — for
example - relevant new developments in the revision of legal
rules or in jurisprudence and also about recent developments
in regulations on accounting and audit and sustainability
requirements. In this way, the Supervisory Board, with the
Company’s adequate assistance, ensures an ongoing qualifi-
cation of its members and also a further development and
updating of their expertise, power of judgment and experience
which is required for the Supervisory Board including its com-
mittees to duly perform their tasks.
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New members of the Supervisory Board can meet the members
of the Management Board and specialist managers for a dis-
cussion of fundamental and current topics and thereby gain an
overview of the relevant topics of the Company (Onboarding).

For targeted further training, internal information events are
offered as required. In the year under review, further training
was provided for the members of the Supervisory Board on
current developments in corporate governance and upcoming
relevant legal regulations. These included the German Future
Financing Act (Zukunftsfinanzierungsgesetz) and the German
Whistleblower Protection Act (Hinweisgeberschutzgesetz),
regulatory developments in the area of sustainability, develop-
ments in German, European and U.S. data protection law, and
new regulations of the NYSE and the SEC associated with the
listing of the Company as a foreign private issuer.

The Supervisory Board reports to the General Meeting on
possible conflicts of interests of its members and on the treat-
ment of such conflicts. If specific conflicts of interest exist or
cannot be ruled out with certainty, the concerned Supervisory
Board member will disclose this to the Supervisory Board. If a
subsequent review reveals that a conflict of interest exists,
suitable measures will be taken to resolve the conflict of inter-
est. In the year under review, a conflict of interest on the part
of Dr. Dieter Schenk, who —in addition to his function as mem-
ber and Chairman of the Supervisory Board of the Company in
the legal form of a KGaA — was and is also a member of the
Supervisory Board of the General Partner of Fresenius SE &
Co. KGaA, could not be ruled out with respect to resolutions
on the implementation of the Company’s change of legal form.
Dr. Schenk therefore did not take part in the voting on these
resolutions. Apart from this, no interests of conflict arose in
the year under review.

The change of legal form of the Company effected extensive
changes in the composition of the Supervisory Board of the
Company and its committees. In particular, upon the change of
legal form becoming effective on November 30, 2023, the term
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of office of the members of the Supervisory Board of the Com-
pany who were in office up until then ended. Furthermore, the
Supervisory Board of the Company is now also to be com-
posed of employee representatives who could not be appointed
by court order or be elected to the Supervisory Board before
2024. Against this background, a self-assessment of the work
of the Company’s Supervisory Board in the year under review
would not have offered any additional benefit. The members of
the Supervisory Board of the Company who were in office in
the year under review have therefore agreed that the next reg-
ular self-assessment should be carried out in 2024, when the
Supervisory Board of the Company is fully composed and has
been operating in its new composition.

Further details on corporate governance, in particular on the
independence of the Supervisory Board members, the qualifi-
cation matrix for the implementation status of the profile of
skills and expertise for the Supervisory Board, the age limit
and the regular maximum tenure for membership in the Com-
pany’s Supervisory Board, as well as the self-assessment of
the activities of the Supervisory Board and its committees,
can be found in the Declaration on Corporate Governance
starting on page 134 of the Annual Report. The Declaration on
Corporate Governance was discussed by the Supervisory
Board and approved in its meeting of March 14, 2024.

The Declaration on Corporate Governance also includes the
Declaration of Compliance in relation to the German Corporate
Governance Code according to section 161 AktG as resolved
by the Management Board and Supervisory Board and pub-
lished in December 2023. The Declaration of Compliance is
permanently available to the public on the Company’s website
at www.freseniusmedicalcare.com in the section “Investors”
and there in the sub-section “Corporate Governance”.
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Compensation Report

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board prepared
a compensation report in accordance with section 162 AktG
for the year under review. In accordance with section 162
paragraph 3 AktG, the compensation report was reviewed by
the auditor to determine whether the legally required disclo-
sures pursuant to section 162 paragraphs 1 and 2 AktG were
made. In addition to the statutory requirements, the content
of the report was also again reviewed by the auditor. The
auditor confirmed that the compensation report, in all
material respects, complies with the accounting provisions
of section 162 AktG. In accordance with section 120a para-
graph 4 AktG, the compensation report will be submitted to
the General Meeting of the Company for approval.

Annual and consolidated
financial statements

The annual financial statements and the management report of
the Company were prepared in accordance with the regulations
of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch — HGB).
The consolidated financial statements and group management
report follow section 315e of the German Commercial Code
(HGB) in accordance with IFRS as applicable in the European
Union. Accounting, the annual financial statements, the man-
agement report as well as the consolidated financial statements
and the group management report for fiscal year 2023 were
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftspri-
fungsgesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main (PwC). PwC has been the
auditor of the Company since the fiscal year 2020 and was
elected as auditor for the year under review by resolution of the
Annual General Meeting on May 16, 2023, which was confirmed
in the Extraordinary General Meeting on July 14, 2023, and
mandated by the Supervisory Board. The auditor provided each
of the aforementioned documents with an unqualified certifi-
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cate. Mr. Peter Kartscher (as already in the previous years since
2020) and Mr. Dominik Hohler (for the first time) signed the
respective audit certificate as the auditors. The audit reports of
the auditor were made available to the Audit Committee and the
Supervisory Board. The Audit Committee reviewed the annual
and consolidated financial statements as well as the manage-
ment reports and included the audit reports of, and the discus-
sions with, the auditor in its discussions. The Audit Committee
reported to the Supervisory Board on this.

The Supervisory Board also reviewed the annual financial state-
ments, the management report, the consolidated financial
statements and the group management report, in each case for
the past fiscal year. The documents were provided to it in good
time. The Supervisory Board declared its agreement with the
result of the audit of the annual financial statements and the
consolidated financial statements by the auditor. The represen-
tatives of the auditor who signed the audit reports participated
in the discussions of the Supervisory Board of the annual and
consolidated financial statements. They reported to the Super-
visory Board on the significant findings of their audit and were
available for additional information. Also according to the final
results of its own review, no objections are to be raised by the
Supervisory Board as regards the annual financial statements,
the management report, the consolidated financial statements
and the group management report.

In its meeting on February 19, 2024, the Supervisory Board
discussed the draft of the report according to Form 20-F. The
report according to Form 20-F was filed with the SEC on Feb-
ruary 20, 2024.

The annual financial statements and management report of the
Company as well as the consolidated financial statements and
the group management report for the past fiscal year, as pre-
sented by the Management Board, were approved by the
Supervisory Board at its meeting on March 14, 2024; in the legal
form of an AG, the annual financial statements of the Company
are adopted by this approval of the Supervisory Board.
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The Supervisory Board also approved the Management
Board’s proposal for the allocation of profit which provides for
a dividend of € 1.19 for each share.

Separate Non-Financial Group
Report

The separate Non-Financial Group Report of the Company
was prepared in accordance with the regulations of the
German Commercial Code (HGB) and the EU Taxonomy
Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2020/852) and will be published
separately from the group management report. This report
documents the sustainability performance of Fresenius
Medical Care in fiscal year 2023. The reporting by Fresenius
Medical Care is based on the international sustainability stan-
dards of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI).

The Supervisory Board made use of the option to have the
separate Non-Financial Group Report verified by an external
auditor. The separate Non-Financial Group Report was sub-
jected to a limited assurance engagement review by PwC in
accordance with the international standard on assurance
engagements ISAE 3000 (Revised). PwC issued a correspond-
ing assurance statement.

The Supervisory Board, too, reviewed the separate Non-
Financial Group Report. The documents were provided to it
in good time. The Supervisory Board declared its agreement
with the result of the limited assurance engagement review
by the auditor. The representatives of the auditor who signed
the statement on the limited assurance engagement review
participated in the discussions of the Supervisory Board
about the separate Non-Financial Group Report. They
reported to the Supervisory Board on the significant findings
of their limited assurance engagement review and were avail-
able for additional information. Also according to the final
results of its own review, no objections are to be raised by the
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Supervisory Board as regards the separate Non-Financial
Group Report.

Dependency report

The Management Board prepared a report on the Company’s
relationships to Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA and the latter’s affil-
iates in accordance with section 312 AktG for the period until
the end of the dependency relationship with Fresenius SE &
Co. KGaA upon the effectiveness of the change of legal form
of the Company, i.e. for the period from January 1 to Novem-
ber 30, 2023. The report contains the following concluding
statement:

“With regard to the legal transactions and measures listed in
this report on the relationships to affiliated companies, FME
AG (until November 30, 2023 FMC-AG & Co. KGaA) received
appropriate consideration for each legal transaction in accor-
dance with the circumstances of which we were aware at the
time that the legal transactions were conducted. No report-
able measures were taken or omitted in the reporting year.”

Both the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board received
the dependency report in good time and reviewed it. The audi-
tor participated in the relevant meeting. It reported on the main
results of its audit and was available for additional information.
On February 23, 2024, the auditor added the following certifi-
cate to the dependency report:

“On the basis of our proper audit and judgment we confirm
that 1. the factual disclosures provided in the report are cor-
rect, 2. the consideration paid by the Company for the legal
transactions stated in the report was not inappropriately high.”

The Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board agree with
the assessment of the auditor. Following the final results of its
own review, the Supervisory Board does not raise any objec-
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tions against the declaration of the Management Board at the
bottom of the report on the relationships to affiliates.
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Finally, the Supervisory Board would like to thank the mem-
bers of the Management Board and all employees of the group
for their outstanding commitment. We would like to express
our great appreciation to all of them for their work in the past
fiscal year!

Bad Homburg v.d. Héhe, March 14, 2024
On behalf of the Supervisory Board

MICHAEL SEN
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Capital Markets
and Shares

Strategic decisions, the successful
implementation of our turnaround
plans, the streamlining of our corpo-
rate structure, and an improved mar-
ket environment compared to the
previous year influenced the business
development of Fresenius Medical
Care in 2023. This was also reflected
in the performance of our shares,
which ended the year significantly
higher than the previous year. In addi-
tion to internal successes and busi-
ness performance, external factors
caused significant volatility in the
share price during the year. In particu-
lar, the study results on new
weight-reducing medications from the
pharmaceutical sector temporarily
impacted the share price.

GROUP
MANAGEMENT REPORT

NON-FINANCIAL
GROUP REPORT

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Price development
of Fresenius Medical Care
shares

The yearly low was reached right at the beginning of 2023
when the share closed trading on January 3, 2023, at €30.25.

In 2023, Fresenius Medical Care focused on necessary inter-
nal adjustments to position the Company for the future, mak-
ing it more resilient, agile, and efficient. These measures
included organizational, legal, personnel, and profitability-
related adjustments.
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Since the beginning of 2023, the Company has been managed
operationally in two segments: Care Enablement and Care
Delivery. The global and consistent management of these seg-
ments enables targeted and efficient decision-making pro-
cesses as well as the reduction of redundancies. The increased
transparency, combined with a clear allocation of responsibil-
ities within the entire value chain of each segment, is expected
to further support profitability growth.

The proposed change of legal form from a partnership limited
by shares (KGaA) to a stock corporation (AG) on February 21,
2023, aims to provide the Company with more flexibility and
autonomy through simplified governance structures, as well

c1.2 SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE, ABSOLUTE, JANUARY 1, 2023-DECEMBER 31, 2023
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T1.3 INDEX AND SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE
Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 29, 2023 Change Year High Year Low
Fresenius Medical Care Shares in € 30.57 37.96 +24% 49.33 30.25
Fresenius Medical Care ADRs in $ 16.34 20.83 +27% 27.56 16.11
Dow Jones Industrial Average 33,147 37,690 +14% 37,710.10 31,819.14
MDAX 25,118 27,137 +8% 29,808.91 23,772.02
STOXX Europe 600 Health Care 997 1,061 +6% 1,101.01 974.63
c1.4 INDEX AND SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE
INDEXED, JANUARY 1, 2023 - DECEMBER 31, 2023 (DECEMBER 31, 2022 = 100), IN%
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Jan. Feb. March April May June July Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec.
180
170
160
150
140
130
120
110
100
90
80
=== Fresenius Medical Care shares (€) Fresenius Medical Care-ADRs ($) Dow Jones Industrial Average MDAX STOXX Europe 600 Health Care

Source: Bloomberg data, own calculations
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as to strengthen the role of minority shareholders. At the
Extraordinary General Meeting on July 14, 2023, the Compa-
ny’s shareholders overwhelmingly approved the change of
legal form and elected representatives of the shareholders to
the new supervisory board. The change of legal form became
effective with its registration in the commercial register on
November 30, 2023.

During a virtual Capital Markets Day in April 2023, Fresenius
Medical Care announced new medium-term financial targets.
These include improving the operating income margin from
7.9% in 2022 to 10-14% in 2025, as well as doubling the return
on invested capital (ROIC) by 2025. The transformation pro-
gram FMEZ25, initiated in 2021 and expanded at the beginning
of the year, along with an operational turnaround, are expected
to significantly contribute to achieving these goals.

During the past fiscal year, significant personnel changes were
also initiated in the management board. In July 2023, the Com-
pany announced that Helen Giza, who has been serving as
CEO since December 2022, would transfer the additional
interim responsibility of CFO to the new Chief Financial Officer,
Martin Fischer, effective October 1, 2023. Additionally, it was
announced at the end of October that Craig Cordola would
become a new board member for the global service business
Care Delivery starting January 1, 2024.

These changes, measures, and financial targets were overall
welcomed by the capital market. Supported by a positive
earnings development and visible progress in the implementa-
tion of the turnaround plans, Fresenius Medical Care AG’s
share reached its yearly high of €49.33 in July 2023.

News regarding therapy options for patients with chronic kid-
ney disease led to temporary strong pressure on the share
price later in the year. For instance, on October 10, 2023, Novo
Nordisk announced that the ongoing Semaglutide study
(FLOW) for patients with type 2 diabetes and chronic kidney
disease would be terminated early due to demonstrated effec-
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c1.5 INDEX AND SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE IN A 27-YEAR COMPARISON
WITH DIVIDENDS REINVESTED, INDEXED, JANUARY 1, 1997 - DECEMBER 31, 2023 (DECEMBER 31, 1996 = 100), IN %
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" Proposal to be approved by the Annual General Meeting on May 16, 2024.
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tiveness. The anticipated effectiveness of the drug group
known as GLP-1 analogs led many capital market participants
to assume that there could be a long-term decrease in the
number of dialysis patients. However, based on the available
clinical and medical data, Fresenius Medical Care believes
that the impact of this drug group on long-term organic treat-
ment growth will remain neutral.

In November, two increases in the earnings outlook for the
year 2023 underscored the Company’s continuous efforts
and progress:

The positive effects of the turnaround measures, an acceler-
ated improvement in operational performance in the first nine
months of 2023, and a solid business outlook for the fourth
quarter of 2023 led to the first increase in the earnings outlook
on November 1.

On November 21, the second increase in the earnings outlook
followed as a result of a favorable legal settlement with the
U.S. government, which resulted in a positive net impact on
revenue of approximately €191 M and operating income of
approximately €181 M.

The share ended the year on the last trading day, December
29, 2023, with an Xetra closing price of €37.96. This represents
a share price increase of +24% compared to the last closing
price of 2022.

For further information on share price and index development,
refer to TABLES 1.3 and 1.10, as well as CHARTS 1.2, 1.4, and 1.5.
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Fresenius Medical Care American
Depositary Receipts (ADRs)

Fresenius Medical Care shares are listed on the New York
Stock Exchange as American Depositary Receipts (ADRs).
The performance of the ADRs is essentially tied to that of
Fresenius Medical Care shares, taking into account the
exchange rate development of the euro to the US dollar. More
than half of the combined trading volume in 2023, measured
by the total number of shares traded, was attributed to ADRs.
Two ADRs represent one share.

Dividend

According to the dividend policy, the payout is aligned with
the Company’s earnings development. The management
board and supervisory board will propose a dividend of €1.19
per share to shareholders at the annual general meeting on
May 16, 2024. This represents an increase of 6% compared
to the previous year.

With 293.4 M dividend-eligible shares (as of December 31,
2023), the total payout would amount to €349 M; the payout
ratio in relation to the group’s net income for the year 2023
would be approximately 70% (2022: approximately 49%).
Based on the dividend proposal and the closing price of
2023, the dividend yield of the shares would be 3.1% (2022:
3.7%). Fresenius Medical Care remains committed to its
demanding goal of creating value for its shareholders.

Shareholder structure

In our analysis of the shareholder structure as of December 31,
2023, approximately 93% of the free float could be attributed
to their respective owners (see TABLES 1.7 and 1.8). Accord-
ingly, the largest shareholder, Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA, con-
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tinues to hold approximately 94.4 M of the total approximately
293.4 M outstanding Fresenius Medical Care shares. This cor-
responds to a stake of 32.2%. Additionally, 13 institutional
investors were identified as holding at least 1% of the share
capital.

587 institutional investors hold shares of Fresenius Medical
Care according to the latest analysis. The largest 20 of them
account for approximately 66.0% of the identified free float,
excluding the stake of Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA (previous
year: 60.5%). 66.6% of the institutional free float as of Decem-
ber 31, 2023, was held by investors from the United States.
11.2% were from the United Kingdom. 3.8% of the institutional
free float could be identified in Germany, 3.8% in France, and
another 5.2% in Canada.

T1.7 NUMBER OF IDENTIFIED SHARES AS PER
SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE ANALYSIS
ROUNDED IN M

Number

of shares in %
Number of shares outstanding
as at December 31, 2023 293.41 100
|dentified shares 279.16 95
Unidentified shares 14.26 5
Shares in free float 199.03 68
|dentified shares in Free Float 184.78 93
Unidentified shares in free float 14.26 7
FRESENIUS SE 94.38 32
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T1.8 GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF
INSTITUTIONAL FREE FLOAT
ROUNDED IN M

Dec. 2023 Dec. 2022
Number Number
of shares in % of shares in %
United States 120.5 67 118.0 66
United Kingdom 20.2 11 156.6 9
Germany 6.9 4 9.0 5
Canada 9.4 5 7.4 4
France 6.9 4 7.2 4
Rest of Europe 10.9 6 14.3 8
Rest of World 6.2 3 7.7 4
REGIONALLY
ATTRIBUTABLE
SHARES 181.0 100 179.2 100

Voting rights notifications

According to received notifications, as of the end of 2023, a
total of three shareholders, in addition to Fresenius SE & Co.
KGaA, each held more than 3% of the voting rights in Fresenius
Medical Care.

All voting rights notifications in accordance with sections 33,
38, and 39 of the Securities Trading Act (WpHG) are published
on our website at https://www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/
home/mainnavigation/investors/notification-of-voting-rights.
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Sustainable investment

Corporate sustainability plays an important role in the invest-
ment decisions of institutional investors. In order to assess
companies’ performance in this area, investors rely not only on
non-financial reporting but also on sustainability ratings and
rankings. Throughout the year, the Company continuously
implemented sustainability initiatives and expanded its sustain-
ability reporting. As a result, Fresenius Medical Care once again
achieved high quality ratings in relevant ESG ratings in 2023.

Fresenius Medical Care achieved the third-highest rating
score of “A” in the MSCI sustainability rating, maintaining its
position from the previous year. In 2023, the Company is
included in the Dow Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI) Europe
for the 14th time and remained a member of the FTSE4Good
Index for the second consecutive year. Additionally, the Com-
pany regularly participates in other sustainability ratings and
publishes the results on its website.

Details of the current ESG ratings can be publicly accessed via
the following link: https:/www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/
ratings-and-indices.

For further information on Fresenius Medical Care’s sustain-
ability activities, please refer to the non-financial group report
starting from page 92.
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T1.9 KEY SHARE DATA

Share type

No par value bearer share

Stock exchanges

Germany

Frankfurt Stock Exchange/Prime Standard

U.S. (ADR)

New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)

Securities identification numbers and ticker symbols

Deutsche Borse FME

NYSE (ADR) FMS

WKN 578 580

ISIN DE0005785802
CUSIP number (NYSE) 358029106

Reuters

FMEG.DE (Xetra) or FMS.N (NYSE)

Bloomberg

FME GY (Xetra) or FMS US (NYSE)

Analyst assessments
of our shares

Financial analysts continue to show significant interest in
Fresenius Medical Care. As of the end of 2023, 25 financial
analysts or brokers actively covered the Company and its
share. At the year-end, seven of them issued a buy recommen-
dation, 15 issued a hold recommendation, and three issued a
sell recommendation. Two brokers initiated coverage of
Fresenius Medical Care for the first time in 2023, two brokers
resumed coverage after a hiatus, while two brokers ceased
coverage altogether. The average price target set by brokers
for Fresenius Medical Care’s share at year-end was approxi-
mately €42.

Rating and financing

In November 2023, a €650 M bond matured, which was suc-
cessfully refinanced through long-term bank loans and exist-
ing liquidity.

By successfully utilizing various financing instruments outside
the bond market, Fresenius Medical Care has confirmed its
access to diverse sources of financing. At the same time,
these instruments allow the Company to flexibly reduce debt
in the event of extraordinary cash inflows.

In long-term capital management, the Company continues
to primarily focus on the net debt/EBITDA ratio. The self-im-
posed target range is between 3.0x and 3.5x. At year-end


https://www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/ratings-and-indices
https://www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/ratings-and-indices
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T1.10 KEY FIGURES FOR FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE SHARES

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
NUMBER OF SHARES' inM 293.4 293.4 293.0 292.88 304.44 306.88
Share prices (Xetra trading)
High for the year in € 49.33 63.56 70.96 79.00 76.32 93.00
Low for the year in € 30.25 26.26 52.78 56.00 55.58 56.64
Year-end in€ 37.96 30.57 57.14 68.20 65.96 56.64
Share prices (ADR NYSE)
High for the year in$ 27.56 34.84 43.32 46.55 42.75 57.51
Low for the year in$ 16.11 12.81 29.82 29.21 31.10 31.30
Year-end in$ 20.83 16.34 32.46 41.56 36.83 32.39
Market capitalization?
Year-end in€M 11,138 8,970 16,742 19,974 20,081 17,382
Index weighting
MDAX? in % 5.27 - - - - -
Dividend
Dividend per share in€ 1.194 1.12 1.35 1.34 1.20 117
Dividend yield® in % 3:13 3.66 2.36 1.96 1.82 21
Total dividend payout in€M 349 329 396 392 358 359
Earnings per share (EPS)
Number of shares® inM 293.41 293.25 292.94 294.06 302.69 306.54
Earnings per share (EPS) in€ 1.70 2.30 3.31 3.96 3.96 6.47

' Shares outstanding on December 31 of the respective year.
2 Based on shares outstanding.

2 Fresenius Medical Care was included in the MDAX for the first time in 2023, having previously been a member of the DAX.

4 Based on the proposal to be approved by the Annual General Meeting on May 16, 2024.
5 With reference to the respective year-end closing price.
¢ Weighted average number of shares outstanding.
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2023, the net debt/EBITDA ratio was within the target range at
3.2x. Potential proceeds from the ongoing portfolio optimiza-
tion are intended for further debt reduction. This reaffirms the
Company’s clear commitment to maintaining its invest-
ment-grade rating.

On February 24, 2023, Standard & Poor’s decided to down-
grade Fresenius Medical Care’s rating from BBB to BBB-
with a negative outlook, citing, among other reasons, the
announced deconsolidation from Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA
leading to a revaluation on a standalone basis. On February 27,
2023, Moody’s confirmed the Baa3 corporate rating while
placing the outlook as negative. On August 25, 2023, Fitch
also confirmed the BBB- corporate rating and replaced the
“Rating Watch Negative” with a negative outlook. Fresenius
Medical Care maintains its investment-grade status unchanged
by the three leading rating agencies Standard & Poor’s,
Moody’s, and Fitch at year-end 2023.

An overview can be found in TABLE 5.79 on page 272.

Investor Relations activities

Continuous and transparent communication with all capital
market participants is at the core of Fresenius Medical Care’s
Investor Relations efforts. Key elements of the Company’s
capital market communication include strategy, operational
and financial performance, as well as sustainability activities.
The target audience includes shareholders, analysts, other
capital market participants, employees, financial media, and
the general public.

To provide insights into medium- and long-term value drivers
beyond the current business performance, the Investor Rela-
tions team organized a virtual Capital Markets Day with all
members of the Management Board. During the event on
April 19, 2023, historical financial metrics based on the new
global operating model and reporting structure were pre-
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sented for the first time. The management team of Fresenius
Medical Care provided strategic insights, explained the build-
ing blocks for sustainably achieving margin targets by 2025,
and answered participants’ questions.

Throughout the fiscal year 2023, the Investor Relations team
engaged in over 700 discussions with institutional investors to
update them on the Company’s progress. Additionally,
approximately 250 capital market participants took advan-
tage of the opportunity to gather insights on relevant topics
during the virtual Capital Markets Day. Overall, the Investor
Relations team participated in 42 events, including broker
conferences, roadshows for institutional investors, and other
formats such as teleconferences.

In collaboration with the Treasury department, the Investor
Relations team organized a dedicated roadshow in March for
debt investors, focusing particularly on topics such as rat-
ings, financing, and the priorities for the use of proceeds.

For further details on Fresenius Medical Care’s Investor
Relations activities, please visit our website at https:/www.
freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/investors/investors-overview.


https://www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/investors/investors-overview
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General
Information
about this Group
Management
Report

At an extraordinary general meeting (EGM) of the Company
held on July 14, 2023, the shareholders of the Company
approved the transformation of the legal form of the Company
from a partnership limited by shares (Kommanditgesellschaft
auf Aktien — KGaA) into a German stock corporation (Aktien-
gesellschaft — AG) (the Conversion). Upon effectiveness of the
Conversion, which occurred on November 30, 2023 after
registration of the Conversion with the competent commercial
register, Fresenius Medical Care Management AG (renamed
Fresenius Vermdgensverwaltung AG), Hof (Saale), (Manage-
ment AG) exited the Company as a General Partner and
Fresenius SE ceased to control the Company.

The following discussion of the Group Management Report of
Fresenius Medical Care AG (Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co.
KGaA prior to the transformation of legal form) and its subsid-
iaries (hereafter referred to as “we”, “our”, “FME AG”,
“Fresenius Medical Care”, “the Group” or “the Company”, as
the context requires) was prepared in accordance with
sections 315 to 315d of the German Commercial Code and
German Accounting Standards No. 20, and should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements in this
report. Some of the statements, including those concerning
future revenue, costs and capital expenditures, possible
changes in our industry as well as the competitive and finan-
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cial conditions include forward-looking statements. We made
these forward-looking statements based on the expectations
and beliefs of the Management Board pertaining to future
events that may affect us, but which we cannot assure that
such events will occur or that the results will be as anticipated.
Because these statements involve opportunities, risks and
uncertainties, the actual results may differ materially (positive
as well as negative) from the results which the forward-looking
statements express or imply. The statements cover the content
of and are subject to the uncertainties described in the discus-
sions in this report in the chapters “Outlook” and “Risks and
opportunities report” as well as in NOTE 2 and 25 of the notes
to the consolidated financial statements.

The non-financial group declaration is not part of the Group
Management Report. It is part of a separate chapter of the
Annual Report and will be disclosed as separate Non-Financial
Group Report together with the Group Management Report.

Rounding adjustments applied to individual numbers and
percentages shown in this and other reports may result in
these figures differing immaterially from their absolute values.
Some figures (including percentages) in this report have been
rounded in accordance with commercial rounding conventions.
In some instances, such rounded figures and percentages
may not add up to 100% or to the totals or subtotals contained
in this report. Furthermore, totals and subtotals in tables may
differ slightly from unrounded figures contained in this report
due to rounding in accordance with commercial rounding
conventions. A dash (-) indicates that no data were reported
for a specific line item in the relevant financial year or period,
while a zero (0) is used when the pertinent figure, after
rounding, amounts to zero.
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Overview of
the Group

We provide high-quality health care
solutions for patients with renal
diseases. Our innovative products
and therapies set high standards in
dialysis treatment.

Business model

Operations and company structure

Fresenius Medical Care is the world’s leading provider of
products and services for individuals with renal diseases
based on publicly reported revenue and the number of
patients treated. We provide dialysis and related services for
individuals with renal diseases as well as other health care
services. We also develop, manufacture, and distribute a wide
variety of health care products, which we sell to customers in
around 150 countries as well as using them in our own health
care service operations. Our dialysis business is therefore
vertically integrated.

We continue to generate most of our revenue with dialysis
products and dialysis care services. In our 3,925 proprietary
dialysis centers in around 50 countries worldwide, we provide
care for over 332,000 dialysis patients. We manage the world’s
largest network of dialysis centers in terms of the number of
people treated to accommodate an ever-rising number of
patients. In addition, we operate around 40 production sites in
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around 20 countries. The most important plants for dialyzer
production are in St. Wendel (Germany), Ogden, Utah (U.S.),
Changshu (China), LArbresle (France), and Buzen (Japan).
Dialysis machines are manufactured in Schweinfurt (Germany),
in Concord, California (U.S.), and in Changshu (China).

As of January 1, 2023, and as part of our FME25 transforma-
tion program (FME25 Program), we have commenced
operations in our new global operating model, reorganizing
our business into two global operating segments: Care
Enablement and Care Delivery. This restructuring aligns the
Company’s operating model with key value drivers and
supports our ongoing plans to globalize and simplify our
structure in the course of implementing our growth strategy.
Care Enablement includes research and development (R&D),
manufacturing, supply chain and commercial operations,
along with supporting functions such as regulatory and
quality management. The products business is organized
along the three treatment modalities that the Company
serves: In-center, Home, and Critical Care. Care Delivery is
primarily engaged in providing services for the treatment of
end-stage renal disease (ESRD) and other extracorporeal
therapies, including value and risk-based care programs.
Care Delivery also includes the pharmaceutical products
business and the income from equity method investees
related to the sale of certain renal pharmaceuticals from Vifor
Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd., which are used in
our clinics to provide health care services to our patients.

Our Global Medical Office, dedicated to optimizing medical
treatments and clinical processes within the Company while
supporting both Care Delivery and Care Enablement, is
centrally managed, and its profit and loss are allocated to the
segments. General and Administrative functions were also
globalized using a three-pillar model of business partnering,
centers of excellence, and global shared services. See NOTE 29
of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for a
further discussion on our operating segments.
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On November 30, 2023, Fresenius Medical Care completed its
Conversion from a partnership limited by shares into a German
stock corporation and has since then no longer been fully
consolidated by Fresenius SE. The Conversion was approved
by our shareholders at an EGM in July 2023. This change marks
a new chapter in the Company’s history as we refined our
governance structure and introduced a German branch system
with a co-determined Supervisory Board and a Management
Board, in accordance with German legal requirements.

In total, the Supervisory Board of the Fresenius Medical Care
AG comprises twelve members. Alongside the four members
elected by the EGM, Fresenius SE, holding 32.2% of the
ordinary share capital, appointed its Chief Executive Officer
(CEO) Michael Sen and its Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Sara
Hennicken as members of the new Supervisory Board, with
Michael Sen serving as Chair. The appointment of permanent
employee representatives, the Labour Director, and the estab-
lishment of all committees are anticipated to be completed by
the end of the first quarter of 2024.

We aim to leverage the advantages of the new legal structure,
enabling more focused, faster, and agile decision making. This
new configuration provides us with access to capital markets
for financing and ensures independent decisions on financial
and dividend policies. Furthermore, the role of free-float share-
holders is strengthened, enhancing their influence on the
composition of the Company’s management.

Our primary focus post-Conversion remains on improving
operational performance and driving our transformation
efforts to ensure shareholder value creation.

Fresenius Medical Care’s company headquarters is in Bad
Homburg v. d. Héhe, Germany.

CHART 2.1 on page 32 provides an overview of our most
important production sites and regional offices.
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MAJOR LOCATIONS
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Waltham, U.S.
Regional offices
North America
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i ) “ o9
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Dialysis machines 08 05

Oregon, U.S. 06
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09
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Dialysis solutions
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Rio de Janeiro, BR
Regional offices
South America
09 Bogota, CO
Dialysis solutions
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Dialysis solutions
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Europe,

Middle East

and Africa

Bad Homburg, DE
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regional offices Europe,
Middle East and Africa
11 Schweinfurt, DE
Dialysis machines
12 St. Wendel, DE
Dialyzers, PD solutions
13 L’Arbresle, FR
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Bloodlines
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Adsorbers
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17 Antalya, TR
Concentrates

20

{
Hong Kong
CN

21

AS|a Pacific

18

19

20

21

22

23

Hong Kong, CN

Regional offices

Asia-Pacific 22
Inukai, JP 23
Fibers

Buzen, JP

Dialyzers, PD bags

Changshu, CN

Dialysis machines, dialyzers, PD bags
Enstek, MY

Concentrates, PD bags

Smithfield, AU

Concentrates

Scoresby, AU

Dialysis chairs, packs
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Health care services o

—e End-Stage Renal Disease-
related treatments

—e End-Stage Renal Disease-
related laboratory testing
services

—e Acute dialysis services

OUR PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
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Other health care

services

— Value and risk-based
care programs

—e Pharmacy services

—e Vascular, cardiovascular and
endovascular specialty
services as well as ambulatory
surgery center services

— Physician nephrology and
cardiology services

—e Ambulant treatment services

— Health care products

—e Hemodialysis machines
and peritoneal dialysis
cyclers

—e Dialyzers
—e Peritoneal dialysis solutions

— Hemodialysis concentrates,
solutions and granulates

— Bloodlines
—e Renal pharmaceuticals

—e Systems for water treat-
ment

—e Other equipment and
medical devices

—= Other health care

products

—= Acute cardiopulmonary
products

— Apheresis products
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Our products and services

Fresenius Medical Care provides dialysis and related services
for individuals with renal diseases as well as other health care
services. We also develop, manufacture and distribute a wide
variety of health care products. Our products and services for
the fiscal year 2023 are shown in CHART 2.2.

For information regarding the divestiture of business providing
certain of these services during 2023, see NOTES 3 and 4 of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Approximately 4.1 M (2022: 3.9 M) patients worldwide regu-
larly underwent dialysis treatment at the end of 2023. Dialysis
is a life-saving blood cleansing procedure that substitutes the
function of the kidney in case of kidney failure. Healthy kidneys
clean the blood of waste products, regulate water levels, and
produce important hormones. If the kidneys are irreparably
damaged and are therefore no longer able to function
adequately over a longer period of time, this is known as
chronic kidney failure or End-Stage Renal Disease ESRD.
Many diseases can lead to chronic kidney failure, particularly
diabetes, chronic nephritis or high blood pressure. There are
currently two treatment options for ESRD: kidney transplant
and dialysis.

Our health care products

The health care products we offer in around 150 countries
worldwide focus on the following therapies:

> Hemodialysis (HD) — HD is by far the most common type of
therapy for chronic kidney failure. Fresenius Medical Care
provides a wide range of HD products in dialysis centers as
well as for use at home. They include machines, dialyzers,
bloodline systems, HD solutions and concentrates, water
treatment systems, as well as data processing and analysis
systems.
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> Peritoneal dialysis (PD) — In PD the peritoneum is used as a
natural filter. We offer systems and solutions for continuous
ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) and automated peri-
toneal dialysis (APD) in dialysis centers as well as for use at
home.

> Acute dialysis — In case of a sudden loss of renal function, con-
tinuous renal replacement therapy is used in intensive care
units. Fresenius Medical Care also provides products for this.

We also offer other health care products including acute
cardiopulmonary products and products for apheresis
therapy, which involves the removal of excess blood fats or
pathogenic antibodies.

Our health care services

Dialysis patients receive life-saving dialysis treatment and
other associated services such as laboratory tests in our 3,925
(2022: 4,116) dialysis centers worldwide. Dialysis treatment at
our clinics is usually performed three times a week over a
period of several hours by trained medical staff. We also
provide advice on medical support and training for home dial-
ysis patients in our dialysis centers.

In 2023, we treated 62% (2022: 60%) of our patients in the U.S.
and 38% (2022: 40%) outside the U.S. (International).

Fresenius Medical Care is able to operate its own dialysis
clinics in countries where the health care system allows
private-sector companies to provide medical services and an
appropriate reimbursement system is in place.

In addition to our dialysis treatments, we also provide other
health care services which include value and risk-based care
programs, pharmacy services, vascular, cardiovascular and
endovascular specialty services as well as ambulatory surgery
center services, physician nephrology and cardiology services
and ambulant treatment services.
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c23 PATIENTS TREATED

u.s.

International

2023 [ 4%
2022 [ 4%

Worldwide

63 %
63 %

96 %
96 %

92 %
91 %

=== Fresenius Medical Care Other providers
Source: Company data and estimates

Our value and risk-based care programs allow for partnerships
with payors and the government to reduce the overall cost of
care while helping people with kidney disease. We support the
entire spectrum of renal care, from chronic kidney disease
(CKD) to ESRD, including kidney transplantation, supportive
care, and all modalities of dialysis. With our industry expertise,
we leverage artificial intelligence, analytics, technological
capabilities, and platforms to support early interventions.

Major markets and competitive position

According to our estimates, the number of dialysis patients
worldwide reached around 4.1 M in 2023 (2022: 3.9 M) - a 5%
growth rate. Fresenius Medical Care is the global leader in
dialysis care, providing treatment to about 8% of all dialysis
patients (2022: 9%). In 2023, 332,548 people were treated in
Fresenius Medical Care’s network of dialysis centers (2022:
344,687). More information on the number of patients within
our Care Delivery segment can be found in CHART 2.3.

Fresenius Medical Care is also the global market leader for
dialysis products. Products made by Fresenius Medical Care
for use in our own dialysis centers or for sale to third-party
customers accounted for a market share of 35% in 2023 (2022:
35%). In the case of hemodialysis products, we had a 42%
share of the global market (2022: 42%), making us the world
leader in this field as well.

Dialyzers for hemodialysis are the largest product group in the
dialysis market with a worldwide sales volume of around 410 M
units in 2023 (2022: 395 M). Approximately 165 M (around 40%)
of these were made by Fresenius Medical Care (2022: 161 M or
around 41%), giving us by far the biggest market share. Hemo-
dialysis machines constitute another key component of our
product business. Here, too, we are the market leader. Of the
estimated 99,000 machines installed in 2023 (2022: 90,000),
approximately 49,000, or around 50% (2022: 42,000 or around
47%), were produced by Fresenius Medical Care.
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Furthermore, we hold a strong position in the market for peri-
toneal dialysis products: Around 14% (2022: around 15%) of all
peritoneal dialysis patients use products made by Fresenius
Medical Care.

The overall market for dialysis care services in the U.S. is
consolidated. Across all market segments, we treat around
37% of all dialysis patients here (2022: 37%). In the U.S., home
dialysis is becoming increasingly important. In 2023, about
16% (2022: 15%) of our U.S. dialysis treatments were performed
at home. Outside the U.S., the dialysis services business is
much more fragmented. With over 1,310 dialysis centers (2022:
1,450) and approximately 127,000 patients (2022: 139,000) in
around 50 countries (2022: around 50), Fresenius Medical Care
operates by far the largest network of clinics.

Manufacturing & Supply Chain

Our production, distribution, and supply of renal and multi-
organ therapy products is managed through a global network
of manufacturing sites and distribution centers. In about 150
countries, patients and customers depend on the manufac-
turing and delivery of a full range of products used in renal
treatments as well as heart and lung therapies.

As part of our FME25 Program, Manufacturing & Supply Chain
was integrated in the Care Enablement business segment. This
milestone marked another step towards realizing the objective
of our production strategy: To manufacture high-quality prod-
ucts in the right place at the right time and under the best
possible terms. We implement this strategy through a network
of larger production sites, where we manufacture products for
global distribution, complemented by smaller production sites
focused on supplying products regionally.

At the end of 2023, 15,884 people (total headcount) were
employed in Manufacturing & Supply Chain (2022: 16,916).
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Corporate strategy
and objectives

“Creating a future worth living. For patients. Worldwide. Every
day.” This vision guides us in our efforts to give our patients
around the world a better life by offering them high-quality
products and outstanding health care.

At the same time, we expect to face a multitude of challenges
in the coming years: an aging population and a rise in chronic
diseases are set to reshape patient demographics. The combi-
nation of fragmented care, cost pressure, and staff shortages
will create a need for new solutions. Moreover, digitalization,
particularly through data analytics and artificial intelligence, is
already causing changes in the delivery of health care.

Our products and health care services are at the core of our
strategy. To implement our strategy successfully, we will
concentrate on three key areas: the renal care continuum, crit-
ical care solutions, and complementary assets.

Renal care continuum

To meet the challenges of the future, we are leveraging our
core strategic competencies: developing innovative products,
operating outpatient facilities, standardizing medical proce-
dures and coordinating patients effectively.

With the implementation of our corporate strategy (see
CHART 2.4), we intend to take a further step to bring us closer
to our goal of providing health care for chronically and critically
ill patients across the renal care continuum. We aim to use our
innovative, high-quality products and services to offer sustain-
able solutions at a reliable cost.
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The renal care continuum encompasses the following aspects:

> New renal care models:
We intend to use digital technologies such as artificial intelli-
gence and big data analytics to develop new care models for
patients with kidney failure, such as personalized dialysis and
holistic home treatment.

> Value and risk-based care models:
These models allow us to offer care that is not only better, but
also affordable in the long term. Our aim is to establish sus-
tainable partnerships with payors around the world to drive
forward the transition from fee-for-service payment to
pay-for-performance models.

> Chronic kidney disease and transplantation:
We want to provide patients with holistic care along their
entire treatment path. To this end, we have broadened our
value and risk-based care programs to include the treatment
of chronic kidney disease with a view to slowing disease pro-
gression, enabling a smoother start to dialysis and preventing
unnecessary hospital stays. We also intend to incorporate
kidney transplants into value-based care models in the future.

> Future innovations:
Through Fresenius Medical Care Ventures we invest in start-ups
and early-stage companies in the health care sector with the goal
of gaining access to new and disruptive technologies and treat-
ment concepts for our core business and complementary assets.

Critical care solutions

The number of patients requiring continuous renal replacement
therapy to treat acute kidney failure is set to rise from around
1.0 million patients in 2023 to over 1,5 million per year over the
next decade. In addition to acute dialysis, we are also active in
other areas of extracorporeal critical care therapy, such as the
treatment of acute heart, lung and multi-organ failure.
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Complementary assets

We will supplement and strengthen our existing network where
feasible through additional partnerships, investments and
acquisitions. This will help us to create medical value added
while saving costs, enabling us to build an even more solid foun-
dation for our future growth to 2025 and beyond. For further
information on the InterWell Health (as defined below) business
combination, which supports our business activities, see NOTE 3
of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Integrating sustainability

For us, sustainability is about being successful in the long term
and creating lasting value — economically, ecologically and
socially. Our commitment to sustainability is incorporated in
our vision and our mission and is also reflected in our strategy.
We plan to include sustainability as a non-financial perfor-
mance target for management compensation plan. Starting in
2024, the Supervisory Board will submit a thoroughly reviewed
and revised system for the compensation of the Management
Board. In addition to short-term sustainability targets, it is
intended in particular to incorporate sustainability as a perfor-
mance target for the long-term incentive plan.

For further information, see the separate Non-Financial Group
Report and the Compensation Report within the chapter
“Corporate Governance” of the Annual Report.

Globalizing our operating model

In 2021, we launched our FME25 Program. As one major mile-
stone, the introduction of the new operating model saw the
implementation of two global segments — Care Delivery and
Care Enablement. We structured our operating model along
our key value drivers and are advancing our efforts to globalize
and simplify our structure as part of the implementation of our
growth strategy.

The new structure allows us to significantly reduce overhead
costs and optimize our portfolio in both operating segments.
While we have successfully implemented the operating model
and made progress with the savings planned under the FME25
Program, we are actively pursuing measures to further support
margin improvement.
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For further information, see the section “Business Model” in
the chapter “Overview of the Group”, the section “FME25” in
the chapter “Outlook” and NOTE 29 of the notes to the consol-
idated financial statements.

Legacy Portfolio Optimization

We are consistently implementing our strategic program for
Legacy Portfolio Optimization (as defined below), focusing
within the strategic goal alignment on businesses and markets
that hold the greatest potential for sustainable profitable
growth. Consequently, we are withdrawing from non-sustain-
able markets and divesting businesses that do not align with
our core operations, that may have a dilutive effect, or both.
This approach signifies a clear emphasis on debt reduction as
part of a disciplined capital allocation strategy.

As part of the strategic realignment of our product portfolio,
we ceased the development of a dialysis cycler at the begin-
ning of 2023. In the first half of 2023, we announced the
divestment of our clinic network in Sub-Saharan Africa and
sold our clinics in Hungary. In December 2023, we completed
our exit from the Argentinian business and concluded the sale
of the outpatient cardiovascular clinic business, National
Cardiovascular Partners (NCP), in the U.S. Additionally,
pending final regulatory approval, Fresenius Medical Care has
signed an agreement for the sale of the Australian Cura Day
Hospitals Group (Cura).
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Performance management
system

The Management Board oversees our Company by setting
strategic and operational targets and measuring various finan-
cial key performance indicators used for internal management
determined in euro based upon International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS® Accounting Standards) as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and
other measures, as described below.

The key performance indicators used for internal management
are identical in the individual operating segments.

Each operating segment is evaluated based on target figures
that reflect the revenue and expenses they control. Our Global
Medical Office, which seeks to optimize medical treatments
and clinical processes within the Company and supports both
Care Delivery and Care Enablement, is centrally managed and
its profit and loss are allocated to the segments. Similarly, we
allocate costs related primarily to headquarters’ overhead
charges, including accounting and finance as well as certain
human resources, legal and IT costs, as we believe that these
costs are attributable to the segments and used in the alloca-
tion of resources to Care Delivery and Care Enablement.
These costs are allocated at budgeted amounts, with the
difference between budgeted and actual figures recorded at
the corporate level. However, certain costs, which relate
mainly to shareholder activities, management activities as well
as global internal audit, are not allocated to a segment but are
accounted for as corporate expenses (Corporate). Financing is
a corporate function which is not controlled by the operating
segments. Therefore, the Company does not include interest
expense relating to financing as a segment measurement. In
addition, the Company does not include income taxes as a
segment measurement, as it believes taxes are outside the
segments’ control.
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Certain of the following financial measures and other financial
information as well as discussions and analyses set out in this
report include measures that are not defined by IFRS
Accounting Standards (Non-IFRS Measures). We believe this
information, along with comparable IFRS® Accounting Stan-
dards financial measurements, is useful to our investors as it
provides a basis for assessing our performance, payment obli-
gations related to performance-based compensation, our
compliance with covenants and enhanced transparency as
well as comparability of our results. Non-IFRS financial
measures should not be viewed or interpreted as a substitute
for financial information presented in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards.

Performance indicators at Constant
Exchange Rates or Constant Currency
(Non-IFRS Measure)

Our presentation of some financial measures used in this report
such as changes in revenue, operating income and net income
attributable to shareholders of FME AG (or net income) includes
the impact of translating local currencies to our reporting
currency for financial reporting purposes. We calculate and
present these financial measures using both IFRS Accounting
Standards and at constant exchange rates in our publications
to show changes in these metrics and other items without giving
effect to period-to-period currency fluctuations. Under IFRS
Accounting Standards, amounts received in local (non-euro)
currency are translated into euro at the average exchange rate
for the period presented. Once we translate the local currency
for the constant currency, we then calculate the change, as a
percentage, of the current period calculated using the prior
period exchange rates versus the prior period. This resulting
percentage is a Non-IFRS Measure referring to a change as a
percentage at constant currency. These currency-adjusted
financial measures are identifiable by the designated terms
“Constant Exchange Rates” or “Constant Currency”.
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The primary key performance indicators are presented at
Constant Currency excluding special items (defined below) for
management purposes. Each of these indicators presented at
Constant Currency is considered a non-IFRS measure. For the
purposes of management compensation, these metrics are
also benchmarked at the underlying exchange rates used in
the calculation of our incentive compensation targets.

We believe that the measures at Constant Currency are useful
to investors, lenders and other creditors because such infor-
mation enables them to gauge the impact of currency
fluctuations on our revenue, operating income, net income
attributable to shareholders of FME AG and other items from
period to period. In addition, under our long-term incentive
plans, we measure the attainment of certain predetermined
financial targets for revenue growth and net income growth in
Constant Currency. However, we limit our use of Constant
Currency period-over-period changes to a measure for the
impact of currency fluctuations on the translation of local
currency into euro. We do not evaluate our results and perfor-
mance without considering both:

1. period-over-period changes in revenue, operating income,
net income attributable to shareholders of FME AG and
other items prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards and

2. Constant Currency changes in revenue, operating income,
net income attributable to shareholders of FME AG and
other items.

We caution the readers of this report not to consider these
measures in isolation, but to review them in conjunction with
changes in revenue, operating income, net income attributable
to shareholders of FME AG and other items prepared in accor-
dance with IFRS Accounting Standards. We present the growth
rate derived from non-IFRS measures next to the growth rate
derived from IFRS Accounting Standards measures such as
revenue, operating income, net income attributable to share-
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holders of FME AG and other items. As the reconciliation is
inherent in the disclosure included within section “Results of
operations, financial position and net assets” below in the
chapter “Economic Report”, we believe that a separate recon-
ciliation would not provide any additional benefit.

Performance indicators excluding
special items

The primary key performance indicators are used in the
management of the Company, including the preparation of the
outlook, at Constant Currency excluding special items. There-
fore, management believes that there are special items which
should also be excluded from primary key performance indica-
tors at Constant Currency in external reporting to enhance
transparency and comparability (Special Items). Special ltems
are unusual in nature and have not been foreseeable or not
foreseeable in size or impact at the time of providing the
outlook. In the presentation of the expected business develop-
ment in our outlook, Special Items are therefore excluded.
Presenting our results excluding Special ltems ensures compa-
rability of the figures presented with the Company’s financial
targets which have been defined excluding Special ltems.

In 2023, we identified the costs related to the FME25 Program,
the Humacyte Investment Remeasurement, the Legal Form
Conversion Costs and the impacts from Legacy Portfolio Opti-
mization (each defined below) and in 2022, we identified the
costs related to the FME25 Program, the Net Gain Related to
InterWell Health, the Impacts Related to the War in Ukraine,
the Humacyte Investment Remeasurement and the Hyperin-
flation in Turkiye as Special Items which, when excluded from
the results disclosed, may provide a reader with further useful
information in assessing our performance against the financial
targets. These results at Constant Currency excluding Special
ltems are presented as part of the comparison of the actual
business results with the outlook and in our outlook, together
with reconciliations of the performance indicators for our
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Consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards to the performance indica-
tors at Constant Currency excluding Special ltems. These
results at Constant Currency excluding Special Items should
only be viewed as a supplement to our results disclosed in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards.

For further information see section “Overall business develop-
ment - Comparison of actual business results with the
outlook” in the chapter “Economic Report” and section “Key
performance indicators development of Fresenius Medical
Care in 2024” in the chapter “Outlook™.

Financial performance indicators
Primary key performance indicators
Revenue and revenue growth

We use revenue and revenue growth as key performance indi-
cators, as we believe that the key to continue growing our
revenue is to attract new patients and increase the number of
treatments performed each year. The number of treatments
performed each year is therefore an indicator of both the abso-
lute amount of revenue as well as continued revenue growth.
For further information regarding revenue recognition and
measurement, refer to NOTE 1 K) of the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements.

Revenue and revenue growth are used at Constant Exchange
Rates excluding Special Items for management purposes.
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T25 PRIMARY KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED
Results 2023 Results 2022
As reported At Constant As reported
(in accordance with IFRS Currency excl. (in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards) Special Iltems’ Accounting Standards)
Revenue 19,454 20,464 19,398
Revenue growth in % 0 5 10
Operating income 1,369 1,778 1,612

' Performance indicators used for management purposes, for further information on Constant Currency and Special Items, see above in this section.

Operating income

Operating income is the most appropriate measure for evalu-
ating the profitability of the operating segments and therefore
is also a key performance indicator.

Operating income is used at Constant Exchange Rates
excluding Special Items for management purposes.

TABLE 2.5 provides an overview of our primary key perfor-
mance indicators.

The results at Constant Currency excluding Special Items
should only be viewed as a supplement to our results disclosed
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and are used
for management purposes. Presenting our results at Constant
Currency excluding Special Items also ensures comparability
of the figures presented with the Company’s financial targets
which have been defined excluding Special Items.

For a reconciliation of the results prepared in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards to the results at Constant
Currency excluding Special Items see section “Overall busi-
ness development — Comparison of actual business results
with the outlook” in the chapter “Economic Report”.

Secondary financial performance
indicators

Return on invested capital (ROIC)
(Non-IFRS Measure)

ROIC is the ratio of operating income, for the last twelve
months, after tax (net operating profit after tax or NOPAT) to
the average invested capital of the last five quarter closing
dates, including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures
made during the last twelve months with a purchase price
above a €50 M threshold, consistent with the respective
adjustments made in the determination of adjusted EBITDA
(earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortiza-
tion) below (see “Net leverage ratio (Non-IFRS Measure)”).
ROIC expresses how efficiently we allocate the capital under
our control or how well we employ our capital with regard to
investment projects.

TABLES 2.6 to 2.11 starting on page 39 show the reconciliation
of average invested capital to total assets, which we believe to
be the most directly comparable IFRS Accounting Standards
financial measure, and how ROIC is calculated.
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72.6 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC
(NON-IFRS MEASURE, UNADJUSTED)

IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

T2.7 ADJUSTMENTS TO AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31,
Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, 2023 2023 2023* 2023* 2023 20224
2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2022 Total assets — (370) (361) (361) (368)
Total assets 33,930 35,635 34,960 35,501 35,754 Minus: Cash and cash equivalents — 20 20 20 20
Plus: Cumulative goodwill Minus: Accounts pavable
amortization and impairment loss 629 703 644 640 645 )  pay
to unrelated parties — 5 5 5 5
i . i 1
Minus: Cash and cash equivalents (1,427) (1,574) (1,363) (1,224) (1,274) Minus: Provisions and
Minus: Loans to related parties — — — — (1) other current liabilities — 16 16 16 16
Minus: Deferred tax assets' (292) (304) (314) (307) @B13) Invested capital = (329) (320) (320) (327)
Minus: Accounts payable Adjustment to average invested
to unrelated parties' (775) (762) (721) (822) (813) capital as of December 31, 2023 (259)
Minus: Accounts payable
to related parties (123) (119) (140) (111) (138) Adjustment to operating income* (32)
Minus: Provisions and Adjustment to income tax expense* 12
other current liabilities? (2,936) (3,235) (8,018) (8,007) (3,008) -
Adjustment to NOPAT (20)
Minus: Income tax liabilities (231) (263) (230) (215) (171)
2 Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities
Invested capital 28,775 30,081 29,818 30,455 30,681 and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions.
“ Including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made during the last twelve months with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold.
Average invested capital as of
December 31, 2023 29,962
Operating income 1,369
Income tax expense® (508)
NOPAT 861

" Includes amounts related to assets, and associated liabilities, classified as held for sale (see NOTE 4 of the notes to the consolidated financial

statements).

2 Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities

and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions.
¢ Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.
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72,8 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC

(NON-IFRS MEASURE)

IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

T2.9 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC

(NON-IFRS MEASURE, UNADJUSTED)
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec.31,
2023 2023 2023* 2023+ 2023 20224 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2021
Total assets 33,930 35,265 34,599 35,140 35,386 Total assets 35,754 38,406 36,070 34,724 34,367
Plus: Cumulative goodwill Plus: Cumulative goodwill
amortization and impairment loss 629 703 644 640 645 amortization and impairment loss 645 699 665 641 612
Minus: Cash and cash equivalents' (1,427) (1,554) (1,343) (1,204) (1,254) Minus: Cash and cash equivalents (1,274) (1,114) (1,025) (1,173) (1,482)
Minus: Loans to related parties — — — — (1) Minus: Loans to related parties (1) (3) (1) (4) (15)
Minus: Deferred tax assets' (292) (304) (814) (807) (813) Minus: Deferred tax assets (813) (328) (810) (299) (315)
Minus: Accounts payable Minus: Accounts payable
to unrelated parties’ (775) (757) (716) (817) (808) to unrelated parties (813) (828) (837) (790) (736)
Minus: Accounts payable Minus: Accounts payable
to related parties (123) (119) (140) (111) (138) to related parties (138) (103) (124) (92) (141)
Minus: Provisions and other current Minus: Provisions and other current
liabilities® (2,936) (3,219) (3,002) (2,991) (2,992) liabilities? (3,008) (3,488) (3,222) (3,188) 8,319)
Minus: Income tax liabilities (231) (263) (230) (215) (171) Minus: Income tax liabilities (171) (242) (207) (194) (174)
Invested capital 28,775 29,752 29,498 30,135 30,354 Invested capital 30,681 32,999 31,009 29,625 28,797
Average invested capital as of Average invested capital as of
December 31, 2023 29,703 December 31, 2022 30,622
Operating income* 1,337 Operating income 1,612
Income tax expense® * (496) Income tax expense® (487)
NOPAT 841 NOPAT 1,025

2 Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities

ROIC in % 2.8 and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions.

"Includes amounts related to assets, and associated liabilities, classified as held for sale (see NOTE 4 of the notes to the consolidated financial

statements).

2 Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities

and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions.
¢ Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.
4 Including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made during the last twelve months with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold.

2 Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.
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T2.10 ADJUSTMENTS TO AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC T2.11 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC (NON-IFRS MEASURE)
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED
Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31,
2022 2022 20224 20224 20224 20214 2022 2022 20224 20224 20224 20214
Total assets — — 576 539 291 Total assets 35,754 38,406 36,646 35,263 34,895
Minus: Cash and cash equivalents - - (55) (52) (51) Plus: Cumulative goodwill
- . amortization and impairment loss 645 699 665 641 612
Minus: Provisions and
other current liabilities? — - (4) (4) ) Minus: Cash and cash equivalents (1,274) (1,114) (1,080) (1,225) (1,583)
Invested capital - - 508 475 466 Minus: Loans to related parties (1) ) (1) 4) (15)
Adjustment to average invested Minus: Deferred tax assets (313) (328) (810) (299) (815)
capital as of December 31, 2022 290 .
Minus: Accounts payable
to unrelated parties (813) (828) (846) (798) (744)
Adjustment to operating income* (25) Minus: Accounts payable
Adjustment to income tax expense* 8 to related parties (138) (108) (124) (92) (141)
Adjustment to NOPAT (17) Minus: Provisions and
other current liabilities® (3,008) (3,488) (3,226) (3,192) 8,322)
2 Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities - .
and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions. Minus: Income tax liabilities (171) (242) (207) (194) (174)
“#Including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made during the last twelve months with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold. )
Invested capital 30,681 32,999 31,517 30,100 29,263
Average invested capital as of
December 31, 2022 30,912
Operating income* 1,487
Income tax expense® * (479)
NOPAT 1,008
ROIC in % 3.3

2 Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities
and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions.

3 Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.

“#Including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made during the last twelve months with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold.
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Operating income margin

Operating income margin represents the ratio of operating
income to revenue. We believe operating income margin
shows the profitability of each of our operating segments and
our company on a consolidated basis.

Net income and net income growth

As net income represents the profitability of our business after
all costs including operating costs, interest income and
expense, taxes and the impacts of noncontrolling interests in
our subsidiaries, this metric shows our profit for the period
after taking into account all aspects of our business. On a
consolidated level, we also use percentage growth in net
income (net income attributable to shareholders of FME AG).

Basic earnings per share growth

Percentage growth in basic earnings per share at Constant
Currency (Non-IFRS Measure) is a performance indicator to
evaluate our profitability. This indicator helps to manage our
overall performance. Basic earnings per share is calculated by
dividing net income attributable to shareholders by the weight-
ed-average number of outstanding shares over the course of
the year.

Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities in % of revenue

Our consolidated statement of cash flows indicates how we
generated and used cash and cash equivalents. In conjunction
with our other primary financial statements, it provides infor-
mation that helps us evaluate changes to our net assets and
our financial structure (including liquidity and solvency). Net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities is applied to
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assess whether a business can internally generate the cash
required to make the necessary replacement and expansion of
investments. This indicator is impacted by the profitability of
our business and the development of working capital, mainly
receivables. Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
in percent of revenue shows the percentage of our revenue
that is available in terms of financial resources. This measure
is an indicator of our operating financial strength.

Free cash flow in % of revenue
(Non-IFRS Measure)

Free cash flow (which we define as net cash provided by (used
in) operating activities after capital expenditures, before acqui-
sitions and investments) refers to the cash flow we have at our
disposal, including cash flows that may be restricted for other
uses. This indicator shows the percentage of revenue available
for acquisitions and investments, dividends to shareholders,
reducing debt financing or for repurchasing shares.

For a reconciliation of cash flow performance indicators for the
years ended 2023 and 2022 which reconciles free cash flow and
free cash flow in percent of revenue to Net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities and Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities in percent of revenue, see section “Results
of operations, financial position and net assets Financial posi-
tion Sources of liquidity” in the chapter “Economic Report”.

Capital expenditures

We manage our investments using a detailed coordination and
evaluation process. The Management Board sets our complete
investment budget as well as the investment targets. Before
realizing specific investment projects or acquisitions, our
internal Acquisition & Investment Committee examines the
individual projects and measures considering the expected
return on investment and potential yield. Investment projects
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are evaluated using common methods such as net present
value, internal interest rate methods and payback periods. We
utilize this evaluation methodology to ensure that we only
make and implement investments and acquisitions that
increase shareholder value. Capital expenditures for property,
plant and equipment and capitalized development costs is an
indicator used for internal management. It influences the
capital invested for replacement and expansion.

Net leverage ratio (Non-IFRS Measure)

The net leverage ratio is a performance indicator used for
capital management. To determine the net leverage ratio, debt
and lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents (net debt)
is compared to adjusted EBITDA, which we define as EBITDA
adjusted for:

> the effects of acquisitions and divestitures made during the
year with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold as
defined in our Syndicated Credit Facility (see NOTE 17 of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements),
> non-cash charges,
> impairment loss (including any impairment losses associ-
ated with the FME25 Program and Legacy Portfolio Optimi-
zation, as defined below), and
> Special ltems, including:
> costs related to our FME25 Program,
> the impact from the initial application of hyperinflationary
accounting under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperin-
flationary Economies (IAS 29), in Turkiye (Hyperinflation
in Turkiye),
> the impact from the remeasurement of our investment in
Humacyte, Inc. (Humacyte Investment Remeasurement),
> the net gain related to the business combination com-
pleted on August 24, 2022 among Fresenius Health Part-
ners, Inc. (FHP), the value-based care division of the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Fresenius Medical
Care Holdings, Inc., with InterWell Health LLC, a physi-
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cian organization driving innovation in the kidney care
space in the U.S., and Cricket Health, Inc. (Cricket), a
U.S. provider of value-based kidney care with a patient
engagement and data platform. The new company oper-
ates under the InterWell Health brand (InterWell Health).
The net gain includes the remeasurement gain of our
investment, prior to the transaction, in InterWell Health
LLC, the impairment of certain long-lived intangible
assets belonging to Acumen Physician Solutions, LLC
which was transferred to InterWell Health as part of the
transaction and certain transaction-related costs (Net
Gain Related to InterWell Health) (for further information
regarding the InterWell Health business combination, see
NOTE 3 of the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments),

> bad debt expense in Russia and Ukraine and the impair-
ment of a production plant and associated machines
resulting from economic sanctions imposed on Russia,
which negatively impacted our supply chain to the coun-
try, as a result of the Ukraine War (Impacts Related to
the War in Ukraine). Although to date the Ukraine War
has had minimal impact on our impairment testing of
goodwill, as we continue to treat patients and provide
health care products to our clinics in those countries,
receive reimbursements and generate cash flows, it has
had an impact on the valuation of certain assets and
receivables as a result of the ongoing hostilities,

> certain costs associated with the Conversion, primarily
related to the requisite relabeling of our products, trans-
action costs (such as costs for external advisors and
conducting an extraordinary general meeting) and costs
related to the establishment of dedicated administrative
functions required to manage certain services which
have historically been administered at the Fresenius SE
group level and paid by the Company through corporate
charges (Legal Form Conversion Costs), and

> impacts from strategic divestitures identified during the
review of our business portfolio, mainly due to exiting
unsustainable markets and non-core businesses, as well
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as the cessation of certain R&D programs to enable
more focused capital allocation towards areas in our
core business that are expected to have higher profitable
growth (Legacy Portfolio Optimization). During the year
ended December 31, 2023, these impacts mainly com-
prise the derecognition of capitalized development costs
and the impairment of intangible assets (licenses and
distribution rights) as well as termination costs (including
certain contractual obligation expenses) related to a dial-
ysis cycler development program which was discontin-
ued in the first quarter of 2023 and other impacts related
to agreed-upon divestitures in 2023 (see NOTE 4 of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements).

The ratio is an indicator of the length of time the Company
needs to service the net debt out of its own resources. We
believe that the net leverage ratio provides alternative informa-
tion that management believes to be useful in assessing our
ability to meet our payment obligations in addition to consid-
ering the absolute amount of our debt. We have a strong
market position in a growing, global and mainly non-cyclical
market. Furthermore, most of our customers have a high credit
rating as the dialysis industry is characterized by stable and
sustained cash flows. We believe this enables us to work with
a reasonable proportion of debt.

For our self-set target range and a reconciliation of the net
leverage ratio as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, see section
“Results of operations, financial position and net assets
Financial position Financing strategy” in the chapter
“Economic Report”.

Research and development

Developing innovative products and continuously improving
our therapies are intrinsic elements of our strategy. Our world-
wide R&D activities, which became part of Care Enablement
starting in 2023, allow us to efficiently develop products and
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therapies in cooperation with our Global Medical Office,
systematically promoting the global exchange of knowledge
and technology.

Global research and
development strategy

Health care systems face major financial challenges. We
therefore aim to direct our R&D activities toward developing
innovative products and therapies that not only meet high
quality standards and improve clinical outcomes, but are also
affordable. As an operator of proprietary dialysis clinics and a
provider of products for treating patients at home, we believe
that these aims are entirely compatible.

Our R&D strategy contributes to our corporate strategy, which
aims to provide health care for chronically and critically ill
patients across the renal care continuum by developing adja-
cent products and therapies for Extracorporeal Membrane
Oxygenation, as well as by developing and acquiring comple-
mentary assets. Furthermore, our globally oriented R&D strategy
enables us to respond more effectively to the worldwide rise in
demand for high-quality yet cost-efficient treatment and therapy
methods. In doing so, we also take regional or local market
conditions into account and offer a differentiated product range
across all three key areas of our corporate strategy (see section
“Corporate strategy and objectives” in this chapter).

Starting January 1, 2023, we consolidated our previously
decentralized health care products business, including R&D,
in our Care Enablement segment. The products business is
organized along the three treatment modalities we serve:
In-center, Home, and Critical Care.

In conjunction with our R&D activities, we collaborate with
external partners to expand our comprehensive innovation and
technology network. These partners include numerous
academic institutions, such as research institutes at prestigious
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universities in the U.S. With the Renal Research Institute in New
York, a subsidiary of Fresenius Medical Care, we have a
renowned institution in the field of clinical research into all
aspects of chronic kidney failure that is working on fundamental
issues relating to renal therapies. In addition, Fresenius Medical
Care Ventures collaborates with start-ups and early-stage
companies with the objective of promoting an open culture of
innovation and enabling access to the latest technologies.

Innovations in 2023

Our aim is to continuously improve our patients’ quality of life
and the outcomes of their treatment as well as to ensure our
growth in the medium to long term. To this end, we are working
on new products that are close to market launch, and have an
extensive portfolio of innovation projects. These focus on
technologies in our core business as well as related areas of
strategic interest.

Home dialysis

For many people with chronic kidney failure, home dialysis is
the preferred and gentlest treatment modality in renal replace-
ment therapy. Our focus is on making peritoneal dialysis (PD)
and home hemodialysis (HHD) therapy systems more acces-
sible, intelligent, and connected. In PD, we have continued to
connect our cyclers, improve quality, and roll out our latest
cycler to new markets.

Following the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) clearance
in November 2022, which upgraded the Liberty Select Cycler
to enable remote therapy management with the Kinexus
Therapy Management platform in the United States, we
successfully conducted an Early User Experience in the first
quarter of 2023, followed by a full market launch. These inno-
vations have connected the majority of the Liberty Select
Cyclers, enabling clinical teams to remotely access patient
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treatment data and, with the latest release, remotely program
or update patient prescriptions.

Our newest automated peritoneal dialysis (APD) cycler,
SILENCIA, utilizes an extremely simple, ultra-quiet, and highly
reliable gravity-based mechanism for fluid control, allowing for
high quality APD to be carried out at very low cost. We
continued our roll-out in South America and successfully
expanded into Asia and the Middle East, consistently improving
its quality, and adding new features. Future launch plans for
North Africa are in progress.

In 2023, significant improvements were introduced to the
NxStage chronic HHD portfolio, with multiple submissions to
the FDA. In August 2023, the FDA granted 510(k) clearance for
the GuideMe software upgrade to the NxStage Versi®HD
system. The new software provides graphical walk-through
guidance that aims to enhance ease of use and improve confi-
dence for both patients and nurses. The software is designed
to make the training experience easier for patients, more effi-
cient for nurses, and ease the transition to home dialysis.

An FDA 510(k) submission in September 2023 includes new
enhancements to the NxStage PureFlow SL platform. These
improvements include the ability to clean a wider range of
incoming water contaminants, automated chloramine moni-
toring (reducing patient burden by eliminating the need for
manual chloramine testing), and multi-patient use, an
important innovation to enable multiple patients to safely
utilize the same PureFlow SL system in health care facilities
(e.g. transitional care units and skilled nursing facilities).

Also in September 2023, a 510(k) premarket notification was
submitted to the FDA for enhancements to the NxStage
premixed dialysate bags, enabling increased user-friendliness
through a new bag design and improved connectivity. In
addition, formulations available in hanging bags have been
expanded and manufacturing enhanced for cost reduction.
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In-center dialysis

Within the area of in-center dialysis, we are focused on devel-
oping products that are sustainable and meet the requirements
of an increasingly digitalized world with a growing population
of patients suffering from chronic kidney failure. To enable
these patients to use the range of treatments they need, we
rely on a differentiated product range.

In 2023, the CONVINCE study revealed a statistically signifi-
cant 23% decrease in mortality rates for patients treated with
high-volume hemodiafiltration compared to those receiving
standard high-flux hemodialysis. These findings have the
potential to prompt significant changes in the standard treat-
ment approach and contribute to reducing mortality rates
among the vulnerable population in need of kidney replace-
ment therapy. As we intensify our efforts to make high-volume
hemodiafiltration available to an increasing number of patients
worldwide and, particularly for the first time in the U.S., we are
accelerating the development of machines that facilitate online
fluid generation and innovative techniques for delivering
hemodiafiltration.

Our engineers and researchers are working on more individu-
alized care for dialysis patients as every person is different and
has individual needs. At the same time, we strive to counter
the increasing shortage of qualified nurses by automating
diagnostic and therapeutic features on our devices, thus
reducing complexity, and enabling more time for better care.

New smart controls and management systems will enable
progress in medical services for dialysis patients as well. Our
6008 CAREsystem represents the highest standard for therapy
and lays the foundation for automated monitoring of predia-
lytic natremia, which can help to detect worsening of clinical
conditions. The system’s precision comes from the individual-
ized dialysate sodium prescription management to better
meet medical guideline recommendations.
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In the field of membrane engineering, our expertise enables
continuous dialyzer innovations: The FX CorAL® dialyzer
includes our latest membrane technology and has been intro-
duced successfully in several markets globally. In 2023, FX
CorAL® was cleared by the FDA for use in the United States,
paving the way toward delivering on our strategic promise to
optimize our global products portfolio. The core of the FX
CorAL® dialyzer is its Helixone® hydro membrane, which
forms a special gel-like layer of water on the surface of the
inner membrane that reduces protein adsorption while the
blood is being cleaned to achieve a lower induction of the
immune response in the patient while maintaining high selec-
tive permeability for the removal of toxins and excess water.

We optimize resource utilization, such as water and energy, to
enable eco-friendly dialysis. In 2023, we increased our efforts
to develop devices in the water treatment cascade, which
allows improved hygienic properties of the water treatment
system while at the same time facilitating savings in water and
electricity consumption. Our flagship product, Aqua A reverse
osmosis, received FDA approval and has been successfully
launched in the United States. Additionally, to improve our
water treatment system footprint in China, we prepared and
assembled the microscopic particulate analysis-type test
prototypes in our Changzhou production facility.

We made further efforts to improve sustainability by assessing
new designs for bloodlines, such as the newly launched
CombiSet 2500 in the U.S. market, representing a substantial
reduction of total material while offering equal handling and
usability benefits for dialysis centers.

Critical care

Our R&D activities for critical care aim to provide hospitals and
intensive care units (ICUs) with a comprehensive portfolio of
technologies for the extracorporeal organ support of critically
ill patients. As human organs are a mutually linked system,
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critical care R&D pursues a multi-organ support approach,
drawing on our extensive expertise in extracorporeal blood
treatment for acute kidney injury. Based on a holistic compre-
hension of human physiology, our goal is to develop multi-organ
therapies and translate them into smart technology solutions.

Along with a wide range of therapies for effective treatment of
acute kidney failure, multiFiltratePRO, a highly innovative plat-
form for continuous kidney replacement therapy (CKRT),
provides the function of therapeutic plasma exchange, the
combination with sorbents to combat specific pathogens and
the use of blood-gas exchangers for extracorporeal carbon
dioxide removal to prevent acute lung failure.

A major step forward in digital support for ICUs is the deve-
lopment of the Ready4 multiFiltratePRO AR solution, an
augmented reality learning experience that will launch in
2024, and is designed to help ICU teams deliver effective
CKRT with the multiFiltratePRO dialyzer system. ICUs may
retrain their staff on-demand using virtual 3D objects, prompts
and training videos.

We believe our Ready4 multiFiltratePRO AR service will
provide another reason to choose the multiFiltratePRO
dialyzer in the ICU and continue the global expansion of this
technology, which is now used in 50 countries in Asia,
Australia, Africa, Europe, South and North America. In
December 2022, the multiFiltratePRO received 510(k) clear-
ance from the U.S. FDA.

Another leading CKRT platform, the NxStage System One with
NxView, is available in the United States. Leading institutions
across the country have adopted its Cartridge Express with
Speedswap that enables a flow-compromised filter to be
replaced during therapy without changing a treatment set,
which can provide operational benefits when working in ICUs.
In addition, the R&D team also supported the launch of the
Critical Care Insights Report for the NxStage System One with
NxView, which translates raw machine data into actionable
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insights that chart the path for meaningful CKRT program
improvements at U.S. hospitals.

Digitalization in health care

Digitalization of processes in health care is mainly focused on
connecting patients, physicians and nursing staff and
improving nursing documentation at the point of care. The aim
is to achieve better treatment results for our patients, seam-
less connectivity and workflow optimizations for nurses and
significant reductions in treatment costs for our customers.

Connected patient care will make it possible to coordinate
treatments individually and detect warning signs as well as
causes of kidney disease at an early stage. To this end, using
the world’s largest database for clinical data in the field of
advanced kidney disease, we are developing modules based
on physiological models, artificial intelligence and machine
learning in order to assist physicians and nursing staff with
their duties.

Additionally, Frenova Renal Research, our clinical research
arm, has started signing up patients in the U.S. who are willing
to provide their genetic data for scientific purposes so that
researchers can better understand kidney disease and
develop innovative therapies.

Since 2021, patients have been benefiting from a virtual reality
(VR) tool, stayesafe MyTraining VR, to support their patient
training in preparation for CAPD. With stayesafe MyTraining
VR, patients can perform virtual dialysis treatment to learn
about key aspects of the dialysis process. Further information
on digitalization projects can be found in the separate Non-Fi-
nancial Group Report.
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R&D resources

In fiscal year 2023, Fresenius Medical Care spent a total of
around €232 M on R&D (2022: €229 M), corresponding to
around 6% (2022: 6%) of our health care product revenue. At
the end of 2023, our patent portfolio comprised some 9,537
property rights in approximately 1,594 patent families, i.e.
groups of patents linked to the same invention. Our R&D work in
fiscal year 2023 produced around 60 additional patent families.
Our broad portfolio of patents shall provide us with a wide range
of treatment options in this highly competitive field in the future.

At December 31, 2023, 1,358 employees (total headcount)
worked for Fresenius Medical Care in R&D worldwide
(December 31, 2022: 1,235). They come from various back-
grounds: Employees with medical, business and technical
qualifications work alongside software specialists in interdis-
ciplinary teams. More than 840 employees — the majority of
our R&D staff — are based in Europe. Most R&D activities are
carried out at our facilities in Schweinfurt and Bad Homburg v.
d. Hohe (Germany). Other development sites are in St. Wendel
(Germany), Bucharest (Romania), Palazzo Pignano (ltaly) and
Krems (Austria). In the U.S., the Company maintains centers of
excellence for the development of devices in Concord, Cali-
fornia, and for dialyzers and other disposable products in
Ogden, Utah. Development activities in Shanghai and
Changshu (China) are focused on the growing demand for
cost-effective dialysis systems in Asia and emerging markets.
The Global R&D organization coordinates collaboration and
technology exchange among the various sites.

GROUP

' As of December 31, for the respective period presented.
2 Total headcount.
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T2.13 EMPLOYEES
TOTAL HEADCOUNT
Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022 Change Share in %
TOTAL COMPANY 119,845 128,044 (8,199) 100
u.s. 66,384 70,336 (3,952) 56
Care Delivery 55,047 57,156
Care Enablement 11,321 13,164
Corporate 16 16
GERMANY 7,581 7,827 (246) 6
Care Delivery 2,394 2,656
Care Enablement 5,125 5,114
Corporate 62 57
REST OF THE WORLD 45,880 49,881 (4,001) 38
Care Delivery 33,556 37,838
Care Enablement 12,323 12,042
Corporate 1 1
More information is shown in the TABLE 2.12. Employees
1212 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT Fresen.lus Medl.cal Care owes its bu3|.ness success to the
commitment of its employees. At a functional level, our human
2023 2022 2021 resources management is organized globally to ensure a
Research and development unlform strgteglc approach in line with the overarching corpo-
expenditures in € M 232 229 221  rate objectives.
Number of patents' 9,637 10,086 10,048
Employees’ 2 1358 1235 1236 At December 31, 2023, Fresenius Medical Care employed a

total of 119,845 members of staff (total headcount) in 70 coun-
tries worldwide. Our workforce therefore decreased by 6%
year-on-year, or by 8,199 employees in absolute terms. For
further information on the movement in employees, see
section “Results of operations, financial position and net
assets” in the chapter “Economic Report”.
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TABLE 2.13 on page 46 shows the breakdown of employees by
our major category of activities.

Staff costs at Fresenius Medical Care decreased to €7,768 M in
2023 (2022: €7,939 M), corresponding to 40% (2022: 41%) of
revenue. Average staff costs per employee (annual average
based on total headcount) amounted to €63,095 (2022: €61,194).

More information about our employees can be found in the
Non-Financial Group Report. For more information on diversity,
see the chapter “Corporate Governance” in the Annual Report.

Quality management

At Fresenius Medical Care, we have a clear focus: we want to
offer high-quality and reliable products and therapies to ensure
the best possible medical care for our patients and customers.
We operate production facilities worldwide to meet the demand
for our dialysis products and other health care products.

Care Enablement

With a focus on quality, costs and availability, we introduced a
stable infrastructure with efficient processes and systems
over the last several years. All production sites follow the Lean
Manufacturing approach which, in our plants in North America
and in nine of twelve plants in Europe, Middle East and Africa
includes the ‘“Lean Six Sigma” management system. The
focus of Lean Manufacturing and Six Sigma is the continuous
improvement of manufacturing processes in order to achieve
a low defect rate resulting in improved product quality, while
reducing manufacturing times. We have successfully harmo-
nized all local Quality Management Systems (QMS) in all
manufacturing and development sites outside the U.S. under
one Consolidated QMS (CQMS). Every medical device plant at
these locations has a local QMS directed by CQMS that is
certified either to ISO 13485:2016 and / or ISO 9001:2015
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under Medical Device Single Audit Program (MDSAP). Our
production activities in the U.S. continue to be governed by
our North American management system in compliance with
FDA regulations. The QMS of each site is additionally reviewed
through periodic corporate and local management review and
internal audits.

All certified plants have successfully passed the annual ISO
13485, ISO 9001, MDSAP underlying regulatory requirements,
external QMS audits and authority inspections for maintaining
their required certifications and licenses.

Care Delivery

Our dialysis clinics work in conformance with the generally
accepted quality standards of the industry, particularly the
U.S. Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative (KDOQI)
guidelines, the European Renal Best Practice standard and
increasingly the Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes
(KDIGO), an industry initiative for global clinical practice guide-
lines. Clinical data management systems are used to routinely
collect certain medical parameters, which we evaluate in
anonymized form in compliance with these guidelines.

At each of our dialysis clinics in the U.S., a quality assurance
committee is responsible for reviewing quality of care data,
choosing local quality improvement projects and monitoring
the progress towards achieving the quality targets which are
informed by KDOQI, KDIGO and the Quality Agenda estab-
lished by the Medical Office of Fresenius Medical Care in the
U.S. Outside the U.S., Clinic Quality Management Department
(CQM) is responsible for establishing and maintaining all quality
management activities.

Commencing in 2024, the implementation of an internally
developed Quality Management System, which has widened
the process scopes by considering the objective of protecting
patients, employees and the environment.
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More information about our quality management including
our quality data can be found in the separate Non-Financial
Group Report.

Quality-based reimbursement systems

We participate in quality-based reimbursement models, which
we describe in the section “Macroeconomic and sector-spe-
cific environment — Sector-specific environment — Health care
and reimbursement systems vary from country to country” in
the chapter “Economic Report”.

Sustainability management

At the core of Fresenius Medical Care is our steadfast commit-
ment to our patients. This approach shapes how we manage
sustainability, emphasizing our contribution to global health
care challenges and on activities with the biggest impact for
our company vision. Successfully managing our sustainability
impacts, risks and opportunities means creating economic,
ecological, and social value. Acting sustainably is a funda-
mental component of our strategy.

Over the past years, we have continuously stepped up our
sustainability management efforts. Following the successful
completion of our Global Sustainability Program at the end of
2022, we have defined new global targets to further drive the
integration of sustainability into our business and continuously
improve our sustainability performance. We focus on three
strategic areas: enhancing quality of care and access to health
care, building the best team to serve patients, and reducing
our Company’s environmental footprint.

Further information can be found in the separate Non-Finan-
cial Group Report.
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Economic Report

The dialysis market is a sustainable
growth market with rising demand for
products and services to treat
patients with chronic kidney disease.

Macroeconomic and
sector-specific environment

Macroeconomic environment

Dependency on economic cycles and other
macroeconomic factors

Our business is exposed to economic cycles only to a rela-
tively small extent. This sets us apart from manufacturers of
consumer goods, for instance, whose products are subject to
more cyclical demand.

Key drivers influencing our business include the government
remuneration systems and respective rates. Looking at reim-
bursement rates in certain countries, it is important to
recognize that these rates are covering a wider range of
services on a highly individual level. Dialysis is a vital medical
service, which is why it is usually paid for by the responsible
health care system.

In 2022, we received government support in connection with
the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly in the U.S., which was
discontinued in 2023. At the same time, certain financial
burdens remained, primarily due to the consistently high
wage costs.
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The macroeconomic environment remains challenging, but
energy prices have stabilized at a high level and there are
increasing signs that the commodities market, the general
inflationary environment and the U.S. labor market are also
stabilizing, though inflation related to wages continues to be a
headwind in the upcoming year.

For further information see section “Overall business develop-
ment — Highlights” in this chapter.

Exchange rate developments

As Fresenius Medical Care has a worldwide presence, the
results of its operations are significantly impacted by exchange
rate developments. Movements in the U.S. dollar and the euro
are especially crucial as we generate a major part of our reve-
nues in the U.S. The global exchange rate development in
fiscal year 2023 compared to fiscal year 2022 was character-
ized by steady fluctuations, increases and appreciation, of the
euro against the U.S. dollar On average over the course of the
year, the euro traded stronger against the U.S. dollar compared
to fiscal year 2022.

In addition, Fresenius Medical Care’s operating results are
influenced by changes in the exchange rate between the euro
and other local currencies. This is partly due to intra-Group
sales from large production sites in the euro zone to Group
companies with different functional currencies, but also
because the euro is the currency we use for financial reporting.
Regarding intra-Group sales, individual subsidiaries are
exposed to fluctuations in the exchange rate between the
invoicing currencies and the currencies in which they conduct
their local operations. Fresenius Medical Care reduces trans-
action risks, i.e. risks from foreign currency exposures or
exchange rate fluctuations, through a global network of
production facilities, which is geared toward demand in the
Company’s dialysis product business, as well as through
foreign exchange derivatives. As the production facilities are
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often based in the markets they serve, costs are incurred in the
same currency in which revenue is generated. The risk of
exchange rate fluctuations is relatively low for health care
services because they are provided locally and are therefore
invoiced in the respective currency.

Sector-specific environment

Chronic kidney failure or ESRD is a global disease. The
number of patients requiring renal replacement therapy is
increasing worldwide: At the end of 2023, approximately 5.1 M
patients (2022: 4.9 M) underwent dialysis treatment or
received a donor organ.

Further information can be found in TABLE 2.14 on page 49.

For many years now, the number of donated organs worldwide
has been significantly lower than the number of patients on
transplant waiting lists. Despite extensive efforts by regional
initiatives to increase awareness of kidney donation and the
willingness to donate, the share of patients worldwide receiving
kidney transplantation compared with other treatment methods
has remained relatively unchanged over the past ten years.

The prevalence of chronic kidney failure varies between
regions. There are several reasons for this:

> The countries differ demographically, as age structures in
the population vary worldwide.

> The prevalence of risk factors for kidney disease, such as
diabetes and high blood pressure, varies widely.

> The genetic predisposition for kidney disease also differs
significantly around the world.

> Access to dialysis remains restricted in many countries,
meaning that many patients suffering from chronic kidney
failure are not treated and therefore do not appear in preva-
lence statistics.

> Cultural factors, such as nutrition, play a role.
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T2.14 PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC KIDNEY FAILURE (ESRD)
2023 Share in % 2022 Share in %
Patients with chronic kidney failure 5,071,000 100 4,865,000 100
of which patients with transplants 969,000 19 942,000 19
Of which dialysis patients 4,102,000 81 3,923,000 81
In-center hemodialysis 3,628,000 71 3,469,000 71
Peritoneal dialysis 444,000 9 427,000 9
Home hemodialysis 30,000 1 27,000 1

Source: Company information and estimates.

The number of dialysis patients rose worldwide by around 5%
in 2023 (2022: 4%).

New drug classes like GLP-1 (Glucagon-like peptide-1)
receptor agonists or SGLT2 (Sodium-Glucose-Transporter 2)
inhibitors, are thought to slow the progression of chronic
kidney disease, provide cardiovascular health benefits and
therefore could have a significant positive impact on people
with diabetes and other chronic diseases. With regard to the
GLP-1-receptor agonists drug class, we expect a balanced
influence on the number of people with ESRD in the long term.
Patients with chronic kidney failure who take GLP-1 receptor
agonists could have a longer life expectancy and be in better
health. This could give us the opportunity to admit healthier
patients who could potentially require kidney replacement
therapy for a longer time in the future. For further information
see NOTE 2 A) of the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments.

However, all the published clinical studies examining the
impact of GLP-1 receptor agonists on kidney-related endpoints
to date have only included patients with early-stage CKD, a
cohort of patients whose typical progression to end stage
kidney disease transpires over a decade or longer. A clearer
understanding of the effects of GLP-1 receptor agonists in
patients with more advanced CKD (slowed disease progres-

sion and mortality), as well as the mortality benefits in patients
with ESRD (mortality) will depend on the results of future clin-
ical trials.

Comparison of dialysis treatment methods

In 2023, most dialysis patients were treated in one of around
50,000 dialysis centers worldwide (2022: 48,000), with an
average of approximately 80 patients per center (2022: 80).
However, this figure varies considerably from country to country.

Hemodialysis is by far the most common form of therapy for
chronic kidney failure. A total of 88% of dialysis patients were
treated in this way at a dialysis center in 2023 (2022: 88%)).
Home hemodialysis is an alternative to treatment at a dialysis
center. A total of 1% of all patients are currently treated in this
way (2022: 1%). In the year under review, 11% of all dialysis
patients were treated with peritoneal dialysis, usually at home
(2022: 11%). As a result, 12% of the dialysis patients were
treated with home dialysis (2022: 12%). In 2023, about 15%
(2022: 15%) of all dialysis patients in the U.S. were treated with
home dialysis.
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CHART 2.15 shows a comparison of in-center and home
dialysis.

For acute renal failure, the predominant treatment method is
continuous renal replacement therapy. Over 50% or 1,000,000
acute patients were treated with this method in 2023 (2022:
around 50% or 900,000). The number of patients requiring
continuous renal replacement therapy to treat acute kidney
failure is set to rise from around 1.0 million patients in 2023 to
over 1,5 million per year over the next decade. In this field,
Fresenius Medical Care is well positioned with a market share
of approximately 29% (2022: 30%)).

c2.15 IN-CENTER VS. HOME DIALYSIS

12%
(474,000)

4,102,000

Dialysis patients
worldwide

88 %
(3,628,000)

Il n-center dialysis

. Home dialysis
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Volume of the dialysis market

According to our estimates, the volume of the global dialysis
market decreased to around €81 BN in 2023 (2022: €83 BN).
We expect the following approximate breakdown for this
market volume: around €16 BN (2022: €16 BN) for dialysis
products and approximately €65 BN (2022: €67 BN) for dial-
ysis services (including dialysis drugs).

Other health care services

Chronic conditions such as diabetes and cardiovascular
diseases are becoming increasingly common and are respon-
sible for approximately two out of three deaths worldwide. In
many countries, a large proportion of health care spending
goes toward treating chronic diseases. To counteract the
resultant increase in cost pressure, more and more health care
systems, such as that in our largest market, the U.S., are
starting to promote coordinated, holistic care rather than reim-
bursing individual services.

Due to the large number of different services offered in the
area of other health care services within our Care Delivery
segment, we cannot provide a meaningful estimate of the
market volume.

Our services are mostly paid for by health
insurers and companies

The most important payers of Fresenius Medical Care’s
services are state-owned or public health insurers, private
health insurers, and companies.
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Health care and reimbursement systems
vary from country to country

As renal replacement therapy is a life-saving medical service,
patients often do not have to pay for dialysis themselves.
Instead, the costs are borne by the responsible health care
system. The reimbursement systems for dialysis treatment —in
other words, the structures used by health care systems to
regulate reimbursement for dialysis services — differ from
country to country and sometimes even within countries. The
business activities of dialysis service providers and the reim-
bursement of dialysis therapy are affected by various factors
including regional conditions, the treatment method, regula-
tory issues, and the type of provider (public or private).

We can only influence the reimbursement of our services to a
limited extent. The environment for reimbursement and the
conditions for prescribing ancillary services significantly influ-
ence our business.

The reimbursement system in the U.S.

The delivery of health care services and products is highly
regulated in most of the countries in which we operate.
Proposals for legislative reforms in these countries are often
introduced to improve access to care, address quality of care
issues, and manage health care system costs.

In the U.S., our biggest market, many of our patients are
insured by the governmental health authority, the so-called
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid (CMS). CMS determines
the reimbursement rates for its beneficiaries (Medicare
patients). In fiscal year 2023, around 25% (2022: 26%) of our
total revenue was attributable to reimbursements by CMS.

Future changes in health care regulation are a key factor influ-
encing our business. The U.S.-government has embedded
drivers to manage the substantial health care costs. Histori-
cally, the magnitude of government reimbursement rate
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increases in the U.S. has been limited and is expected to
continue in this manner. A reduction in Medicare, commercial
insurance, Medicare Advantage plans, or patient access to
commercial insurance, could have a particularly adverse
impact on our Care Delivery business.

On October 27, 2023, CMS issued a final rule for the reim-
bursement rate for chronic kidney failure treatments for
calendar year (CY) 2024. It sets this rate annually as part of its
prospective payment system (PPS), known as the ESRD PPS
rate. The final base rate per treatment for CY 2024 is $271.02,
up 2.1% on the CY 2023 base rate of $265.57. This increase is
based on a market basket increase of 2.4%, partially offset by
a multifactor productivity adjustment of 0.3% that is mandated
by the Affordable Care Act (ACA). While the final rule provides
for a routine update to the wage index based on existing policy,
the significant rise in labor costs over the past few years has
not been offset.

Various incentives are in place to encourage health care
providers to improve outcomes and develop new products.
For instance, CMS has finalized a change to the ESRD PPS
transitional drug add-on payment adjustment (TDAPA) related
policy for CY 2024, along with a new add-on payment adjust-
ment for certain new renal dialysis drugs and products in
existing ESRD PPS functional categories after the TDAPA
period concludes.

Any significant reduction in Medicare reimbursement rates
could have a material adverse effect on our business. To the
extent that inflation, for example in the form of higher costs for
personnel and disposables, is not fully compensated by an
increase in reimbursement rates, the demand for our products
and services could be reduced and the results of operations
could be adversely affected.

In Marietta Memorial Hospital Employee Health Benefit Plan v.
DaVita Inc., the Supreme Court ruled against DaVita, Inc. in
favor of a self-funded employer-sponsored health plan that
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provided only out-of-network dialysis reimbursements to indi-
viduals with ESRD. This could make commercial insurance
relatively less attractive to ESRD patients and Medicare rela-
tively more appealing. The Marietta ruling could potentially
lead to certain employer group health plans excluding reim-
bursement for dialysis services, with a material and adverse
impact on our business, financial conditions, and results of
operations, depending on the number of affected patients.
While the Marietta ruling did not significantly impact our busi-
ness in 2023, the absence of legislative action and a shift of
commercially insured patients to Medicare and Medicaid
could have negative implications in 2024 and beyond. In
December 2023, six bipartisan members of the House reintro-
duced the Restore Protections for Dialysis Patients Act (H.R.
6860), which would address the Marietta decision. The bill
includes updated language, which would restore the under-
standing of the Medicare Secondary Payer Act prior to the
Marietta decision and ensure that patients cannot be discrim-
inated against because of their need for dialysis.

More information can be found in the chapter “Report on risks
and opportunities”.

In the U.S., reimbursement by private insurers and so-called
managed care organizations is higher than reimbursement by
government institutions. At the same time, payments from
private insurers constitute a substantial portion of our profits,
meaning our business is directly influenced by changes in the
share of reimbursements by private insurers in North America.
In fiscal year 2023, 46% of the Group’s health care services
revenue was related to private insurers in North America
(2022: 43%).

Transitional add-on payments for new drugs and
devices in the U.S.

Under the ESRD PPS drug designation process, CMS provides
payment using a TDAPA for new renal dialysis drugs and
biologicals with the exception of drugs that are available only
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in oral forms. For drug and biologicals that fit into an existing
ESRD PPS functional category, CMS will pay for the drug
using the TDAPA for a transitional period of two years. At the
end of this time, CMS will not update the base rate to reflect
the cost and utilization of the new drug. For new drugs and
biologicals that do not fit into an existing functional category,
CMS will pay for the drug using the TDAPA for a period of at
least two years to allow for sufficient cost and utilization data
to be gathered. After this transitional period has expired, CMS
will update the base rate to reflect the inclusion of the new
drug or biological. CMS will continue to provide a TDAPA for
the drug difelikefalin (trade name “Korsuva”) at the rate of the
average sales price until March 31, 2024.

Quality-based reimbursement

The health care debate in some countries is currently focused
on establishing reimbursement structures based on treatment
quality (pay for performance). This transfers more responsi-
bility to the medical service provider. The goal of reimbursement
models of this kind is to maintain a high quality of care
combined with lower overall costs for the health care system.

The reimbursement system in the U.S. is also an example of a
model based on qualitative criteria. For example, CMS defines
quality standards for dialysis centers as part of its quality
incentive program (QIP). Failure to reach these standards can
lead to a reduction in annual reimbursements of up to 2%.

In the CY 2024 final rule, CMS added measures to the ESRD
QIP effective in both 2026 and 2027, including measures to
screen and report for social determinants of health and a
“Facility Commitment to Health Equity” reporting measure.
CMS also removed several measures from the QIP including
the “Ultrafiltration Rate” reporting measure and Standardized
Fistula Rate clinical measure.
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Value-based care programs with private payors

We have entered into value and risk-based care programs with
private payors to provide care to commercial and Medicare
Advantage ESRD and CKD patients. Under these payment
arrangements, our financial performance is based on our
ability to manage a defined scope of medical costs within
certain parameters for clinical outcomes.

New reimbursement models

In 2019, the then U.S. President signed an Executive Order,
directing the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)
to develop new Medicare reimbursement models that enable
diagnosis and treatment earlier in the course of kidney disease
and support the expansion of home dialysis as well as
promoting kidney transplants. One of these, the mandatory
ESRD Treatment Choices (ETC) model, runs from January
2021 until June 2027, consisting of two partial reimbursement
programs: For a period of three years, home dialysis treatment
claims will receive an upward adjustment. In addition, the
model includes a performance-based reimbursement adjust-
ment that is dependent on home dialysis and kidney transplant
waitlist rates for facilities included in the model. Performance
based payment adjustments started in July 2022 and ending
in June 2027. At December 31, 2023, a total of 988, or around
35%, of our U.S. dialysis clinics were involved in the model.

Pursuant to the Executive Order, the Secretary of the HHS also
announced voluntary Medicare reimbursement models aimed
at providing financial incentives for health care providers in the
area of chronic kidney disease and transplantation. Our appli-
cations for the voluntary CKCC model were accepted in June
2020, as well as 4 other applications that we submitted in the
second performance year of the CKCC model. This model
allows health care providers to assume various amounts of
financial risk by forming so-called Kidney Care Entities (KCE).
Once implemented, the CKCC model is expected to run
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through 2026. As of December 2023, approximately 53,000
patients were aligned to KCEs in which we participated.

Reimbursement for dialysis treatments to members of
the Military Service

On November 21, 2023, Fresenius Medical Care entered into a
favorable settlement agreement with the U.S. government,
concluding a complaint filed in 2019. The complaint sought to
recover owed funds from the U.S. Department of Defense
under the Tricare program for services rendered on or before
January 11, 2023.

Tricare provides reimbursement for dialysis treatments and
other medical care provided to members of the military
services, their dependents, and retirees. The litigation
challenged unpublished administrative actions by Tricare
administrators to reduce the compensation rates paid for dial-
ysis treatments provided to Tricare beneficiaries based on a
recasting of invoicing codes. Tricare administrators had basi-
cally acknowledged the unpublished administrative action, but
declined to change or abandon it.

The settlement agreement effectively resolves the dispute
underlying the complaint, positively impacting business devel-
opment in 2023.

For further information see section “Overall business develop-
ment — Highlights™ in this chapter.

U.S. legislative action and ballot initiatives

Further U.S. legislation or regulations may be enacted in the
future through legislative and public referendum processes,
which could substantially modify the amounts paid for services
and products offered by us and our subsidiaries and mandate
new or alternative operating models and payment models.
Ballot initiatives that are successfully introduced at the state
level in the U.S. require the vote of state citizens to directly
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adopt or reject proposed new legislation. These ballot initia-
tives require a material expenditure of resources by us to
participate in public discourse regarding the proposed new
legislation underlying the initiatives, which if passed, could
further regulate multiple aspects of our operations including,
for instance, clinic staffing requirements, state inspection
requirements and profit margins on commercial business. It is
also possible that statutes may be adopted, or regulations
may be promulgated in the future that impose additional eligi-
bility requirements for participation in the federal and state
health care programs. Such new legislation or regulations
could have positive or adverse effects, possibly material, on
our businesses and results of operations.

COVID-19 related effects

In the previous years, we have received COVID-19-related
relief measures in some countries, for instance in the U.S., to
mitigate certain adverse financial impacts of the pandemic.
However, these measures did not fully offset any lost revenues
and increased costs we had to incur. Certain expenses, espe-
cially the cost base for wages, have remained high, even after
the reliefs were discontinued in 2023. In addition, our business
is still affected by excess mortality caused by the COVID-19
pandemic: The so-called annualization effect describes the
fact that the patients who died during the pandemic would
have been on dialysis for an average of three to three and a
half years. The excess mortality also affected people who
would have needed dialysis in the near future. The resulting
effects on patient numbers and treatment volume have not yet
been fully recovered.

For further information see NOTE 5 ) of the notes to the consol-
idated financial statements.
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Potential changes impacting our private payors in
the U.S.

The operation of charitable assistance programs such as that
offered by the American Kidney Fund is receiving increased
attention by CMS and state insurance regulators and legisla-
tors. The result may be a regulatory framework that differs
from the current framework or that varies from state to state.
Even in the absence of actions by CMS or state regulators and
legislatures to restrict the access that patients currently have
to premium assistance programs, insurers are likely to
continue efforts to thwart charitable premium assistance by
premium assistance programs to our patients. If successful in
a material area or scope of our U.S. operations, these efforts
would have a material adverse impact on our business and
operating results.

Overall business development

Highlights
Deconsolidation and Conversion

At our EGM held on July 14, 2023, our shareholders approved
the Conversion. Upon effectiveness of the Conversion, which
occurred upon registration of the Conversion with the compe-
tent commercial register on November 30, 2023, Management
AG exited the Company and Fresenius SE ceased to control
(as defined by IFRS 10) the Company.

Legacy Portfolio Optimization

As noted above, we are reviewing our business portfolio,
specifically with a view to exiting unsustainable markets and
non-core businesses and the cessation of certain R&D
programs to enable more focused capital allocation towards
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areas in our core business that are expected to have higher
profitable growth. During the year ended December 31, 2023,
the impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization mainly
comprise the items described under “Net leverage ratio
(Non-IFRS Measure)” in section “Performance management
system” within the chapter “Overview of the Group” (see NOTE 4
of the notes to the consolidated financial statements).

Overall, the impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization
resulted in a negative effect on operating income of €204 M for
the year ended December 31, 2023.

Inflation, higher energy prices and raw
material costs

The macroeconomic environment remains challenging, but
energy prices have stabilized at a high level and there are
increasing signs that the commodities market, the general
inflationary environment and the U.S. labor market are also
stabilizing, though inflation related to wages continues to be a
headwind in the upcoming year.

FME25 Program

Effective as of January 1, 2023, we commenced reporting
reflecting our new global operating model in which we reorga-
nized our business into two global operating segments.
External reporting was adjusted accordingly. For further infor-
mation see NOTES 1 and 29 of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Overall, the costs related to the FME25 Program resulted in a
negative impact on operating income of €153 M for the year
ended December 31, 2023 (€204 M for the year ended
December 31, 2022). For the year ended December 31, 2023,
recurring savings related to the FME25 Program were €346 M
(€131 M for the year ended December 31, 2022).
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In the discussion of our results for the year ended December
31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022
below, the effects of the costs and savings related to the
FME25 Program are presented on a net basis.

The impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization and the costs
related to the FME25 Program are treated as Special ltems.

Tricare Settlement

We filed a complaint against the U.S. Department of Defense
in 2019 which sought to recover amounts owed to us under the
Tricare program for services on or before January 11, 2023 (for
further information on this complaint, see NOTE 25 of the notes
to the consolidated financial statements). On November 21,
2023, we entered into a settlement agreement with the U.S.
government which resolved the dispute underlying the
complaint and concluded the litigation (Tricare Settlement). As
a consequence of the settlement agreement, both revenue
and operating income were positively impacted in the amount
of €191 M and €181 M for the year ended December 31, 2023.

For further information regarding the impact of the legal
settlement on our outlook for 2024, see the section “Key
performance indicators development of Fresenius Medical
Care in 2024” in the chapter “Outlook™.

Other Trends

During 2022, we faced significant challenges in the labor
market, particularly in the U.S., resulting in staff shortages,
high turnover rates and meaningfully higher costs. In 2023, we
have seen a stabilization of both the labor market and the
inflationary environment. Additionally, while overall treatments
decreased slightly for the year ended December 31, 2023
compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, as the annu-
alization effect of COVID-19-related excess mortality continues
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to impact growth and divestitures in connection with Legacy
Portfolio Optimization and the FME25 Program had a negative
impact on overall treatment numbers, the year ended
December 31, 2023 evidenced a trend towards improving
treatment volumes globally, with sequentially stable under-
lying treatment volumes in the U.S., which were negatively
affected by the cancellation of less profitable acute care
contracts contributing a 0.5% decline in Same Market Treat-
ment Growth (as defined below) as indicated in the discussion
of our consolidated revenue and operating segment results
and in the tables under “Key Performance Indicators,” below.

Changes in Management Board

On October 1, 2023, Martin Fischer was appointed CFO,
succeeding Helen Giza in her role as CFO. Helen Giza was
appointed as CEO and Chair of the Management Board in
December 2022, and previously served as acting CFO. Martin
Fischer assumed responsibility for the Global Finance Organi-
zation of Fresenius Medical Care. Following the Conversion on
November 30, 2023, Martin Fischer became a member of the
Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care AG.

Additionally, on October 31, 2023, Fresenius Medical Care
announced the appointment of Craig Cordola as a new
Management Board member for the Care Delivery segment,
commencing his new role on January 1, 2024. Craig Cordola
succeeded William (Bill) Valle, who had been with the
Company since 2009 and had led the Care Delivery segment
since 2022. Previously, Mr. Valle served as CEO for North
America starting in 2017 and had been a member of the
Management Board since 2017. Mr. Valle retired from the
Company at the end of 2023.
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Comparison of actual business results
with the outlook

Our business conditions have stabilized in 2023 and developed
partly better than expected. The macroeconomic environment
continued to be challenging, but the trend towards improving
treatment volumes and stabilization of both the labor market in
the U.S. and the inflationary environment has been confirmed.
The business development was still impacted by inflationary
cost increases as well as by unfavorable foreign currency
transaction effects, partially offset by savings from the FME25
Program and the positive impact from the Tricare Settlement.
We met our outlook for the fiscal year 2023.

Our 2023 outlook was based on the outlined assumptions in
chapter “Outlook” in the Group Management Report of the
Annual Report 2022 and excluded Special Items. Special
ltems include costs related to the FME25 Program, the Huma-
cyte Investment Remeasurement, the Legal Form Conversion
Costs and the impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization and
other effects that are unusual in nature and have not been
foreseeable or not foreseeable in size or impact at the time of
providing the outlook. We have adjusted the actual results for
2023 accordingly to make them comparable with the outlook.
The Tricare Settlement is not treated as Special Item, because
in previous reporting periods, the negative impact related to
this matter had not been treated as Special ltem due to its
operational nature.

The costs related to the FME25 Program mainly include the
impairment of fixed, intangible and right-of-use assets, sever-
ance payments and related personnel expense, IT costs and
consulting expenses. The impacts from Legacy Portfolio Opti-
mization mainly comprise the derecognition of capitalized
development costs and the impairment of intangible assets
(licenses and distribution rights) as well as termination costs
(including certain contractual obligation expenses) related to a
dialysis cycler development program which was discontinued
in the first quarter of 2023 and other impacts related to agreed-
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upon divestitures in 2023 (see NOTE 4 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements). The FME25 Program and
the impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization affect both
Segments, Care Delivery und Care Enablement.

The Legal Form Conversion Costs include costs primarily
related to the requisite relabeling of our products, transaction
costs (such as costs for external advisors and conducting an
extraordinary general meeting), insurance costs and costs
related to the establishment of dedicated administrative func-
tions required to manage certain services which have
historically been administered at the Fresenius SE group level
and were paid through corporate charges. The Legal Form
Conversion Costs and the special Item from the Humacyte
Investment Remeasurement are assigned to Corporate.

The targeted growth rates were based on the results in 2022
excluding Special Items, such as the costs related to the
FME25 Program, the Net Gain Related to InterWell Health,
the Humacyte Investment Remeasurement, the Hyperinfla-
tion in Turkiye and the Impacts Related to the War in Ukraine.
To provide a comparable basis for the 2023 outlook, the
prior year basis was adjusted accordingly for the Provider
Relief Funding.

A reconciliation of the results for 2023 and 2022 to the respec-
tive results for 2023 and 2022 excluding Special ltems can be
found at the end of this section. The outlook for fiscal year
2023 was based on Constant Currency.

We expected revenue growth at a low to mid-single digit
percentage rate at Constant Currency at the beginning of the
year. We generated revenue of €20.5 BN in 2023 at Constant
Currency (2022: €19.4 BN), resulting in an increase of 5%,
which is within the range of our expectations. Excluding the
positive impact from the Tricare Settlement revenue amounted
to €20.3 BN at Constant Currency, resulting in an increase of
4%, which is also within the range of our expectations.
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Both segments, Care Delivery and Care Enablement, contrib-
uted to the expansion of our business. Further details on the
development of revenue can be found in the section “Results
of operation, financial position and net assets”.

We expected operating income excluding Special ltems to
remain flat or decline up to at a high-single digit percentage
rate at Constant Currency for the fiscal year 2023. Based on
the earnings development we have narrowed the target range
in the second quarter of 2023 and raised it in the third quarter
of 2023 to a growth at a low-single digit percentage rate.
Furthermore, as a consequence of the Tricare Settlement, the
earnings outlook was raised once again at November 21, 2023.
We expected thereafter operating income to grow by 12 to 14
percent at Constant Currency. Operating income excluding
Special ltems in 2023 was €1.8 BN at Constant Currency
(2022: €1.5 BN), an increase of 15%. This slightly exceeds our
adjusted outlook. Excluding the positive impact from the
Tricare Settlement operating income excluding Special Items
amounted to €1.6 BN at Constant Currency, resulting in an
increase of 3%. This meets our previous target, which was
released in the third Quarter of 2023.

TABLE 2.16 on page 55 shows the actual results and our outlook
for the fiscal year 2023.

TABLE 2.17 and 2.18 on page 55 provides a reconciliation of the
results for 2023 and 2022 to the respective results for 2023
and 2022 excluding Special Items as well as a reconciliation of
the currency translation effects on the results for 2023 at
Constant Currency.



55 FRESENIUS TO OUR GROUP NON-FINANCIAL CORPORATE CONSOLIDATED FURTHER — Q
MEDICAL CARE 2023 SHAREHOLDERS MANAGEMENT REPORT GROUP REPORT GOVERNANCE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INFORMATION —_—

T2.16 RESULTS AND OUTLOOK PRIMARY KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR 2023

IN €M
Results Results
2023 2023 Outlook 2023
As reported Excl. Special Items (at Constant Currency) 23
Revenue 19,454 20,464 Low to mid-single digit percentage rate growth
12%-14% growth
Operating income 1,369 1,778 (initially: flat to high-single digit percentage rate decline)

" The outlook for 2023 was narrowed in the second quarter of 2023 and raised in third quarter of 2023 as well as at November 21, 2023; it was based on the outlined assumptions in chapter “Outlook” in the Group Management Report of the Annual Report 2022 and excluded Special ltems. Special ltems include
costs related to the FME25 Program, the Humacyte Investment Remeasurement, the Legal Form Conversion Costs and the impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization and other effects that are unusual in nature and have not been foreseeable or not foreseeable in size or impact at the time of providing the out-
look. The growth rates were based on the results in 2022 excluding the costs related to the FME25 Program, the Net Gain Related to InterWell Health, the Humacyte Investment Remeasurement, the Hyperinflation in Turkiye and the Impacts Related to the War in Ukraine. Additionally, the results 2022 were

adjusted for the Provider Relief Funding.
2 The results for 2023 have been adjusted for Special ltems in order to make business performance comparable with the outlook for 2023. A recongiliation of the results for 2023 and 2022 to the results for 2023 and 2022 excluding Special Items as a basis for the 2023 targets can be found in TABLE 2.17 and 2.18.

2 For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system”.

T2.17 OPERATING PERFORMANCE EXCLUDING SPECIAL ITEMS

IN€M
Special ltems
Results 2023
Humacyte Results 2023 excl. Special Items
Investment Legal Form Legacy Portfolio excl. Special Currency at Constant
Results 2023 FME25 Program Remeasurement Conversion Costs Optimization Items translation effects Currency’
Revenue 19,454 - — - - 19,454 1,010 20,464
Operating income 1,369 1563 (15) 30 204 1,741 37 1,778
' For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system”.
T2.18 OPERATING PERFORMANCE EXCLUDING SPECIAL ITEMS
IN€M
Special Items
Net Gain Related to Humacyte Investment Hyperinflation Provider Relief Adjusted
Results 2022 FME25 Program InterWell Health Remeasurement Ukraine War in Turkiye Funding results 2022
Revenue 19,398 - - - - - - 19,398

Operating income 1,512 204 (56) 108 49 5 277) 1,540
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Results of operations, financial
position and net assets

The following sections summarize our consolidated results of
operations, financial position and net assets as well as key
performance indicators by reporting segment, as well as
Corporate, for the periods indicated. We prepared the informa-
tion consistent with the manner in which management internally
disaggregates financial information to assist in making oper-
ating decisions and evaluating management performance.

Results of operations

Revenue and operating income generated in countries outside
the eurozone are subject to currency fluctuations. As a signifi-
cant portion of our operations are derived from our businesses
in the U.S., the development of the euro against the U.S. dollar
can have a material impact on our results of operations, finan-
cial position and net assets and the impacts of foreign currency
transaction and translation effects are included in the discus-
sion of our key and secondary performance indicators below.

Key Performance Indicators

The following discussions include our two operating and
reportable segments and the measures we use to manage
these segments. Due to the change in our operating structure
as of January 1, 2023, as mentioned above, we have restated
the financial information for 2022 for our operating segments
in order to conform to the current year’s presentation. For
further information, see NOTE 1 and NOTE 29 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended December 31, 2023 compared to year ended December 31, 2022

T2.19 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
IN€M

Change in %

Currency

2023 2022 Asreported translation effects Constant Currency'
Revenue 19,454 19,398 0 5) 5
Costs of revenue (14,529) (14,504) 0 6 6
Selling, general and administrative costs (3,196) (8,170) 1 4 5
Research and development (232) (229) 1 2 3
Income from equity method investees 122 67 83 0 83
Other operating income? 1% 550 6) (13) 7
Other operating expense? (765) (748) 2 20 22
Remeasurement Gain from Interwell Health - 148
Operating income 1,369 1,512 9 2 (7)
Operating income margin 7.0 7.8
Interest income 88 68 30 (21) 51
Interest expense (424) (360) 18 5 23
Income tax expense (801) (825) 8) 3 5)
Net income 732 895 (18) (2) (16)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (233) (222) 6 2 8
Net income attributable to shareholders of FME AG 499 673 (26) 2) (24)
Basic and diluted earnings per share in € 1.70 2.30 (26) 2 (24)

" For further information on Constant Exchange Rates, see “I. Performance management system” above.
2 For further information regarding the revised presentation of other operating income and other operating expense, see NOTE 1 and NOTE 5 F) of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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T220 REVENUE
IN € M, EXCEPT DIALYSIS TREATMENT, PATIENT AND CLINIC DATA

Change in %

Currency Same Market
translation Constant Organic Treatment
2023 2022 As reported effects Currency'’ growth Growth?
Revenue 19,454 19,398 0 5) 5 4
Care Delivery segment 15,578 15,593 0 5) 5 3 0.3
Thereof: U.S. 12,665 12,575 1 2 3 3 0.3
Thereof: International 2,913 3,018 (4) (16) 12 7 1.4
Care Enablement segment 5,345 5,353 0 5) 5 4
Inter-segment eliminations (1,469) (1,548) 5) 5 0
Dialysis treatments 51,654,540 52,310,131 (1)
Patients 332,548 344,687 )
Clinics 3,925 4,116 (5)

! For further information on Constant Exchange Rates, see “I. Performance management system” above.
2 Same market treatment growth represents growth, in percent, in treatments, adjusted for certain reconciling items including (but not limited to) treatments from acquisitions, closed or sold clinics and
differences in dialysis days (Same Market Treatment Growth).

Consolidated 31, 2022, primarily driven by divestitures in connection with

our Legacy Portfolio Optimization plan. Treatments in our Care
Revenue remained stable as compared to the year ended  Delivery segment decreased as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022 as organic growth in both Care Delivery = December 31, 2022, mainly due to the effect of closed or sold
and Care Enablement and the impact related to the Tricare  clinics (primarily related to Legacy Portfolio Optimization).
Settlement in the amount of €191 M were offset by a negative  During the year ended December 31, 2023, we opened 24 dial-
impact from foreign currency translation. ysis clinics and combined, closed or sold 215 clinics.

Care Delivery U.S.

Care Delivery revenue remained stable as compared to the Inthe U.S., the increase in revenue was driven by an increase
year ended December 31, 2022 as an increase in organic  in organic growth which was supported by a favorable impact
growth, the impact related to the Tricare Settlement in the  from our value and risk-based care programs, including inte-
amount of €191 M and a positive, hyperinflation-driven impact  gration and investment costs, (Value and Risk-Based Care
associated with closed or sold clinics related to revenues prior ~ Programs), reimbursement rate increases and a favorable
to divestiture. These effects were offset by a negative impact  payor mix as well as the impact related to the Tricare Settle-
from foreign currency translation. As of December 31, 2023, ment in the amount of €191 M, partially offset by a negative
the number of patients treated in dialysis clinics that we ownor  impact from foreign currency translation and the effect of
operate in Care Delivery decreased as compared to December  closed or sold clinics. organic growth in the U.S. was supported
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by reimbursement rate increases in 2023, partially offset by
the prior year impact of the reconciliation of revenues for the
final performance year of our ESRD Seamless Care Organiza-
tions (ESCOs). In the U.S., 205,308 patients (December 31,
2022: 206,033) were treated in dialysis clinics that we own or
operate. Treatments remained relatively stable at 31,210,375
for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to
31,361,555 for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily as
Same Market Treatment Growth was limited by the cancella-
tion of less profitable acute care contracts. We owned or
operated 2,615 dialysis clinics in the U.S. at December 31,
2023 as compared to 2,671 dialysis clinics at December 31,
2022. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we opened
15 dialysis clinics and combined, closed or sold 71 clinics.

International

In our operations outside the U.S. (International), the decrease
in revenue was driven by a negative impact from foreign
currency translation, partially offset by an increase in organic
growth and a positive, hyperinflation-driven impact associated
with closed or sold clinics related to revenues prior to divesti-
ture. There were 127,240 patients, a decrease of 8% (December
31, 2022: 138,654) treated in dialysis clinics that we own or
operate in International, primarily driven by divestitures in
connection with our Legacy Portfolio Optimization plan. Treat-
ments in International decreased by 2% to 20,444,165 for the
year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to 20,948,576 for
the year ended December 31, 2022 driven by the effect of
closed or sold clinics (primarily related to Legacy Portfolio
Optimization), partially offset by Same Market Treatment
Growth. We owned or operated 1,310 dialysis clinics in Inter-
national at December 31, 2023 as compared to 1,445 dialysis
clinics at December 31, 2022. During the year ended December
31, 20283, we opened 9 dialysis clinics and combined, closed
or sold 144 clinics.
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Care Enablement

Care Enablement revenue remained stable as compared to the
year ended December 31, 2022 as a negative impact from
foreign currency translation was offset by increased sales of
in-center disposables, machines for chronic treatment, home
hemodialysis products, critical care products (including prod-
ucts for acute care treatments and acute cardiopulmonary
products) and renal pharmaceuticals. The development of
Care Enablement revenue reflected increased average sales
prices for our products as well as an increased demand for our
products in certain countries.

Consolidated

The decrease in our operating income was largely driven by the
absence, in 2023, of i) government relief funding available for
health care providers affected by the COVID-19 pandemic
(including the partial suspension of U.S. Sequestration in 2022),
ii) the prior year Net Gain Related to InterWell Health, and iii) the
prior year impact from the reconciliation of revenues recorded
for the final performance year of our ESCOs as well as the
impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization and other divesti-
tures, inflationary cost increases, unfavorable foreign currency
transaction effects, a negative impact from Value and
Risk-Based Care Programs, higher expense related to perfor-
mance-based compensation plans, lower consent payments
attributable to certain pharmaceuticals, Legal Form Conversion
Costs and a negative impact from foreign currency translation
effects. The decrease was partially offset by a favorable impact
from business growth, net savings associated with the FME25
Program, the Tricare Settlement, a favorable impact from the
Humacyte Investment Remeasurement and lower personnel
expense resulting from improved labor productivity. The effect
of the Tricare Settlement was €181 M in additional operating
income for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Further information regarding the specific drivers of our
segment results are detailed below:
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T2.21 OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
IN € M
Change in %
Currency
2023 2022 Asreported translation effects Constant Currency’
Operating income (loss) 1,369 1,612 9) ) 7)
Care Delivery segment 1,516 1,686 (10) 2) 8)
Care Enablement segment 67) (30) 123 0 123
Inter-segment eliminations (13) 0 n.a. n.a
Corporate 67) (144) (54) ) (52)
Operating income (loss) margin 7.0 7.8
Care Delivery segment 9.7 10.8
Care Enablement segment (1.2) (0.6)

' For further information on Constant Exchange Rates, see “I. Performance management system” above.

Care Delivery

The decrease in Care Delivery operating income primarily
related to the absence, in 2023, of i) government relief funding
available for health care providers affected by the COVID-19
pandemic (including the partial suspension of U.S. Sequestra-
tion in 2022), ii) the prior year Net Gain Related to InterWell
Health, and iii) the prior year impact from the reconciliation of
revenues recorded for the final performance year of our ESCOs
as well as the impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization and
other divestitures, a negative impact from Value and Risk-
Based Care Programs, inflationary cost increases, higher
expense related to performance-based compensation plans,
lower consent payments attributable to certain pharmaceuti-
cals and a negative impact from foreign currency translation
effects. The decrease was partially offset by the Tricare Settle-
ment, a favorable impact from business growth, net savings
from the FME25 Program and lower personnel expense
resulting from improved labor productivity. The effect of the
Tricare Settlement was €181 M in additional operating income
for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Care Enablement

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the operating loss
recorded by Care Enablement increased as compared to the
year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to inflationary
cost increases, Legacy Portfolio Optimization and unfavorable
foreign currency transaction effects, partially offset by a favor-
able impact from business growth (due to both volume and
price impacts) and net savings from the FME25 Program.

Secondary performance indicators and
other contributors to profit and loss

Costs of revenue remained relatively stable as compared to
the year ended December 31, 2022 as a negative impact from
Value and Risk-Based Care Programs, higher costs associ-
ated with business growth, the absence, in 2023, of government
relief funding available for health care providers affected by
the COVID-19 pandemic, inflationary cost increases, unfavor-
able foreign currency transaction effects and various other
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smaller impacts were partially offset by a positive impact from
foreign currency translation effects, net savings from the
FME25 Program and lower personnel expense resulting from
improved labor productivity.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense increased
for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the
prior year comparable period, primarily due to higher expense
related to performance-based compensation plans, a nega-
tive impact from Value and Risk-Based Care Programs, higher
costs associated with business growth and inflationary cost
increases, partially offset by a positive impact from foreign
currency translation effects and net savings from the FME25
Program.

The increase in income from equity method investees was
primarily driven by higher earnings attributable to VFMCRP.

The decrease in other operating income was primarily driven
by lower consent payments attributable to certain pharmaceu-
ticals, lower foreign exchange gains and a negative impact
from foreign currency translation, partially offset by a favor-
able impact from Legacy Portfolio Optimization and other
divestitures.

The increase in other operating expense was primarily driven
by the impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization and Legal
Form Conversion Costs, partially offset by a favorable impact
from the Humacyte Investment Remeasurement, the absence,
in 2023, of certain costs related to the InterWell Health
business combination (InterWell Health Costs) (see NOTE 5 F))
of the notes to the consolidated financial statements), lower
expenses related to the FME25 Program, lower foreign
exchange losses and a positive impact from foreign currency
translation.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, we recorded a remea-
surement gain of our prior at-equity investment in InterWell
Health LLC in the amount of €148 M which did not reoccur
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during the year ended December 31, 2023. For further informa-
tion regarding the InterWell Health business combination, see
NOTE 3 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Net interest expense increased by 15% to €336 M from €292
M, primarily due to refinancing activities (including increases
of interest rates of several instruments), unfavorable effects
from foreign currency swaps and a prior year release of interest
accruals related to tax treatments, partially offset by higher
interest income related to certain investments, debt securities
and bank deposits.

The effective tax rate increased to 29.1% from 26.7% for the
same period of 2022 largely driven by a negative impact from
Value and Risk-Based Care Programs and higher tax provi-
sions related to tax law changes.

The increase in net income attributable to noncontrolling inter-
ests was primarily due to higher earnings in entities in which
we have less than 100% ownership, partially offset by a favor-
able impact from Legacy Portfolio Optimization and a positive
impact from foreign currency translation.

The decrease in net income attributable to shareholders of
FME AG was as a result of the combined effects of the items
discussed above. The effect of the Tricare Settlement was
€110 M in additional net income attributable to shareholders of
FME AG for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Basic earnings per share decreased primarily due to the
decrease in net income attributable to shareholders of FME
AG described above. The average weighted number of shares
outstanding for the period increased to 293.4 M in 2023 (2022:
293.2 M) due to the exercise of stock options during the first
half of 2022.

We employed 119,845 people (total headcount) as of December
31, 2023 (December 31, 2022: 128,044). This 6% decrease was
largely due to the divestiture of certain businesses, including

CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHER
INFORMATION

= Q

NCP and our service businesses in Argentina and Hungary, in
connection with the Legacy Portfolio Optimization program
and the FME25 Program as well as lower production activities
(partly as a result of the FME25 Program).

Financial position

Our investment and financing strategy did not change substan-
tially in the past fiscal year as our business model, which is based
on stable and high cash flows, allows for a reasonable proportion
of debt. We regard our refinancing options as being very stable
and flexible. During the past fiscal year, the focus of our investing
activities was on our health care services business.

Financing strategy

Our financing strategy aims at ensuring financial flexibility,
managing financial risks and optimizing financing costs.
Financial flexibility is ensured through maintaining sufficient
liquidity. Refinancing risks are limited due to the Company’s
balanced maturity profile, which is characterized by a wide
range of maturities of up to 2031. Corporate bonds in euro and
U.S. dollar form the basis of our mid- and long-term financing
instruments. Corporate bonds in euro are issued under our
€10 BN debt issuance program. For short-term financing we
use our €1.5 BN commercial paper program, Accounts Receiv-
able Facility in U.S. dollar and bilateral credit lines. The €2 BN
Syndicated Credit Facility, signed in July 2021, serves as a
backup facility and was undrawn at December 31, 2023.

CHART 2.22 on page 60 summarizes our main financing debt
mix as of December 31, 2023.



TO OUR

60 FRESENIUS
MEDICAL CARE 2023 SHAREHOLDERS

GROUP
MANAGEMENT REPORT

c2.22 FINANCING MIX
INEM

2%
(229)

Total debt and lease
liabilities at December 31, 2023:

12,050

(6,676)
3%
(899) 0%*
(23)

. Commercial paper program

. Other

Schuldschein loans

. Bonds

. *Accounts Receivable Facility . Lease liabilities’

" Includes lease liabilities with related and unrelated parties
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In our long-term capital management, we focus primarily on
the net leverage ratio, a non-IFRS measure (see section
“Performance management system” in the chapter “Overview
of the Group”). Our self-set target for the net leverage ratio is
3.0-3.5x, which management considers appropriate for the
Company. TABLE 2.23 shows the reconciliation of net debt and
adjusted EBITDA and the calculation of the net leverage ratio
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

T2.23 RECONCILIATION OF ADJUSTED EBITDA AND NET
LEVERAGE RATIO TO THE MOST DIRECTLY COMPARABLE
IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS FINANCIAL MEASURE
IN € M, EXCEPT FOR NET LEVERAGE RATIO

December 31, December 31,

2023 2022
Debt and lease liabilities’ 12,187 13,192
Minus: Cash and
cash equivalents? (02) (1.274)
NET DEBT 10,760 11,918
Net income 732 895
Income tax expense 301 325
Interest income (88) (68)
Interest expense 424 360
Depreciation and amortization 1,613 1,718
Adjustments® 409 320
ADJUSTED EBITDA 3,391 3,550
NET LEVERAGE RATIO 3.2 3.4

" Debt includes the following balance sheet line items: short-term debt, current portion of long-term
debt and long-term debt, less current portion as well as debt and lease liabilities included within
liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale.

2 Includes cash and cash equivalents included within assets held for sale (see NOTE 4 of the notes
to the consolidated financial statements).

2 Acquisitions and divestitures made for the last twelve months with a purchase price above a €50 M
threshold as defined in the Syndicated Credit Facility (2023: -€35 M; 2022: -€22 M), non-cash
charges, primarily related to pension expense (2023: €56 M; 2022: €54 M), impairment loss (2023:
€139 M; 2022: €120 M) and special items, including costs related to the FME25 Program (2023:
€106 M; 2022: €155 M), Legal Form Conversion Costs (2023: €30 M), Legacy Portfolio Optimiza-
tion (2023: €128 M), Humacyte Investment Remeasurement (2023: -€15 M; 2022: €103 M), Net
Gain Related to InterWell Health (2022: -€114 M), Hyperinflation in Turkiye (2022: €5 M) and the
Impacts Related to the War in Ukraine (2022: €19 M).
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The key financial risks we are exposed to include foreign
exchange risk and interest rate risk. To manage these risks, we
enter into various hedging transactions that have been autho-
rized by the Management Board. Counterparty risks are
managed via internal credit limits, taking into account the
external credit ratings of the respective hedging counterparty.
We do not use financial instruments for trading or other specu-
lative purposes (for liquidity and financing risks, see the
section “Other risks” in the chapter “Risks and opportunities
report” as well as NOTE 26 of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements).

Fresenius SE, under a transitional service agreement,
conducts treasury services for us until the separation and
establishment of an independent treasury team has been
finalized. We have established guidelines for risk management
procedures and controls which govern the use of financial
instruments. These guidelines include a clear segregation of
duties with regards to execution on the one hand and admin-
istration, accounting and controlling on the other. For
information on our credit ratings, see NOTE 21 of the notes to
the consolidated financial statements. A rating is not a recom-
mendation to buy, sell or hold securities of the Company, and
may be subject to suspension, change or withdrawal at any
time by the assigning rating agency.

Effect of off-balance-sheet financing
instruments on our financial position, assets
and liabilities

We are not involved in off-balance-sheet transactions that have
or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future
effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition,
revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, cash
requirements or capital resources.
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Sources of liquidity

Our primary sources of liquidity are typically cash provided by
operating activities, cash provided by short-term debt (for
information regarding our short-term financing from related
parties, see NOTE 6 C) of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements), proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt
and divestitures. We require this capital primarily to finance
working capital needs, fund the FME25 Program and acquisi-
tions, operate clinics, develop free-standing renal dialysis
clinics and other health care facilities, purchase equipment for
existing or new renal dialysis clinics and production sites,
repay debt and pay dividends (see “Net cash provided by
(used in) investing activities” and “Net cash provided by (used
in) financing activities” below) and to satisfy put option obliga-
tions to holders of minority interests in our majority-owned
subsidiaries.

As of December 31, 2023, our available borrowing capacity
under unutilized credit facilities amounted to approximately
€3.3 BN, including €2.0 BN under the Syndicated Credit
Facility, which we maintain as a backup for general corporate
purposes (see NOTE 17 of the notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements).

At December 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of
€1,403 M (December 31, 2022: €1,274 M).

Free cash flow (Net cash provided by (used in) operating activ-
ities, after capital expenditures, before acquisitions and
investments) is a Non-IFRS Measure and is reconciled to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities, the most
directly comparable IFRS Accounting Standards measure (see
the section “Performance management system” in the chapter
“Overview of the Group”).

TABLE 2.24 shows the cash flow performance indicators for
2023 and 2022 and reconciles free cash flow and free cash
flow in percent of revenue to Net cash provided by (used in)
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T2.24 CASH FLOW MEASURES
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

2023 2022
Revenue 19,454 19,398
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities 2,629 2,167
Capital expenditures (685) (724)
Proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment 16 37
Capital expenditures, net (669) (687)
Free cash flow 1,960 1,480
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities in % of
revenue 13.5 11.2
Free cash flow in % of revenue 10.1 7.6

operating activities and Net cash provided by (used in) oper-
ating activities in percent of revenue, respectively.

Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities is impacted
by the profitability of our business, the development of our
working capital, principally inventories, receivables and cash
outflows that occur due to a number of specific items as
discussed below. The increase in net cash provided by oper-
ating activities in 2023 was mainly driven by the absence
during 2023 of CMS’s 2022 recoupment of advanced
payments, received under the Medicare Accelerated and
Advance Payment Program in 2020, the Tricare Settlement
and an increase in certain working capital items, partially
offset by additional U.S. HHS funding for health care providers
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic received in 2022.
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The profitability of our business depends significantly on reim-
bursement rates for our services. Approximately 79% of our
revenue in 2023 was generated by providing health care
services, a major portion of which is reimbursed by either
public health care organizations or private insurers. In 2023,
approximately 25% of our consolidated revenue was attribut-
able to reimbursements from U.S. federal health care benefit
programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. Legislative
changes could affect Medicare reimbursement rates for a
significant portion of the services we provide as well as the
scope of Medicare coverage. A decrease in reimbursement
rates or the scope of coverage could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position and results of opera-
tions and thus on our capacity to generate cash flow. See the
above section “Macroeconomic and sector-specific environ-
ment” in this chapter.

In recent years, the stability of reimbursement in the U.S. has
been affected by (i) the implementation of the ESRD PPS in
January 2011, (ii) across-the-board spending cuts in payments
to Medicare providers by the U.S. federal government,
commonly referred to as “U.S. Sequestration” (temporarily
suspended from May 1, 2020 through March 31, 2022 - a 1%
reduction became effective from April 1 to June 30, 2022 and
the full 2% sequester resumed on July 1, 2022), and (jii) the
reduction to the ESRD PPS rate to account for the decline in
utilization of certain drugs and biologicals associated with
dialysis pursuant to the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012,
as subsequently modified under the Protecting Access to
Medicare Act of 2014.

We intend to continue to address our current cash and
financing requirements using net cash provided by operating
activities, issuances under our commercial paper program
(see NOTE 16 of the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments) as well as from the use of our Accounts Receivable
Facility and our bilateral credit lines. The Company and
Fresenius SE terminated the €600 M uncommitted revolving
credit facility upon the Conversion. We expect that we will
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have adequate sources of financing available to us notwith-
standing the termination of this facility under the
aforementioned facilities and instruments. Our Syndicated
Credit Facility is also available for backup financing needs. In
addition, to finance acquisitions or meet other needs, we
expect to utilize long-term financing arrangements, such as
the issuance of bonds (see “Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities,” below).

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities depends on
the collection of accounts receivable. Commercial customers
and government institutions generally have different payment
cycles. Lengthening their payment cycles could have a mate-
rial adverse effect on our capacity to generate cash flow. In
addition, we could face difficulties enforcing and collecting
accounts receivable under the legal systems of and due to the
economic conditions in some countries. Accounts receivable
balances, net of expected credit losses, represented Days
Sales Outstanding (DSO) of 67 days at December 31, 2023, a
decrease as compared to 68 days at December 31, 2022.

DSO by segment is calculated by dividing the respective
segment’s accounts and other receivables from unrelated
parties (including receivables related to assets held for sale)
less contract liabilities, converted to euro using the average
exchange rate for the period presented, less any sales or
value-added tax included in the receivables, by the average
daily sales for the last twelve months of that segment,
converted to euro using the average exchange rate for the
period. Receivables and revenues are adjusted for amounts
related to acquisitions and divestitures made within the
reporting period with a purchase price above a €50 M
threshold, consistent with the respective adjustments in the
determination of adjusted EBITDA (see section “Performance
management system” in the chapter “Overview of the Group”).
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T2.25 DEVELOPMENT OF DAYS SALES OUTSTANDING

IN DAYS
December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 Explanation of movement
Positively impacted by Legacy Portfolio Optimization
Care Delivery 59 60 divestitures
Care Enablement 97 100  Improvement of payment collections in certain regions
FME AG AVERAGE DAYS SALES
OUTSTANDING 67 68

T2.26 CASH FLOWS RELATING TO INVESTING ACTIVITIES

IN€EM

Acquisitions, investments, purchases
Capital expenditures, net, including of intangible assets and investments Proceeds from divestitures and the
capitalized development costs in debt securities’ sale of debt securities
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Care Delivery 330 375 55) 57 195 47
Care Enablement 339 312 82 108 67 71
TOTAL 669 687 137 165 262 118

" Acquisitions in the Care Delivery segment are net of cash acquired in the InterWell Health business combination. See NOTE 3 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The development of DSO by reporting segment is shown in the
TABLE 2.25.

Due to the fact that a large portion of our reimbursement is
provided by public health care organizations and private
payors, we expect that most of our accounts receivable will be
collectible.

For information regarding litigation exposure as well as
ongoing and future tax audits, see NOTE 25 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities

Net cash used in investing activities was €544 M for 2023
(2022: €735 M). TABLE 2.26 shows a breakdown of our investing
activities for 2023 and 2022.

The majority of our capital expenditures were used for capital-
ization of machines provided to our customers, maintaining
existing clinics and centers, equipping new clinics and centers,
capitalization of certain development costs, expansion of
production capacity (driven by cost improvement projects),
maintenance of production equipment and IT implementation
costs. Capital expenditures accounted for approximately 3%
of total revenue in 2023 (2022: 4%).
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Investments in 2023 were primarily comprised of purchases of
debt securities. Divestitures in 2023 mainly related to the
divestment of equity investments (including divestitures under
our Legacy Portfolio Optimization program) and debt securi-
ties. Acquisitions in 2023 related primarily to the purchase of
dialysis clinics. Additionally, purchases of intangibles in 2023
related primarily to emission rights certificates.

Investments in 2022 were primarily comprised of purchases of
debt securities and equity investments. Divestitures in 2022
mainly related to the divestment of equity investments and
debt securities. Acquisitions in 2022 related primarily to the
purchase of dialysis clinics and other health care facilities.
Additionally, purchases of intangibles in 2022 related primarily
to emission rights certificates.

In 2024, we anticipate capital expenditures around €0.8 BN
and expect to limit acquisition and investment spending, while
focusing on the organic growth of our business. Our antici-
pated capital expenditures are driven by the need to position
us well to capture growth opportunities as well as to maintain
quality levels and patient experience. Additionally, we plan
accelerated capital expenditures in new production facilities
as well as into R&D activities for a more globalized product
portfolio.

Net cash provided by (used in) financing
activities

Net cash used in financing activities was €1,859 M in 2023
(2022: €1,617 M).

In 2023, cash was mainly used in the repayment of lease liabil-
ities (including lease liabilities from related parties), the
repayment of long-term debt (including the repayment at
maturity of bonds in an aggregate principal amount of €650
M), the payment of dividends, distributions to noncontrolling
interests and the repayment of short-term debt (including

GROUP NON-FINANCIAL CORPORATE CONSOLIDATED FURTHER — Q
MANAGEMENT REPORT GROUP REPORT GOVERNANCE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INFORMATION —_—
¢ 2.27 MATURITY STRUCTURE OF OUR SIGNIFICANT LONG-TERM FINANCING INSTRUMENTS
(BASED ON NOMINAL AMOUNTS OUTSTANDING)
IN€M
2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031
2,500
2,000
1,500
1,000
500
750
362
0 23

=== Bonds USD === Bonds EUR === Syndicated Credit Facility

borrowings under our commercial paper program and short-
term debt from related parties), partially offset by proceeds
from long-term debt and short-term debt (including borrow-
ings under our commercial paper program and short-term
debt from related parties).

In 2022, cash was mainly used in the repayment of short-term
debt (including borrowings under our commercial paper
program and short-term debt from related parties), the repay-
ment of lease liabilities (including lease liabilities from related
parties), the repayment of long-term debt (including the repay-
ment at maturity of bonds in an aggregate principal amount of
$700 M (€533 M as of the date of issuance) on January 31,
2022), the payment of dividends and distributions to noncon-
trolling interests, partially offset by proceeds from long-term
debt (including proceeds from the issuance of bonds in an
aggregate principal amount of €750 M on September 20, 2022,
and the issuance of Schuldschein loans of €225 M in February

=== A/R Facility

=== Schuldschein loans Bilateral term loans

2022) and proceeds from short-term debt (including borrow-
ings under our commercial paper program and short-term
debt from related parties).

On May 22, 2023, we paid a dividend of €1.12 per share for
2022 (€1.35 per share for 2021 paid in 2022). The total dividend
payment was €329 M in 2023 (2022: €396 M).

CHART 2.27 summarizes our significant long-term financing
instruments as well as their maturity structure at December 31,
2023

For a description of our short-term debt, long-term sources of
liquidity and contractual cash flows (including interest)
resulting from recognized financial liabilities and derivative
financial instruments recorded in the consolidated balance
sheets, see NOTES 16, 17 and 26 of the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements.
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T2.28 AVAILABLE SOURCES OF LIQUIDITY
INEM
Expiration per period of
Less than
Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5years Over 5 years
Accounts Receivable Facility’ 766 766 - — —
Syndicated Credit Facility 2,000 — - 2,000 —
Other unused lines of credit 1,321 1,321 - - -
4,087 2,087 - 2,000 -

' Subject to availability of sufficient accounts receivable that meet funding criteria. At December 31, 2023, the Company had letters of credit outstanding in the amount of $28 M (€26 M), which reduces the

availability under the Accounts Receivable Facility to the amount shown in this table.

TABLE 2.28 summarizes our available sources of liquidity at
December 31, 2023.

An additional source of liquidity is our commercial paper
program, under which up to €1,500 M of short-term notes can
be issued on a flexible and continuous basis. As of December
31, 2023, we utilized €400 M and as of December 31, 2022, we
utilized €497 M of the commercial paper program.

At December 31, 2023, we had short-term debt from unrelated
parties (excluding the current portion of long-term debt) and
short-term debt from related parties in the total amount of
€457 M.

For information regarding other contractual commitments, see
NOTE 25 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Although current and future economic conditions could
adversely affect our business and our profitability, we believe
that we are well positioned to continue to operate our business
while meeting our financial obligations as they come due, and
to resume growing our business as macroeconomic condi-
tions improve and headwinds subside. Because of the
non-discretionary nature of the health care services we
provide, the need for health care products utilized to provide
such services and the availability of government reimburse-

ment for a substantial portion of our health care services, our
business is generally not cyclical. A substantial portion of our
accounts receivable is generated by governmental payors.
While payment and collection practices vary significantly
between countries and even between agencies within one
country, government payors usually represent low to moderate
credit risk. However, limited or expensive access to capital
could make it more difficult for our customers to do business
with us, or to do business generally, which could adversely
affect our business by causing our customers to reduce or
delay their purchases of our health care products (see section
“Results of operations” above in this chapter). If the conditions
in the capital markets worsen, this could increase our financing
costs and limit our financial flexibility.

At our Annual General Meeting scheduled to be held on May
16, 2024, our Supervisory Board will propose to the share-
holders a dividend of €1.19 per share for 2023, payable in 2024
(for 2022 paid in 2023: €1.12). The total expected dividend
payment is approximately €349 M compared to dividends of
€329 M for 2022 paid in 2023.

Our principal financing needs in 2024 relate to the repayment
of bonds at maturity in October 2024. The dividend payment in
May 2024, anticipated capital expenditures and, to a lesser
extent, exercises of put options as well as further acquisition
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payments are expected to be covered by our cash flow,
including the use of existing credit facilities and, if required,
additional debt financing. We have sufficient flexibility to meet
our financing needs in 2024.

Net assets

Total consolidated assets as of December 31, 2023, amounted
to €33,930 M, a decrease of €1,824 M (5%) as compared to the
prior year. In addition to a 3% negative impact resulting from
foreign currency translation, total assets decreased by 2% to
€35,095 M from €35,754 M.

Non-current assets decreased by €2,322 M (8%) to €25,229 M
and represented 74% of total assets (2022: 77%). This
decrease includes a negative effect from foreign currency
translation of 3%. Non-current assets decreased primarily due
to the shift in certain assets from non-current to current as a
result of the classification of assets held for sale as well as due
to a decrease in goodwill, intangible assets, right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment in connection with
Legacy Portfolio Optimization and the FME25 Program.

Current assets increased by 6% to €8,701 M, including a nega-
tive effect from foreign currency translation of 4%, primarily
due to the shift in certain assets from non-current to current as
a result of the classification of assets held for sale as well as
an increase in cash and cash equivalents.

Total liabilities amounted to €19,103 M at December 31, 2023
and decreased by €1,202 M (6%) from €20,305 M in 2022,
including a positive effect from foreign currency translation of
2%. This decrease was primarily driven by lower short and long-
term debt as well as a decrease in lease liabilities from unrelated
and related parties (including the current portion), partly due to
the impacts related to the Legacy Portfolio Optimization.
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Current liabilities accounted for €944 M of our debt (2022:
€1,342 M), a decrease of €398 M (30%), including a positive
effect from foreign currency translation of 2%. The decrease
was mainly due to repayment of debt, partially offset by the
reclassification of bonds denominated in U.S. dollar to the
current portion of long-term debt.

Long-term debt decreased to €6,960 M from €7,171 M in the
prior year, a decrease of €211 M (3%), including a positive
effect from foreign currency translation of 1%. Furthermore,
the decrease in long-term debt was mainly due to the reclassi-
fication of bonds denominated in U.S. dollar to the current
portion of long-term debt and a decrease in liabilities from the
accounts receivable securitization program, partially offset by
the issuance of long-term debt in an aggregate principal
amount of €400 M.

Shareholders’ equity decreased by 4% to €14,827 M, including
a negative effect from foreign currency translation of 4%, as
net income was offset by dividend payments and decreases in
other components of equity. The equity to assets ratio
increased to 44% at December 31, 2023 as compared to 43%
at December 31, 2022 primarily driven by a decrease in debt
and lease liabilities.

ROIC decreased to 2.8% at December 31, 2023 as compared
to 3.3% at December 31, 2022, due to lower operating income
and higher tax expense, both negatively affected by the
impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization. Goodwill,
included in the item “invested capital”, has a significant impact
on the calculation of ROIC. The weighted average cost of
capital (WACC), including weighted risk premiums for country
risks, was 7.6%.

For supplementary information on capital management and
our capital structure, see NOTE 21 of the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements.
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Management’s general assessment

In 2023, we delivered on our commitments while we funda-
mentally transformed Fresenius Medical Care. Exceeding our
upgraded financial outlook for the full year was the very
successful finish of an extraordinary year. We implemented
the new global operating model, progressed on our opera-
tional turnaround ambitions, changed our legal form and
advanced on the Legacy Portfolio Optimization program
through key divestments. Thanks to the commitment of our
120,000 employees, the high quality of care for our patients
remains front and center in everything we do.
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Subsequent
Events

Refer to NOTE 30 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

Outlook

The outlook describes how Fresenius
Medical Care expects to perform in
fiscal year 2024. These statements
take into account all events known at
the time the financial statements were
prepared which could affect the
development of our business in 2024.

Business policy

Fresenius Medical Care is the world’s leading provider of prod-
ucts and services for individuals with renal diseases based on
publicly reported revenue and the number of patients treated.
We aim to further expand this position in the years ahead. Our
products and health care services are at the core of our
strategy. As part of the implementation of our FME25 Program,
we have developed our new operating model with two future
global segments, Care Enablement and Care Delivery, on
January 1, 2023. To take it to the next level until 2025, we will
concentrate on three key areas: the renal care continuum, crit-
ical care solutions, and complementary assets. Aspects of the
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renal care continuum include new renal care models, value-
andrisk-based care, chronickidney disease andtransplantation,
and future innovations. Over the next few years, we will use our
competence in the critical care business to address a variety of
health challenges and continue to leverage our core competen-
cies through partnerships, investments, and acquisitions. This
approach constitutes our commitment to long-term sustain-
able development and growth.

Sector-specific environment -
dialysis market

The Company expects the number of dialysis patients world-
wide to grow by about 5% in 2024. The lower global growth
rates from 2020 compared to previous years have primarily
been attributed to the COVID-19-related excess mortality of
people with ESRD. From 2022 and 2023 onwards, a recovery
in global growth rates is observed, and we anticipate that
worldwide patient growth will be around 5% per year in the
future. Some significant regional differences are likely to
remain: The Company anticipates below average growth rates
in the U.S., Japan and Western and Central Europe. The
number of patients with chronic kidney disease is already rela-
tively high in these countries and regions and patients generally
have reliable access to treatment, normally dialysis. In
economically weaker regions we expect the growth rates
partly to be considerably higher. We expect patient numbers
to continue growing in the coming years — see TABLE 2.29
showing patient numbers in the Care Delivery segment.

Our growth strategy is based on an in-depth analysis of the
major trends affecting Fresenius Medical Care:

> Demographic factors: Demographic factors are one of the
main reasons for the continued growth of dialysis markets.
As average life expectancy rises worldwide, the share of
older people in the population is also growing. However,
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7229 EXPECTED GROWTH IN PATIENT NUMBERS

Growth 2024

u.s. ~1%
5% to 6%
~5%

International

WORLDWIDE

Source: Internal estimates.

kidney function deteriorates with age. Therefore, demo-
graphic change is an important indicator for the future num-
ber of dialysis patients, which is expected to increase from
around 4.1 M worldwide in 2023 to over 7 M in 2035.

> Increase in lifestyle diseases: Diseases such as high blood
pressure and diabetes are on the rise around the world.
They can cause damage to the entire organism and also
often impair kidney function in the long-term.

> Improved access to medical care: Thanks to ongoing efforts
to establish and expand balanced and sustainable health
care systems in many countries around the globe, a growing
number of patients are gaining access to suitable dialysis
treatments for the first time. We expect this trend to continue
and drive demand for high-quality products and treatments.

> Changes in the health care industry: The health care indus-
try is constantly changing. We believe that demand for the
holistic care of chronic patients will continue to rise. In
future, the focus when treating kidney patients will no longer
be simply on offering individual dialysis products or ser-
vices, but also on combining all fields of application related
to dialysis and coordinating them more effectively.

Hemodialysis will remain the treatment of choice, accounting
for 89% to 90% of all dialysis therapies. Peritoneal dialysis will
continue to be the preferred treatment for 10% to 11% of all
dialysis patients.

The volume of the worldwide dialysis market last year was
influenced by exchange rate effects, amongst other things,
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and amounted to about €81 BN according to preliminary esti-
mates. Going forward, we expect an increase of 2% to 3% per
year. This is based on the assumption that exchange rates will
remain stable in the forecasting period. The overall volume of
the dialysis market could thus reach around €83 BN to €84 BN
by 2024 and over €100 BN by 2030.

In addition, the reimbursement and ancillary services utilization
environment significantly influences our business. In the U.S.,
our biggest sales market, the reimbursements of governmental
institutions are lower than the reimbursements of private
insurers. Therefore, a change in the portion of reimbursements
by private insurers in the U.S. influences our business.

Key performance indicators
development of Fresenius
Medical Care in 2024

Fresenius Medical Care’s outlook for 2024 is at Constant
Exchange Rates and excludes Special Iltems. Special items
include the costs related to the FME25 Program, the impacts
from Legacy Portfolio Optimization, the Legal Form Conver-
sion Costs and the Humacyte Investment Remeasurement
and other effects that are unusual in nature and have not been
foreseeable or not foreseeable in size or impact at the time of
providing the outlook. These targets are based on the following
assumptions:

> U.S. same market treatment growth of around +0.5% to
+2%.

> Business growth of €400 M to €500 M.

> Incremental sustainable FME25 savings of €100 M to €150
M with related one-time costs of €100 M to €150 M.

> Higher labor costs of €150 M to €200 M, mainly in Care
Delivery.

> Cost inflation of €100 M to €150 M, in both, Care Enable-
ment and Care Delivery.
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> Currency transaction loss of around €50 M, mainly in Care
Enablement.

The growth rates are based on the results in 2023 excluding
Special ltems, such as the costs related to the FME25 Program,
the impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization, the Legal
Form Conversion Costs and the Humacyte Investment Remea-
surement. Additionally, the results 2023 were adjusted for the
Tricare Settlement and for the divestitures of the Argentinian
business and NCP. For a reconciliation of the results 2023 to
the adjusted results 2023 as a basis for the targets 2024, see
the table at the end of this chapter.

Revenue and revenue growth

We expect revenue to increase at a low- to mid-single digit
percentage rate at Constant Exchange Rates in 2024. This
development is based on revenue in 2023, adjusted for the
Tricare Settlement and for the divestitures of the Argentinian
business and NCP.
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Operating income

We expect operating income to increase at a mid- to high-
teens percentage rate at Constant Exchange Rates in 2024.
This development is based on operating income in 2023
excluding Special ltems. In addition, operating income was
adjusted for the Tricare Settlement and for the divestitures of
the Argentinian business and NCP.

Dividend policy
In accordance with the dividend policy, the distribution of divi-
dends is based on the Company's earnings performance

excluding Special ltems.

The expected developments might be influenced by develop-
ments described in the risks and opportunities report.

Our outlook for the financial year 2024 is summarized in
TABLE 2.30.

T2.30 OUTLOOK PRIMARY KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2024

Results 2023 Outlook 2024 (at Constant Currency)
Revenue' €19,049 M low- to mid-single digit percentage rate growth
Operating income'’ €1,540 M mid- to high-teens percentage rate growth

" Outlook 2024 is based on the assumptions outlined above and excludes Special Items. Special items include the costs related to the FME25 Program, the impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization, the
Legal Form Conversion Costs and the Humacyte Investment Remeasurement and other effects that are unusual in nature and have not been foreseeable or not foreseeable in size or impact at the time of
providing the outlook. The growth rates are based on the results in 2023 excluding the costs related to the FME25 Program, the impacts from Legacy Portfolio Optimization, the Legal Form Conversion
Costs and the Humacyte Investment Remeasurement. Additionally, the results 2023 were adjusted for the Tricare Settlement and for the divestitures of the Argentinian business and NCP. For a reconciliation
of results 2023 to the adjusted results 2023 as a basis for targets 2024, see the following table. For further information on Constant Currency, see section “Performance management system” in the chapter
“Overview of the Group”.
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T2.31 RECONCILIATION OF RESULTS 2023 TO THE ADJUSTED RESULTS 2023 EXCLUDING SPECIAL ITEMS AS A BASIS FOR TARGETS 2024

INEM
Special Items
Humacyte
Legacy Portfolio Legal Form Investment Results 2023 Tricare Adjusted
Results 2023 FME25 Program Optimization Conversion Costs Remeasurement excl. Special ltems Settlement Divestitures’ results 2023
Revenue 19,454 — — — — 19,454 (191) (214) 19,049
Operating income 1,369 1563 204 30 (15) 1,741 (181) (20) 1,540

" Includes the divestitures of the Argentinian business and NCP.

FME25: Transforming our global
operating model to strengthen
profitability

As part of the FME25 Program launched in 2021, effective as
of January 1, 2023, we commenced reporting reflecting our
new global operating model in which we reorganized our busi-
ness into two global operating, and reportable, segments: the
Care Enablement segment and the Care Delivery segment.
They are supported by the Global Medical Office and the
Global and Administrative Functions. This globally more
streamlined approach allows us to create synergies across the
entire organization and unleash our full performance potential.

The Company has made significant progress in the FME25
transformation and the program is fully on track. We increased
the savings target from €500M to €650 M by 2025 and we
intend to invest up to equal amount in the same period. By the
end of 2023, we exceeded the program’s target of savings to
contribute €250 M to €300 M to operating income for 2023
with recurring savings of €346 M. Moreover, Fresenius Medical
Care keeps working on measures that further support margin
improvement. By 2025, our target is to achieve an improved
operating income margin excluding Special Items ranging
from 10% to 14%.

In 2024, our focus will be on continuing and further acceler-
ating our key transformation initiatives across all business
segments as planned.

Management’s general
assessment

Based on the turnaround progress achieved in 2023, we have
a strong foundation to build on to make 2024 a year of accel-
erated profitable growth while progressing towards our
ambitious mid-term margin target.
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Risks and
Opportunities
Report

As a company with global operations,
we are naturally exposed to risks
associated with our business activi-
ties. Ultimately, we can leverage
opportunities for our business only if
we are willing to take certain risks.
Based on our many years of experi-
ence and our extensive knowledge of
the markets, we are able to identify
and assess risks and opportunities for
our business.

Risk and opportunity
management

We see risk management as the ongoing task of determining,
analyzing and evaluating the spectrum of actual and potential
risks arising from our business operations in our environment
and, where possible, taking pre-emptive and corrective
measures. Our risk management system provides us with a
basis for these activities. It enables management to identify
risks that could jeopardize our growth or going concern and to
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take steps to minimize any negative impact. Accordingly, it is
an important component of our management and governance.

In addition, we ensure our long-term success by actively
managing opportunities. The aim here is to identify and assess
opportunities as early as possible and initiate appropriate
measures so that opportunities can be turned into business
success for Fresenius Medical Care. Long-term and mid-term
opportunities are taken into account in our strategy and budget
planning. We exploit opportunities that can be implemented at
short notice as part of ongoing business operations, provided
this is meaningful and in line with our business targets.

Main features of the Risk
management and Internal
control system

Risk management system

The main objective of the risk management system is to iden-
tify potential risks as early as possible to assess their impact
on business activities and enable us, where necessary, to take
appropriate countermeasures. Due to constantly changing
external as well as internal requirements and conditions, our
risk management system is continuously evolving. In the past
fiscal year, the organization and processes of our risk manage-
ment system were adapted to the new global operating model.
In addition, risks that could have a negative impact on ESG
(environmental, social and governance) aspects were inte-
grated more deeply, including an integrated reporting to the
management.

The organizational structure of our risk management as well as
the described processes are shown in CHART 2.32 on page 70.
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The structure of the internal risk management system is
based on the internationally recognized framework for
company-wide risk management, the “Enterprise Risk
Management — Integrated Framework” of the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). Opportunities are not covered by the implemented
risk management system.

As part of the risk management system, segment, Global
Medical Office and functional risk coordinators, utilizing risk
management software, assume the task of coordinating risk
management activities within our operating segments, in
particular for risk identification and assessment with individual
risk owners by means of, among other things, workshops,
interviews and queries. These activities relate to existing and
potential emerging short-term as well as mid-term risks.
Semi-annually, identified risk information is processed by the
risk coordinators, reviewed by the respective functional,
Global Medical Office and segment managers and discussed
in segment and Global Medical Office risk committees. Subse-
quently, the central risk management function gathers the
risks and risk responses from segments, Global Medical
Office and functions, analyses and discusses them in the
corporate risk committee and communicates the compiled
results to the Management Board. The analysis of the risk also
includes determining the degree of a potential threat to the
company’s going concern by aggregating all risks with the aid
of a software-supported risk simulation.

The Management Board and central risk management are
promptly informed of new risks that are estimated to be high or
develop into high risks in order to ensure appropriate
responses (Information regarding the classification of risks as
high, medium and low can be derived from the risk matrix
depicted in the section “Risks” in this chapter). The effective-
ness of the risk management system is monitored by the Audit
Committee of the Supervisory Board.
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c2.32 RISKS REPORTING

Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board

Management Board

Corporate Risk Committee

i

Corporate Risk Management

Risk management segments

Risk Committee Risk Committee

Care
Enablement

Care
Delivery

In addition to risk reporting, standard reporting to manage-
ment is an important tool for managing and controlling risks,
as well as for taking preventive measures in a timely manner.
Therefore, our Management Board is informed on a monthly
basis about the industry situation, our operating and non-op-
erating business, and the outcome of analyses of our earnings
and financial position, as well as of the assets position on a
quarterly basis.

The Global Internal Audit department is regularly informed
about the results of the risk management system. This depart-

Risk Committee

General and
Administrative Functions

Global Medical
Office

ment determines risk focus areas and audits a selected
number of our departments, subsidiaries and information
technology (IT) applications worldwide each year. Determined
risk focus areas are audited across all business segments. The
department works according to the internationally accepted
standards of the Institute of Internal Auditors, which was
confirmed by a quality assessment in 2022. The next quality
assessment is planned for 2027. The scope of internal auditing
is widespread and involves, among other activities, periodic
assessment of the effectiveness of controls (including legal
compliance controls) over business processes, IT security, the
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reliability of financial reporting and compliance with accounting
regulations and internal policies. Since 2021, Global Internal
Audit is also conducting third-party audits of selected sales
intermediaries in order to give assurance that business trans-
actions with Fresenius Medical Care products are in
accordance with applicable compliance standards. Our loca-
tions and units to be audited are determined annually on the
basis of a selection model taking various risks into consider-
ation. This annual audit plan is reviewed and approved by the
Management Board and the Audit Committee of the Supervi-
sory Board. All audit reports with material observations are
presented to the Management Board. The Global Internal
Audit department is also responsible for monitoring the imple-
mentation of measures mitigating identified deficiencies. The
Management Board is informed about the mitigation status on
a quarterly basis. The Audit Committee of the Supervisory
Board is also informed of the audit results. In 2023, a total of
22 audits and 15 sales intermediary audits were carried out.
Risk focus areas were compliance, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act (FCPA), governance and ESG.

Nevertheless, it is important to note that a functioning and
adequate risk management system cannot guarantee that all
risks are fully identified and controlled.

Internal control system’

Our internal control system aims on mitigating risks within
various business processes by efficient and effective control
mechanisms to ensure that business processes are reliable
and that the related objectives are being met. The scope of our
internal control system is not only limited to financial reporting
processes to ensure that also compliance-related risks and
operational business risks are being addressed by appropriate
internal controls.

" The disclosures in this paragraph are so-called non-management report disclosures.
Therefore, these are unaudited.
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Our internal control system is oriented on the requirements of
the internationally recognized “Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013)” that has been published by COSO. The
internal control system is divided into five components: control
environment, risk assessment, control activities, information
and communication, as well as the monitoring of the internal
control system. Each of these components is regularly docu-
mented and assessed.

The ultimate responsibility for the implementation of an
adequate and effective internal control system lies with the
Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care. The Manage-
ment Board has instructed several functions within Fresenius
Medical Care to take care of the implementation of an internal
control system within their area of responsibility and to apply a
global internal control governance for the respective internal
controls. Monitoring and reporting mechanisms exist to
provide updates regarding the status of the internal control
system towards the Management Board as well as the Audit
Committee of the Supervisory Board. On top of that internal
controls are also subject to audit activities by the Global
Internal Audit department, which communicates audit results
to the respective audit subjects (for example country organiza-
tions, global functions) and to the Management Board of
Fresenius Medical Care.

Depending on the risks within the business processes and the
underlying process design, controls vary in terms of their
design and control requirements. Control issues identified via
control testing activities may also require adaptions of the
underlying controls. Controls within finance and finance related
processes look different from compliance controls or controls
within operational business processes. However, a sufficient
risk mitigation is always the primary focus for all our controls
that we have across our organization. Typical control types
(non-exhaustive listing is provided here) that are in use within
Fresenius Medical Care are related to preventive approvals of
business transactions, detective management reviews, organi-
zational control measures (for example segregation of duties),
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IT related control procedures (for example system back-ups or
user access review) or quality/safety checks within operational
business processes (for example within our production facili-
ties or our clinics). Besides the before mentioned control
activities, Fresenius Medical Care currently has internal
controls in place with respect to sustainability-related objec-
tives. They include the measurement of the target achievement
of the Management Board members with respect to their short-
term incentive compensation. In the reporting year these
referred to KPIs related to patient satisfaction and employee
engagement, as well as quality criteria defined for the Portfolio
Sustainability Assessment. Control requirements include the
definition of data provider and data validator roles, as well as
the documentation of control procedures. In 2023 the sustain-
ability related internal control system has been further
strengthened by integrating material sustainability KPIs related
to climate reporting and patient satisfaction. We have set up
relevant processes for collecting and testing sustainability-re-
lated data controls.

Our internal control system is subject to constant change and
improvement to reflect changes within our organization, our
business processes and also the external environment that we
are operating in.

Similar to our risk management system there are inherent
limitations to our internal control system, meaning that there is
no absolute guarantee that all risks within the various business
processes are 100% effectively mitigated and that respective
objectives will be fully met.

Fresenius Medical Care has implemented several monitoring
and reporting mechanisms to update the Management Board
and the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board about the
status of its risk management system and internal control
system. Based on this the Management Board has no indication
that the risk management system and internal control system
were not appropriate or not effective as of December 31, 2023.
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Internal control system over financial
reporting

Our internal control system over financial reporting is designed
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s
financial statements for external reporting purposes in accor-
dance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB
and endorsed by the EU Commission. Our internal reporting
process is designed for the reliable recording, processing and
control of financial data and key figures. Figures and data are
compared and discussed regularly on a monthly and quarterly
basis with the previous year’s values, budget targets and the
latest projections. In addition, the Management Board and the
departments responsible for preparing the consolidated finan-
cial statements discuss all parameters, assumptions and
estimates that substantially affect the externally reported
consolidated and segment results. The Audit Committee of
the Supervisory Board also reviews current quarterly results
and compares them with budgets and projections.

The internal control system contains guidelines and instruc-
tions designed for the appropriate and accurate recording and
presentation of Company transactions.

Further control mechanisms aimed at achieving reliable finan-
cial reporting and correct recording of transactions within the
accounting and the consolidation process include automated
and manual reconciliations, as well as the separation of certain
personnel functions to prevent potential conflicts of interest.
Furthermore, several preventive approval steps as well as
detective plausibility checks are in place in various core
finance and finance-related processes to ensure correct finan-
cial reporting. All process owners identify and assess the risks
of their respective processes in terms of the implications for
accounting and financial reporting. These process owners
also determine that corresponding controls are in place to
minimize these risks. Changes to accounting standards are
discussed on an ongoing basis and considered in the prepara-
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tion of the financial statements. Employees responsible for
financial reporting are provided with regular training regarding
changes in accounting standards. The consolidation is
performed by a central department. The basis for the consoli-
dation is derived from reporting packages and sub-group
consolidated financial statements prepared and submitted by
local group entities. The preparation of reporting packages
and sub-group consolidated financial statements is performed
according to central requirements and guidelines.

As we are also listed on the New York Stock Exchange, it is
required to adhere to the requirements of the U.S. Sarbanes-
Oxley Act (SOX). Section 404 of this federal law stipulates that
management of companies listed in the U.S. are responsible
for implementing and adhering to an effective internal control
system to produce reliable financial reporting. A yearly scoping
takes place to determine entities, processes and controls
which are subject to SOX requirements. The design and oper-
ating effectiveness of the internal control system over financial
reporting are routinely tested and considered in regular
internal audits. Control testing results are being regularly
discussed with the respective stakeholders and remediation
of control deficiencies is monitored. These criteria are also
included in the annual audit by our independent registered
public accounting firm. A quarterly certification process has
been implemented as a formal accountability and responsi-
bility mechanism for countries, segments, shared services
centers as well as corporate entities which aims at the accu-
racy of financial reporting and the associated disclosure
controls and procedures.

Our review of the internal control system over financial
reporting complies with a specific U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) guideline (Guidance Regarding
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting) and is conducted with software support. Initially,
regional internal control teams coordinate the assessment of
the controls in each country, after which the results are
consolidated for the whole Group. Based upon this assess-
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ment, management evaluates the effectiveness of the internal
control system for the current fiscal year. External advisers
are consulted as needed. A corporate steering committee
meets several times a year to review regulatory develop-
ments and changes of relevant internal control requirements,
to discuss possible control deficiencies, and derive further
measures. In addition, in its meetings, the Audit Committee
of the Supervisory Board is informed regularly of the results
of management’s assessment.

As of December 31, 2023, management assessed our internal
control system over financial reporting and determined that
our internal control over financial reporting is effective.

Internal control systems over financial reporting are subject to
inherent limitations, irrespective of how carefully these
systems are designed. As a result, there is no absolute assur-
ance that financial reporting objectives can be met, nor that
misstatements will always be prevented or detected.

Compliance Management System?

We have a global compliance program that consists of key
pillars of prevention, detection and correction to ensure we
operate our business in accordance with the law and internal
guidelines.

We prevent compliance violations through written policies and
procedures, engagement of compliance officers across our
organization and ongoing compliance trainings. We detect
compliance issues through open lines of communication,
investigations, as well as ongoing monitoring and reviews. We
ensure appropriate corrective action, when necessary, through
disciplinary committees.

2 The disclosures in this paragraph are so-called non-management report disclosures. Therefore,
these are unaudited.
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Compliance controls, such as third-party due diligence,
vendor and customer transaction monitoring as well as invoice
reviews are key to preventing and detecting compliance issues
and are embedded throughout our organization.

All employees follow a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct
that covers key areas including patient care, product and
service quality, anti-corruption and anti-bribery, health and
safety, data privacy, supplier conduct, and human rights. Our
compliance program has systems and processes in place to
continually monitor and evaluate compliance risks, identify
non-compliance risks early, and mitigate and correct breaches.
Each business routinely conducts risks assessments to create
transparency and work plans to ensure continued compliance.
The results of the compliance risk assessments are also
reflected in our enterprise risk management system.

Oversight of our compliance program is monitored and key
findings are reviewed by our Management Board and the Audit
Committee of the Supervisory Board. In addition, Compliance
Officers report regularly to respective business partners and
the Chief Compliance Officer to the Management Board.
Finally, regular “continuous improvement” meetings are held
between Compliance and business lines and other global
functions to ensure collaboration and transparency regarding
compliance issues.

We are continuously adapting and aiming to improve our
compliance program and processes.

Risks

The following section describes significant risks which could
have an impact on our business operations. In the course of
the risk assessment an estimation of the risks takes place
regarding the likelihood of occurrence and the potential impact
in the respective assessment period, allowing a prioritization
of the risks into the classifications low, medium and high.
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c2.33 RISKS WITH POTENTIAL SHORT-TERM EFFECT (ONE YEAR) AND MID-TERM EFFECT (BETWEEN ONE AND FIVE YEARS)
Risks with potential short-term effect (one year)? Risks with potential mid-term effect (between one and five years)?
medium severe medium severe
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Risk Area
1 Regulatory environment 13 Personnel
2 Quality 14 Corruption and Fraud
3 U.S. federal health care programs 15 Information systems and business processes
4 Composition of our customer base 16 Liquidity and financing
5 Reimbursement by private insurers 17 Currencies and interests
6 Health care reforms 18 Litigation and potential exposures
7 Growth 19 Taxes
8 Competitors 20 Global operations
9 Research and development 21 Unpredictable events
10 Intellectual Property 22 Global economic conditions and disruptions in financial markets
11 Referral practices 23 COVID-19
12 Procurement 24 ESG requirements

e [OW risk

= medium risk = high risk

! Likelihood: unlikely: 0 to 10 %, possible: > 10 to 50 %, likely: > 50 to 90 %, almost certain: > 90 to 100 %.
2 Potential impact: low: small negative impact, medium: moderate negative impact, major: significant negative impact,
severe: material negative impact.
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Besides quantitative factors, qualitative factors are also
applied when assessing the potential impact of a risk. For the
identification of strategic developments, besides the short-
term consideration (one year), risks can also be assessed in
terms of a mid-term effect within five years.

The scales for classification of potential impact and likelihood
as well as the localization of the risks within the risk matrix are
depicted in CHART 2.33.

In detail our risk situation is as follows:

The above depicted risk areas as well as mitigating measures
within these areas are described in the following section.

Sector-specific risks
Regulatory environment, product quality

Our operations in both health care services business and
products business are subject to extensive governmental
regulation in virtually every country in which we operate. We
are also subject to other laws of general applicability, including
anti-trust laws. The applicable regulations, which differ from
country to country, cover areas that include:

> the quality, safety and efficacy of medical and pharmaceuti-
cal products and supplies;

> regulatory approvals and oversight of clinical and certain
non-clinical R&D activities;

> product approvals and regulatory approvals for new prod-
ucts or product improvements;

> the operation and licensure of manufacturing facilities, lab-
oratories, dialysis clinics, ambulatory surgery centers and
other health care facilities;

> audits and reviews by enforcement authorities, including the
Food and Drug Administration (FDA), for compliance with
applicable drug regulations;
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> product labeling, advertising and other promotion;

> accurate reporting and billing for government and third-
party reimbursement including accurate and complete med-
ical records to support such billing;

> the discounting of reimbursed drug and medical device
products and the reporting of drug prices to government
authorities;

> limits on our ability to make acquisitions or certain invest-
ments and the terms of those transactions;

> the collection, dissemination, access, use, security and pri-
vacy of protected health information and other protected
data;

> compliance with due diligence, warranty obligations and
product liability rules; and

> compensation of medical directors and other financial
arrangements with physicians and other referral sources.

In addition to the risks from non-compliance with the regula-
tory environment, as a manufacturing company we face the
risk that products, as a result of unsuitable product designs or
issues in the production process, do not fulfill our standards of
quality and could lead to the possibility of not achieving
expected treatment results which may result in product recalls
that might lead to significant adverse financial results or repu-
tational damage.

If we fail to comply with one or more of these laws or regula-
tions or incur a quality incident, this may give rise to a number
of adverse legal and financial consequences. These include, in
particular, loss or suspension of governmental certifications,
loss or suspension of licenses under the laws of governmental
authority from which we generate substantial revenues, mone-
tary and administrative penalties, recall actions and claims for
damages, statutory or regulatory shipping holds, increased
costs for compliance with government orders, complete or
partial exclusion from government reimbursement programs,
refunds of payments received from government payors and
government health care program beneficiaries due to any fail-
ures to meet applicable requirements or complete or partial
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curtailment of our authority to conduct business. In the end,
these types of risks may no longer be insurable. Including the
considerable costs of legal defense, all the consequences
mentioned above could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

A number of the health care businesses in the U.S., that the
Company operates, is owned or managed by entities in which
one or more hospitals, physicians or physician practice groups
hold an interest. We also have arrangements with physician
practices to collaborate on our value and risk-based care
programs with public and private payors. While the Company
has structured its arrangements with physicians to comply
with many of the criteria for safe harbor protection and waivers
under the federal and state Anti-Kickback Statutes as well as
other state fraud and abuse laws, its arrangements do not
always satisfy all elements of such safe harbor. If one or more
of our arrangements, including value and risk-based care
programs, were found to be in violation of the Anti-Kickback
Statute, the Stark Law or analogous state laws, or other similar
laws worldwide, we could be required to restructure or termi-
nate them. We also could be required to repay to Medicare,
Medicaid as well as other federal health care program amounts
pursuant to any prohibited referrals, and we could be subject
to monetary penalties and exclusion from federal and state
health care programs. Imposition of any of these penalties
could have a material adverse impact on our business, results
of operations and financial condition.

Our implemented compliance programs reduce the risk of
legal violations by providing general and specific rules of
conduct and procedures as well as regular training of the
employees according to the relevant specifications. To ensure
that our products and services comply with the quality require-
ments, we implemented appropriate quality management
systems. The employees have access to procedures and work
instructions to ensure that the applicable quality requirements
are met. In addition, we conduct internal reviews of the produc-
tion sites and clinics to monitor compliance with quality
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standards of our products and services. Regulatory initiatives
and changes are closely monitored in order to quickly adapt to
new regulations.

U.S. federal health care programs

As stated in the report in section “Macroeconomic and
sector-specific environment” in the chapter “Economic
Report”, our dialysis clinics in the U.S. participate in the QIP
within the ESRD PPS. Payment reductions of up to 2% of
Medicare reimbursements can be made if the quality stan-
dards of the QIP are not met in the clinics. Should we fail to
meet the QIP’s minimum requirements to a greater extent, this
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Through our value and risk-based care programs, we assume
the risk of both medical and administrative costs for certain
patients in return for fixed periodic payments or potential reim-
bursement based on our achievement against set benchmark
targets from governmental and commercial insurers. We
currently participate in the CKCC model as well as in remuner-
ation agreements with insurers. (Details and detailed
descriptions of the above mentioned and other programs in
which we participate can be found in the report in section
“Macroeconomic and sector-specific environment” in the
chapter “Economic Report”).

The profitability in our value and risk-based care programs
depends in part upon our ability to negotiate favorable finan-
cial terms, to manage a patient’s care, to collaborate with our
payor partners, to coordinate with other health care providers,
to accurately document patients’ health conditions for risk
adjustment, and to find cost efficient, medically appropriate
sites of service for our patients. Any failure to do so would limit
our ability to improve the quality of patient care and health
outcomes and to reduce medically unnecessary costs, which
could lead to poorer performance under value and risk-based
care programs.
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The reserves that we establish in connection with the opera-
tion of our value and risk-based care programs as well as
estimations of the amount of revenues from health care
services that we recognize in a reporting period are based
upon assumptions and judgments concerning a number of
factors which are subject to uncertainties. Those factors
include trends in health care costs, expenses, patient hospi-
talization rates, the complicated billing and collection process,
complex and changing laws and regulations subject to inter-
pretation, determination of primary and secondary insurance
coverage and other factors. Additionally, collections, refunds
and payor retractions may continue to occur for up to three
years or longer after services are provided. To the extent the
actual claims experience is less favorable than estimated
based on our underlying assumptions, the timing and amount
of our recognition of revenues as well as future earnings could
be adversely affected or incurred losses could increase.

CMS relied on authority granted by the ACA to implement the
CKCC model and seeks to deliver better health outcomes for
ESRD patients while lowering CMS’ costs. Efforts to repeal or
replace the ACA, while unsuccessful to date, continue, which
is described in this report in the risk area regarding health care
reforms. We applied, and were accepted, for participation in
CMS’ CKCC model. The implementation period for the CKCC
model began on October 15, 2020, on a no-risk basis, and we
began participation in the first performance year of the CKCC
model on January 1, 2022, at which time each participating
entity assumed financial risk. We do not yet know whether we
and our partners will be able to deliver better health outcomes
while lowering CMS’ costs.

We cannot give any assurance that we will achieve the cost
savings required or contemplated by these programs, which
could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.
In addition, we may experience higher write-offs of Medicare
deductibles and other cost-sharing amounts due to secondary
uninsured and underinsured patients, resulting in an increase
in uncollectible accounts.
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We mitigated the impact of the ESRD PPS and the other legis-
lative initiatives referenced above with two broad measures.
First, we work with medical directors and treating physicians
to make clinical protocol changes used in treating patients
consistent with the QIP and good clinical practices, and we
negotiate pharmaceutical acquisition cost savings. In addi-
tion, we achieved greater efficiencies and better patient
outcomes by introducing new initiatives to improve patient
care upon initiation of dialysis, increase the percentage of
patients using home therapies and achieve additional cost
reductions in its clinics.

Moreover, constantly refined actuarial models are used to esti-
mate revenues and as a basis for a monitoring process that
evaluates actual experience and allows to develop interventions
for at risk patients to reduce hospitalizations and other poten-
tially avoidable medical expense, to improve quality outcomes
and to deliver reductions in total population cost of care.

Composition of our customer base

Our health care product business and our dialysis services
business differ across the regions in which we operate. In
many cases, our products and services are paid, either directly
or indirectly, by government institutions. We believe the risk of
default from a government payor is generally low to moderate
worldwide. However, particularly in the event of a government
shutdown significant payment delays could result even if it
does not create a default. On a country level, the payor base is
characterized by distinct customer or payor groups which can
range in volume from a few customers to a considerable
amount of customer types which have varying levels of risk
associated with default or non-payment of receivables as well
as risks for dependencies based upon the competition within
low volume customer base environments. In certain cases, a
resulting dependency on the payment behavior and deci-
sion-making of our business partners can affect the
collectability of accounts receivable and can adversely affect
our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Our measures aim to mitigate these risks by actively negoti-
ating fixed duration contracts with major customers,
developing new services or products and bidding with compet-
itive margins as well as improving the quality of our services
and products. In addition, outstanding receivables are closely
monitored and followed up as part of a comprehensive receiv-
ables management system.

Reimbursement by private insurers

In the U.S. a portion of the dialysis treatments is reimbursed by
private insurers and integrated care organizations; these reim-
bursements are in general higher than the reimbursements of
the public health care systems. As a result, the payments we
receive from private payors contribute a substantial portion of
our profit. In 2023, approximately 46% of our consolidated
Health Care services revenue were attributable to private payors
in the U.S. If these payors succeed in rejecting reimbursements
or lowering reimbursement rates in the U.S., change the extent
or conditions of their networks or if the portion of reimburse-
ments by private insurers in general drops, this could result in a
significant reduction in our revenue and operating profit. A
portion of our business that is currently reimbursed by private
insurers or hospitals may become reimbursed by integrated
care organizations, which may use payment methodologies
that reduce reimbursement for our services.

Furthermore, the U.S. Supreme Court’s ruling in Marietta
Memorial Hospital Employee Health Benefit Plan v. DaVita Inc.
will make it easier for health plans to design plan benefits for
Medicare eligible ESRD patients in a way that makes private
health insurance relatively less attractive to ESRD patients and
Medicare relatively more attractive. As a result, potential
efforts by employer group health plans and commercial
insurers may limit benefits, reduce reimbursement for our
services or eliminate reimbursement for some of our services.
We cannot predict whether the U.S. Congress will enact any
legislation that would reverse the potential effects of the Mari-
etta decision.
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In addition, as of January 1, 2021, for the first time, all ESRD
patients are eligible to enroll in Medicare Advantage plans. As
a result, some patients with commercial coverage, may elect
to move to Medicare Advantage plans which generally pay
less than other commercial plans.

A portion of our patients who are currently covered by private
insurers may be unable to continue to pay the premiums and
may become uninsured for dialysis services or elect to transi-
tion to government funded reimbursement programs that
reimburse us at lower rates for our services if legislative or
regulatory efforts to restrict or eliminate the charitable funding
of patient insurance premiums are successful.

In addition, the health care insurance industry is experiencing
continuing consolidation among insurers and pharmacy
benefit managers, including increasing buyer power and
impacts on referral streams. This may have an adverse impact
on our ability to negotiate favorable coverage terms and
commercially reasonable rates with such insurers.

We monitor the relationships with private health insurance
companies continuously and try to hedge the business through
long-term contracts to maintain profitability.

Health care reforms

A number of governments have been considering proposals to
modify their current health care systems to improve quality of
and access to health care and to control costs. Policymakers
in several countries are also considering reforms that could
change the methodology used to reimburse providers of
health care services. Furthermore, standards and regulations
compulsory for providing dialysis service can be subject to
extensive changes.

In fiscal year 2023, we derived approximately 25% of our
worldwide revenue from Medicare and Medicaid reimburse-
ments in the U.S. Consequently, changes in legislation,
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interpretation of government regulations by the courts or
reimbursement practices regarding for example the
End-Stage Renal Disease Prospective Payment System
(ESRD PPS), the Physician Fee Schedule, the Clinical Labora-
tory Fee Schedule, and the Ambulatory Surgical Center
Payment System could influence the volume of Medicare and
Medicaid reimbursements for services provided and the
insurance coverage. Spending cuts pursuant to U.S. seques-
tration have also adversely affected our operating results in
the past and, with the suspension during the COVID-19
pandemic having been lifted, will continue to do so. Addition-
ally, the termination of the public health emergency in the U.S.
on May 11, 2023 that was originally declared in January 2020
with respect to the COVID-19 pandemic, among other conse-
quences, could reduce Medicaid coverage for many
Americans, resulting in an increase in the uninsured patient
population including dialysis patients. State termination of
Medicaid coverage that was expanded during the public
health emergency could have an equal effect.

A decrease in reimbursement rates, covered services or
changes to standards, regulations or state funding in countries
in which the Group operates, especially significant changes in
the U.S. Medicare and Medicaid programs could reduce our
revenue and profitability and have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In this context it might happen that the annually adjusted
ESRD PPS rates may not provide fully compensating reim-
bursement for the services or products consumed during
service. This especially refers to the reimbursement of phar-
maceuticals depending on their status as outside of or as part
of the bundled rate. Pharmaceuticals included within the
bundled rate are subjected to increased reimbursement pres-
sure. If we are unable to secure appropriate reimbursement
arrangements for the pharmaceuticals we provide in our dial-
ysis clinics, we could experience a material adverse effect on
our operating results. Furthermore, an increased utilization of
bundled pharmaceuticals or decreases in reimbursement for
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pharmaceuticals outside the bundled rate may result in a
material adverse impact on our results of operations.

In the U.S., there have been efforts to pursue significant
changes to existing health care insurance programs including
efforts to repeal or replace the ACA which, while unsuccessful
to date, continue. In addition, options to restructure the Medi-
care program in the direction of a defined-contribution,
premium support model and to shift Medicaid funding to a
block grant or per capita arrangement, with greater flexibility
for the states, are also being considered.

In October 2017, the U.S. administration discontinued making
cost-sharing reduction (CSR) reimbursements to insurers,
arguing that Congress failed to appropriate funding. In
response, many state departments of insurance (DOIs) either
allowed or required insurers to mitigate their losses by
increasing the 2018 premiums on their ACA plans. Many
insurers also mitigated the impact to themselves by “silver
loading”, a practice whereby the premiums for silver-level
plans, which are the most common health care plans under
the ACA, were increased to offset the loss of CSR payments.
Silver loading may also have mitigated the impact of premium
increases to some low-income consumers by increasing their
premium tax credits. In 2019 and 2020, all states either
permitted or required silver loading. In 2017, several insurers
sued the U.S. federal government to reinstate CSR payments.
On June 21, 2021, the U.S. Supreme Court denied requests
from multiple insurers to review lower court decisions that held
they were not entitled to full unpaid CSR payments. As a result,
insurers are entitled to the unpaid CSRs, but the total amount
they are owed must be offset by any excess premium tax
credits received from premium increases for 2018 and beyond.
The Biden administration’s budget request to the Congress for
the fiscal year (FY) 2023 included appropriations for CSR
payments, although the Consolidated Appropriations Act of
2023, which will fund the federal government during FY 2023,
did not include specific CSR appropriations and we cannot
predict the extent to which silver loading will continue or how
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the ongoing litigation over the U.S. federal government’s obli-
gation to pay the CSRs might be resolved. While the Biden
administration again requested appropriations for CSR
payments in its FY 2024 budget request, the Congress has yet
to finalize any of its FY 2024 appropriations bills as of January
2024. As a result, a reduction in the availability of insurance
through insurance exchanges established by the ACA could
reduce the number of our commercially insured patients and
shift such patients to Medicare and Medicaid.

Challenges of this nature could have significant effects on our
businesses, both positive and negative, but the outcomes are
impossible to predict.

We closely monitor legislative and regulatory developments
affecting the Company’s businesses so that we are positioned
to act proactively as needed.

Risks relating to the Company’s business
Growth

The health care industry experiences continuing consolidation
particularly among health care providers, as well as pressure
on reimbursement and increasing costs, which requires us to
identify both growth opportunities and efficiencies in the way
we operate. Continuing consolidation in our industry could
adversely affect our ability to find suitable acquisition targets
and to increase future growth and product sales. We also
compete with other health care companies in seeking suitable
acquisition targets and developing our core health care busi-
nesses. Our ability to make future acquisitions as well as to
develop our core kidney care business depends, in part, on
the appropriate strategic target selection, the availability of
financial resources and the current restrictions imposed by
competition laws. The integration of acquired businesses may
cause problems, for example by assuming unknown liabilities,
underperformance subsequent to integration, associated

GROUP
MANAGEMENT REPORT

NON-FINANCIAL
GROUP REPORT

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

requirements from competition authorities or non-compliant
business practices not disclosed by the seller or not uncov-
ered during due diligence, any or all of which may result in
incurring unanticipated costs.

In order to respond to rising costs, especially in the face of
economic downturns and rising inflation, and to improve
growth, we announced the next stage in the implementation of
our strategy in November 2021: the transformation of our oper-
ating model into a significantly simplified future structure of
two global operating segments embodying a more centralized
approach (FME25 Program). The new global operating model
enables the further consolidation of general and administrative
functions in our Company.

Our strategy also includes reviewing our business portfolio,
specifically with a view to exiting unsustainable markets and
non-core businesses and the cessation of certain research
and development programs to enable more focused capital
allocation towards areas in our core business that are expected
to have higher profitable growth. For additional information
regarding the disposal groups classified as held for sale and
the impacts from strategic divestitures identified during the
review of our business portfolio, see NOTE 4 respectively
NOTE 5 F) of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Failure to realize the expected cost savings from the FME25
Program within our announced timeframe could adversely
impact the market for our securities and availability of financing,
which, in addition, could limit our future growth, including
growth in either our revenues or earnings within our health care
services and products businesses. Anticipated results from
our Legacy Portfolio Optimization are based on our current
estimates and may differ from actual results. Eventually, other
risk areas described in this report, whose direct impacts are
reflected in their respective assessments, could increase the
uncertainty regarding these estimates and assumptions. Any
or all of these factors generally could have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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For further information, see the section “Business Model” in
the chapter “Overview of the Group”, the section “FME25” in
the chapter “Outlook” and NOTE 29 of the notes to the consol-
idated financial statements.

Competitors

We face numerous competitors in both our health care services
business and dialysis products business, some of whom may
possess substantial financial, marketing or R&D resources.
Competition from new and existing competitors and especially
new competitive developments and innovations in technology,
pharmaceuticals and care delivery models could materially
adversely affect the future pricing and sale of our products
and services. In 2023, a study on one such type of pharma-
ceutical, GLP-1 receptor agonists, regarding its effectiveness
in treating CKD experienced by diabetic patients was termi-
nated early as a result of the study having met certain
prespecified clinical endpoints. Although there is only limited
available information currently, the ability to delay CKD or
ESRD progression and cardiovascular mortality improve-
ments as a result of the use of these pharmaceuticals could
have an impact on our patient population in the future (further
information regarding the impact of certain pharmaceuticals
that reduce the progression of chronic kidney disease and our
analysis of their impact on our cash flow projections and
goodwill sensitivity assessments can be found in NOTE 2 A) of
the notes to the consolidated financial statements).

In particular, technological innovation has historically been a
significant competitive factor in the dialysis products busi-
ness. The introduction of new products or services by
competitors could qualify them for certain additional payments
for new and innovative equipment or render one or more of our
products or services less competitive or even obsolete, which
could also, among other items, affect our sales and distribu-
tion of pharmaceuticals for which, to some extent, we are
obligated to make certain minimum annual royalty payments.
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To ensure our permanent competitiveness, we work closely
together with physicians and scientists. Important technolog-
ical and pharmaceutical innovations are intended to be quickly
identified and further developed, if necessary, also by adapting
our business strategy. Moreover, we secure our competitive-
ness by ongoing analyzes of our market environment as well
as the regulatory framework. The market activity, especially
our competitors’ products and newly launched dialysis-re-
lated products are thoroughly monitored. The cooperation
between the various technical, medical and academic institu-
tions within our company also ensures our competitiveness,
which is finally further enhanced by our consequent execution
of programs devoted to cost saving and efficiency increase.

Research and development

The development of new products and therapies proposes a
risk that the desired development goal will not be achieved or
achieved significantly later than planned. Costly and extensive
preclinical and clinical examinations are necessary until
admission. All products, packaging, applications and technol-
ogies are constantly and systematically monitored, tested and
improved. We address potential risks in the area of R&D by
continually analyzing, evaluating and assessing whether the
R&D projects fit into our overall strategy. As a vertically inte-
grated company, we also benefit from direct contact with our
patients and medical professionals. Due to this close prox-
imity to the market, we have the potential to gather important
information to develop and offer products and therapies that
meet the needs of our customers.

Referral practices

In providing services within our health care business, we
depend upon patients choosing our health care facilities as
the location for their care. Patients may select a facility based,
in whole or in part, on the recommendation of their physician.
Physicians and other clinicians typically consider a number of
factors when recommending a particular dialysis facility, dial-
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ysis home program, pharmacy, physician practice, vascular
surgery center or cardiac catheterization center to an ESRD
patient, including, the quality of care, the competency of staff,
convenient scheduling, location and physical condition. Physi-
cians may change their recommendations, which may result in
the movement of new or existing patients to competing facili-
ties, including facilities established by the physicians
themselves. At most of our dialysis clinics and home programs,
a relatively small number of physicians often account for the
referral of all or a significant portion of the patient base. We
have no ability to control these recommendations and refer-
rals. If a significant number of physicians or other referral
sources cease referring their patients to our facilities and
home programs or stop purchasing or prescribing our dialysis
products, this would reduce our health care revenue and could
materially adversely affect our overall operations.

Intellectual property

One of the typical intellectual property risks faced by us is
inadequate protection of sensitive knowledge in the form of
patents for technologies and products we developed. This
means that competitors could copy our products without
incurring comparable development costs. Moreover, a loss of
sensitive knowledge could occur due to industrial spying or
insufficient employee-non-compete restrictions. In addition,
certain countries in which we market, manufacture or sell our
products do not have laws which protect our intellectual prop-
erty to the same degree as those in the U.S. or elsewhere and
our competitors may gain market position by designing prod-
ucts that infringe upon our intellectual property rights. An
inadequate protection of our intellectual property could have
an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of
operations.

In addition, we could infringe the patent of a competitor and
thus be liable for damages; this could result in a ban on us
further selling the affected product.
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We mitigate the risks of inadequate protection of sensitive
knowledge by, among other things, stipulating employee-com-
pete-restrictions, where necessary, and by reviewing and
controlling access to certain information and areas within the
company. To avoid infringing patents of competitors standard-
ized monitoring and assessment processes are in place.

Procurement

Our business is dependent on the reliable supply of several
raw materials and finished components for production and
service purposes. If we are unable to obtain sufficient quanti-
ties of these materials at times of limited availability of such
materials, this could result in delays in production or loss of
sales and hence have an adverse effect on our results of oper-
ations. The Ukraine War has increased both the likelihood and
potential impact of these risks and exposures to varying
degrees. In particular, the lingering macroeconomic infla-
tionary environment, including material increases in energy
prices, has resulted in and could continue to lead to, among
other consequences, material increases in costs for energy,
supplies and transportation. Our implemented countermea-
sures may not offset a significant increase in prices which
could result in an adverse effect on our results of operations
going forward. A continued disruption or discontinuation of
energy supplies, for example from Russia, may increase these
impacts and could have additional material adverse effects on
our business such as a potential closure of certain of our
production sites or significantly increased costs incurred due
to a switch to alternative energy sources. These disruptions in
supply, coupled with labor shortages, labor cost increases
and heightened COVID-19-related employee absenteeism and
turnover, have resulted and could continue to result in a nega-
tive impact on our business which may also expose us to legal
liability in the delivery of our goods and services. Similarly,
price increases by suppliers (including inflation impacts) and
the inability to access new products or technology could also
adversely affect our results of operations. In certain necessary
cases products are obtained from a sole supplier. A failure of
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such a supplier could adversely affect our ability to manufac-
ture, distribute or sell our products in a timely or cost-effective
manner. Due to the stringent regulations and requirements of
regulatory agencies we may not be able to quickly establish
additional or replacement sources.

We address potential risks in the area of Procurement by
ensuring, where reasonably practicable, that we have contrac-
tually fixed prices and at least two sources for all supply and
price-critical primary products (dual sourcing, multiple
sourcing). Furthermore, we seek to mitigate disruptive goods
shortages, if reasonable, by stockpiling and placing fixed
orders as well as, where needed, with the help of additional
task forces or our Regional Crisis Response Teams. Through
our cost monitoring and cost savings guidelines we addition-
ally aim at mitigating potential price increases.

Personnel

Our continued growth in the health care business will depend
upon the ability to attract and retain a skilled workforce,
including highly skilled nurses, technicians and other medical
personnel. We have seen unprecedented challenges in the
labor market, in particular in the U.S., which continue to impact
our growth, specifically in U.S. health care services where
labor constraints have affected our ability to increase treat-
ment volumes. Our health care products business depends on
the development of new products, technologies and treatment
concepts to be competitive, and for that we need to attract the
best and most talented people, especially in R&D. Competi-
tion for those employees is intense and shortages for these
sought-after employees, such as nurses or skilled engineers
and R&D personnel as well as increased reliance on contracted
nurses and other personnel, have increased our personnel
and recruiting costs and may continue to do so and/or could
impair our reputation for production of technologically
advanced products. Greater employee absenteeism, turnover
and longer recruiting cycles in recent years further contributed
and may continue to contribute to the experienced shortages
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in personnel as well as the increased personnel costs. More-
over, we consider that future success in the provider business
depends on the ability to attract and retain qualified physi-
cians to serve as employees of or consultants to our health
care services businesses. In addition, effective execution of
our strategy will depend upon our ability to attract suitable
candidates for leadership roles, including open positions in
our executive leadership team.

Additionally, in recruiting, employing and retaining personnel
we may be exposed to increasing risks relating to various labor
and staffing laws, legislative, union or other labor-related
activities or changes. These factors could also impact the inte-
gration of acquired companies into our operations, which
could increase our costs, decrease our productivity and
prevent us from realizing synergies from acquisitions. If we are
unable to manage the risks mentioned, then our growth and
results of operations could be adversely impacted.

We address potential risks in the area of Personnel by further
developing our recruiting and retention strategies incl. the
design of the overall package of compensation, benefits and
employee experience, by continuing our training and develop-
ment measures for employees and by having an adequate
succession planning in place.

Corruption and fraud

We operate many facilities and engage with other business
associates to help us carry out our health care activities. In
such widespread, global operations, it is difficult to maintain
the desired level of oversight and control over the thousands of
persons employed by many affiliated companies and its busi-
ness associates. Training, oversight and compliance programs
cannot ensure protection from deliberate, reckless or inadver-
tent acts of employees or third-party intermediaries that violate
our compliance policies or anti-corruption laws. Such viola-
tions could disrupt our business and result in a material adverse
effect on results of operations or financial condition.
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On March 29, 2019, we entered into a non-prosecution agree-
ment (NPA) with the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) and a
separate agreement with the SEC in connection with its Cease
and Desist Order (SEC Order) intended to resolve fully and
finalize the U.S. government allegations against us arising from
DOJ and SEC investigations into conduct in countries outside
the U.S. that violated the FCPA or other anti-bribery laws, and
we agreed to the appointment of an independent compliance
monitor (the Monitor). The Monitor certified to our implementa-
tion of an effective anti-corruption compliance program on
December 30, 2022, and submitted her final certification report
on January 31, 2023. The DOJ and SEC have accepted the
Monitor’s certification and the NPA and SEC Order expired on
March 1, 2023 and March 29, 2023, respectively.

In 2015, we self-reported to the German prosecutor conduct
with a potential nexus to Germany and continued to coop-
erate with government authorities in Germany in their review
of the conduct that prompted our and the United States
government investigations.

We continue to make significant investments in our compliance
and financial controls and in our compliance, legal and financial
organizations (including certain remaining recommendations of
the Monitor), and are fully committed to compliance with the
FCPA and other applicable anti-bribery laws.

Further information on these investigations can be found in
NOTE 25 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Information systems and business processes

As we expanded our international operations in the past, our
processes have become increasingly complex. Accordingly,
we are more and more dependent on information and commu-
nication technologies and -systems to structure our processes
and harmonize them between different regions. An insufficient
design of those systems and business processes could lead
to inefficient workflows, deficient internal and external
communication and intransparencies regarding operations. A
breakdown of these systems could temporarily lead to stand-
still of parts of our provider and product business and
consequently cause heavy damages.

Prior to the Conversion, as part of the Fresenius SE Group,
we received certain essential capabilities including, among
others, information technology, insurance and treasury func-
tions, payroll and other human resources functions that we
did not then and currently do not independently have (either
in full or in part) and that as a result of our deconsolidation we
are required to set up or provide on our own. As part of the
Conversion process, we entered into a series of transitional
services agreements with Fresenius SE at a cost that we
believe is comparable to the costs we incurred for such
services prior to the Conversion. The agreements have
various durations, depending on the services covered under
the particular agreement, with the agreement for information
technology services having the longest term. We cannot
guarantee that we will be able to establish or procure these
functions after the transitional services period without expe-
riencing material adverse effects on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Regarding both our internal systems as well as systems of
third-party service providers, cyber-attacks or privacy and
data breaches could result in the misappropriation or compro-
mise of sensitive information (particularly as medical records
are a high-value target). We and our third-party service
providers gather and handle sensitive personal information of
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our patients as well as financial data in many regions of the
world and thus need to adhere to various data protection and
privacy regulations. Increased reliance on, and utilization of
telemedicine for delivery of health care services could also
increase this risk. Furthermore, the intensified political
confrontation with Russia as a result of the Russian invasion of
Ukraine has increased the risk of cyber-attacks against our
systems and data. Any loss, impermissible use, access or
disclosure of this sensitive information or non-compliance
with data protection and privacy related laws, regulations and
standards could threat our position in competition, our reputa-
tion as well as our ability to continue normal operations.

Our IT systems have been attacked in the past as well as in
September 2023, resulting, in certain patient data being ille-
gally published. When appropriate, we have filed complaints
against the unknown attackers with the relevant authorities
and we contacted the patients who were affected by the illegal
data publication as well as other relevant regulatory agencies
and stakeholders. Furthermore, we intensified our efforts to
implement response measures, which include for example
network monitoring for suspicious activity, endpoint threat
protection and improvements in the back-up and data loss
recovery plans. There was no material impact to the financial
condition and results of operations as a result of these attacks.

We have adopted the globally recognized National Institute of
Standards and Technology (NIST) Cybersecurity Framework
(CSF) to help us analyze, manage, and reduce our cyberse-
curity risk and protect our networks and information. NIST
CSF is the foundation for our cybersecurity activities and
drives the priorities of our multi-year cybersecurity roadmap
and strategy.

We continue to enhance cybersecurity and privacy assurance
processes, globalizing each where possible. We are actively
implementing global systems to assess and monitor various
processes, such as third-party risk management, privacy
regulatory monitoring, and data loss prevention. Our critical
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company information is routinely backed up and disaster
recovery plans are in place and regularly tested. Data centers
are geographically distributed to maximize the availability of
IT systems.

Our information technology security architecture consists of
multiple security measures to protect our networks, systems,
and information. Access to sensitive and critical information
from outside our secured networks (i.e. information in the
cloud) is protected through secure protocols and cryp-
tographic measures. Comprehensive vulnerability scanning,
patching and penetration testing capabilities are in place to
ensure critical information is secured.

Furthermore, among others, company guidelines relating to
data protection and privacy, which also regulate the assign-
ment of access rights and third-party collaboration, must be
considered, trainings for employees are conducted and gover-
nance structures are continuously adapted. Compliance is
monitored with controls including those relating to Section
404 of SOX. Operational and security audits are carried out
every year both internally and by external auditors.

Other risks
Liquidity and financing

The liquidity risk is defined as the risk that a company is poten-
tially unable to meet its financial obligations or to fund other
purposes. Our Management Board manages the liquidity of
the Group by means of effective working capital and cash
management as well as an anticipatory evaluation of refi-
nancing alternatives. Our Management believes that existing
credit facilities, cash flow from operating activities and addi-
tional short-term borrowings are sufficient to meet our
foreseeable demand for liquidity.
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Furthermore, inadequate indebtedness could jeopardize the
successful execution of our business strategy, increase our
vulnerability to general adverse economic conditions as well
as limit our ability to maintain our Investment Grade rating and
obtain necessary financing. A deterioration of our current
rating could lead to a reintroduction of financial covenants,
could limit our financial flexibility, increase our financing costs
or limit access to funding. Potential adverse effects described
in other risk areas could increase the possibility of a rating
downgrade. At December 31, 2023, respectively December 31,
2022, the Group had financial debt and lease liabilities
(including debt and lease liabilities included within liabilities
directly associated with assets held for sale) of €12.19 BN
respectively €13.19 BN.

Our measures aim to mitigate these risks by executing a
prudent financial policy that includes the early refinancing of
upcoming maturities, the active and conservative manage-
ment of financial headroom and maintaining a balanced debt
maturity profile.

Currencies and interests

Geopolitical factors such as the Ukraine War as well as the
impact from hyperinflationary economies, could intensify fluc-
tuations in exchange rates, currency devaluations, and/or
material increases in interest rates, for example, as a reaction
from central banks to high inflation, any of which could
adversely affect profitability.

We actively manage foreign currency and interest rate expo-
sures that are part of our normal business activities. Risk
management procedures for foreign currencies and interest
rate exposures are based on strategies defined and, if neces-
sary, adapted in close cooperation with the Management
Board, including, for example, guidelines that cover all steps
and levels of the risk management process. They define
responsibilities for the determination of risks, the careful use of
financial instruments for hedging purposes and for accurate
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financial reporting. The use of derivative instruments is
restricted to micro hedges which are used in order to hedge
exposures that arise in the ordinary course of business. We do
not enter into transactions for trading or other speculative
purposes. We enter into transactions with banks, which gener-
ally have ratings in a minimum required category (investment
grade). The effectiveness of the hedging relationships of the
hedging instruments and the hedged items is tested on a
quarterly basis.

We enter into derivatives, particularly interest rate swaps and
to a certain extent, interest rate options to protect against the
risk of rising interest rates. These interest rate derivatives are
designated as cash flow hedges and have been entered into in
order to effectively convert payments based on variable
interest rates into payments at a fixed interest rate. On
December 31, 2023, no interest rate swaps were in place.

Derivative foreign currency contracts are entered into for the
purpose of limiting the exchange rate exposure from sales and
purchases as well as lendings and borrowings between our
subsidiaries located in different countries and reporting in
different currencies. A large portion of the transaction expo-
sures arise from sales of products from our subsidiaries in the
euro region to other international business units. The aggre-
gate notional amount of foreign currency hedge contracts as
of December 31, 2023, was €2,188 M, primarily for hedging
euro exposure to the U.S. dollar and various other currencies.
Economic hedges, which we use, are accounted for as recog-
nized hedges in the consolidated financial statements, when
necessary.

The estimation and quantification of transaction risks from
foreign currencies is determined according to the statistical
risk measure Cash Flow at Risk (CFaR). CFaR indicates the
maximum amount of a potential loss of the forecasted foreign
exchange cash flow of the next twelve months that occurs with
a probability of 95%. As of December 31, 2023, our CFaR
amounts to €47.1 M.
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To mitigate our counterparty risks we are also monitoring the
probability of default of our counterparties and have constantly
reviewed bank deposit limits in place.

Further information on market, default and liquidity risks is
included in NOTE 26 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

Litigation and other exposures

Risks associated with investigations and litigations are contin-
uously identified, assessed and reported within the Company.
We are involved in various legal proceedings and investiga-
tions resulting from our business operations. A negative
outcome of these legal proceedings or investigations leading
to legal proceedings could have an adverse impact on our
financial condition and results of operations.

External legal consulting support is always used to defend us
against risks associated with litigations. If necessary,
accounting measures like accruals are used.

For the matters in which we believe a loss is both reasonably
possible and assessable, an estimate of the loss or range of
loss exposure is provided in NOTE 25 of the notes to the consol-
idated financial statements. For other proceedings the
Company believes that the loss probability is remote and/or
the loss or range of possible losses cannot be reasonably esti-
mated at this time.

For details on ongoing proceedings and further information on
material legal risks to which we are exposed, reference is made
to NOTE 25 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Taxes
We are subject to ongoing tax audits in the U.S., Germany and

other jurisdictions. We could potentially receive notices of
unfavorable adjustments and disallowances in connection
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with certain of these audits. If we are unsuccessful in
contesting unfavorable determinations, we could be required
to make additional tax payments, which could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition and
results of operations in the relevant reporting period.

In general, tax-relevant issues are, as necessary, coordinated
with internal tax experts regarding compliance with applicable
tax laws. If necessary, statements and opinions by external
consultants are obtained to minimize tax risks. In addition, we
monitor our tax planning strategies to be in line with imple-
mented internal policies and external tax regulations.

Further information on current tax-relevant issues can be
found in NOTE 25 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

Global operations

We operate dialysis clinics in around 50 countries and sell a
range of equipment, products and services to customers in
around 150 countries. Our global operations are subject to a
number of risks, including but not limited to the following:

> The economic and political situation in certain countries or
regions could deteriorate, become unstable or lead to
armed conflicts, as exemplified by the Ukraine War.

> We could face difficulties in enforcing and collecting
accounts receivable under some countries’ legal systems.

> Local regulations could restrict our ability to obtain a direct
ownership interest in dialysis clinics or other operations.

> Some countries or economic unions may impose charges or
restrictions, such as local content requirements, which
restrict the importation of our products; or give local manu-
facturers an advantage in tenders or provide large discounts
to providers for certain purchases of our products.

> Potential increases in tariffs and trade barriers could occur
upon any withdrawal by the United States or other countries
from unions, including the exit from major multilateral trade
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agreements or the imposition of sanctions, retaliatory tariffs
and other countermeasures in the wake of trade disputes,
geopolitical conflicts and wars in certain regions (for exam-
ple the Ukraine War).

> We could experience transport delays or interruptions.

> International growth and expansion into emerging markets
could cause us difficulty due to greater regulatory barriers
than in the United States or Western Europe, the necessity
of adapting to new regulatory systems, and problems
related to entering new markets with different economic,
social, legal and political systems and conditions.

> We may not prevail in competitive contract tenders.

We conduct humanitarian-related business and provide
life-sustaining health care products and services directly or
indirectly in sanctioned countries. We believe our humanitari-
an-related business is permitted by applicable sanctions
regimes (or, in some cases is excluded from such regimes),
and in light of the humanitarian nature of our products and
services and the patient communities that benefit from our
products, we expect to continue such activities, provided they
continue to be permissible under or excluded from applicable
export control and economic sanctions laws and regulations.
Product registration procedures in certain countries or
economic unions (e.g. Russia, Belarus or countries in the
Eurasian Economic Union (EAEU) in the light of the current
sanctions regime) may be affected in case technology/tech-
nical information on products or components to be submitted
in such procedures is or becomes subject to current or future
export or transfer restrictions for a relevant country and in
case relevant licenses cannot be obtained, which ultimately
may also have an impact on marketability of affected prod-
ucts. A violation of applicable economic sanctions or export
controls laws and regulations, could subject us to enforce-
ment actions, which vary between jurisdictions and depend on
the factual circumstances of the given violation, but could
include criminal penalties, imprisonment of responsible indi-
viduals, administrative or civil penalties, restricted access to
certain markets and reputational harm, among others.
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Our internal control policies and procedures may not protect
us from deliberate, reckless or inadvertent acts of our
employees or agents that contravene our compliance policies
or violate applicable laws.

Any one or more of these or other factors relevant to global
operations could increase our costs, reduce revenues, or
disrupt operations, with possible material adverse effects on
our business and financial condition.

Developments of this nature are continuously monitored and
analyzed and, if necessary, our crisis response team is addi-
tionally involved. Furthermore, a global trade governance
compliance program is in place in order to ensure adherence
to trade-related regulations such as export controls, trade
sanctions and customs.

Unpredictable events

We operate dialysis facilities or manufacturing facilities in
many regions of the world, with diverse geographic, societal,
political and economic conditions. Events such as natural
disasters, terrorist attacks, political instability, epidemics or
pandemics from, for example, virus infections as well as other
unforeseeable events, could affect our services and our ability
to deliver in a limited time and place.

Through forward-looking planning and prevention programs,
we are trying to limit possible effects of such events already in
advance. To maintain operations in the event of an onset and
to reduce potential impact on our patients and the organiza-
tion, we have spare capacity and safety stock of certain
resources as well as emergency and recovery plans in place.
Residual risks are eventually covered when possible and
expedient by taking out insurance.
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Global economic conditions and disruptions in
financial markets

We are dependent on the conditions of the financial markets
and the global economy. In order to pursue our business, we
are reliant on capital, as are our renal product customers and
commercial health care insurers. Limited or more expensive
access to capital in the financial markets could adversely
affect our business and profitability. Inflationary cost increases
have also had and may continue to have an unfavorable effect
on our business, especially if the prices and reimbursement
rates for our products and services remain unchanged or do
not adequately track against cost increases.

Among other things, the potential decline in federal and state
revenues could create additional pressures to contain or
reduce reimbursements for our services from public payors
around the world, including Medicare, Medicaid in the U.S.
and other government sponsored programs in the U.S. and
other countries around the world.

Job losses or increases in unemployment rates could result in
a smaller percentage of our patients being covered by
employer group health plans and a larger percentage being
covered by lower paying government reimbursement
programs. To the extent that public and private payors are
negatively impacted by a decline in the economy, we may
experience further pressure on commercial rates, a further
slowdown in collections and a reduction in the amounts we
expect to collect.

The developments described above as well as devaluations of
currencies, unfavorable interest rate changes and worsening
economic conditions, uncertainty arising from the Ukraine War
(and other geopolitical conflicts) regarding a possible deteriora-
tion of the global macroeconomic outlook, including inflationary
cost increases in various markets in connection with deterio-
rating country credit ratings could increase the risk of a goodwill
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impairment, which could lead to a partial or total goodwill
write-off in the affected cash generating units, or have a nega-
tive impact on our investments and external partnerships.
Furthermore, these factors as well as uncertainty and volatility
in global financial markets, including the banking sector, could
also adversely affect the valuations of certain of our invest-
ments as well as interest rate-sensitive assets or liabilities.

In addition, these developments may have adverse effects in
other risk areas like U.S. federal health care programs, health
care reforms, reimbursement by private insurers, liquidity and
financing, currencies and interest, personnel, composition of
our customer base as well as procurement and are reflected in
the respective assessments.

Furthermore, the global spread of the COVID-19 pandemic has
resulted in a material deterioration of the conditions for the
global economy and financial markets have been materially and
adversely affected. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic
continues to impact our business, results of operations and
financial condition will depend on future developments, which
are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted.

Any or all of the above-mentioned factors, or other conse-
quences of the continuation, or worsening, of domestic and
global economic conditions which cannot currently be
predicted, could continue to have an adverse effect on our
businesses and results of operations.

COVID-19

Going forward, the prolonged effects attributable to the
COVID-19 pandemic may continue to have an adverse impact
on our operations and increase our expenses, including as a
result of impacts associated with preventive and precau-
tionary measures that we, our suppliers, customers and other
businesses or governments continue to implement or impose
on a local, regional, national or international level.
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Given the already compromised health condition of typical dial-
ysis patients, our patients represent a heightened at-risk
population. Increased mortality rates in either the pre-ESRD
patient population or in our ESRD patient population compared
to their historical averages have and could continue to materially
and adversely affect our operating results. Patients suffering
from ESRD generally have co-morbidities which has resulted,
and may continue to result, in more of our dialysis patients
requiring hospitalization. One key driver of such continuing
adverse effects is the emergence of new variants. Also, it
appears that COVID-19 has resulted in an increase in persons
experiencing temporary renal failure in many areas in which we
operate. We expect to continue to experience additional staffing
shortages as well as incur additional staffing costs, required to
meet the resulting increased demand for dialysis treatment and/
or to provide equipment and medical staff needed for emer-
gency treatments, for example in hospitals.

In addition, to the extent that the COVID-19 pandemic
adversely affects our business, net assets, financial condition
and results of operations, it could also have adverse effects in
other risk areas described in this report which is reflected in
the respective assessments.

As one reaction to the COVID-19 pandemic, protocol responses
are in place to address the issues related to patient care and
employee safety. Furthermore, operational changes were
made to ensure continued supply of clinical materials and
programs were modified to assist direct patient care providers.

ESG requirements

Our companies’ ESG activities are facing increased scrutiny
from stakeholders such as institutional and other investors,
regulatory bodies and non-governmental organizations (NGOs).
Failure to effectively identify, carry out and manage the neces-
sary sustainability and related reporting activities as required or
expected, as well as effectually manage the impact of factors
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beyond our control, could cause us to incur additional costs or
damage our brand. We could also be subject to financial and
other penalties imposed by the respective authorities in the
jurisdictions in which we do business. In addition, a rise in
prices for carbon emission rights stemming from the require-
ments of the European Climate Law could increase production
costs. Such cost increases could have an adverse effect on our
operations and results if we do not accurately plan for, and
effectively implement necessary sustainable business prac-
tices. Further information on potential cost increases can be
found in the risk areas “Procurement” and “Global economic
conditions and disruptions in financial markets” above.

In addition to environmental risks, we also face several social
risks. Our continued growth in the health care business
depends on the ability to attract and retain a skilled workforce,
including highly skilled nurses and other medical personnel.
Competition for those employees is intense and shortages for
these sought-after employees could potentially lead to the
closure of some clinics and the inability to treat parts of our
patients. For further information on personnel risks, see the
risk area “Personnel” above.

Furthermore, companies are increasingly expecting their
suppliers to share their commitment to sustainability and
demonstrate sustainable business practices across their
supply chains, including the ability to identify and mitigate
risks related to human rights in their entire value chain in
connection with the requirements of the German Supply Chain
Due Diligence Act (Lieferkettensorgfaltspflichtengesetz) and
other regulations. If we fail to comply with our legal obligations
related to supply chain due diligence, we could face significant
fines and be excluded from public tenders and contracts. We
could also suffer reputational damage, especially given that
our performance in this area is closely monitored by NGOs,
investors and others.

In light of these expectations, among other aspects, we have
incorporated sustainability as a performance target for the
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compensation of the Management Board. Should manage-
ment fail to meet these outcomes, investors and/or debt
providers may not deem us the correct fit for their investment
or financing purposes, thereby negatively impacting our share
price or our ability to source funding through debt financing.
Our €2 BN syndicated multicurrency sustainability-linked
revolving credit facility agreement, which serves as a backup
facility, includes a sustainability component, pursuant to which
the credit facility’s margin for any outstanding borrowings will
rise or fall depending on our sustainability performance.

A heightened focus on ESG topics may result in more exten-
sive regulatory requirements aimed at mitigating the effects of
climate change and other current and future ESG concerns.
Should further regulation or stakeholder expectations be more
stringent in the future, we may experience increased compli-
ance burdens and costs to meet regulatory obligations and we
cannot currently estimate what impact existing and future
regulations will have on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

For the upcoming years we have defined new sustainability
targets that are linked to the compensation of the Management
Board as stated above. We continuously analyze sustainability
related regulations and trends as well as shareholder require-
ments. In case of new regulations, we have a dedicated
approach in place in order to systematically implement such.

Changes in the risk situation

We operate in a constantly changing environment. Accord-
ingly, the risk situation is also subject to constant change.
Regarding the classification of single risks in terms of proba-
bility and potential impact, the following significant changes
occurred compared to the previous year:
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One-year period:

An assessment of potential adverse effects from the unper-
mitted use of our Intellectual Property (10) resulted in a low risk
from a short-term perspective.

The risk from Liquidity and financing (16) is now considered a
medium risk from a short-term perspective due to an increased
probability of a potential deterioration of our current credit rating.

The risk from COVID-19 (23) is now considered a low risk from
a short-term perspective as the impact from COVID-19 such
as excess mortality and consequences on supply-chains are
further weakening and to a certain extent already realized.

Five-year period:

The risk from Growth (7) is now considered a low risk from a
mid-term perspective mainly due to achieved progress within
our FME25 program and further focus on our core business.

The risk from Research and development (9) is now consid-
ered a low risk from a mid-term perspective due to a more
centralized approach for the assessment and management of
risks as a result of FME25.

The risk from Global economic conditions and disruptions in
financial markets (22) was dismissed for the mid-term perspec-
tive as we consider material adverse effects to potentially
impact our business already in the short-term perspective or
as covered in other risk areas (see listing directly in risk area).

The risk from COVID-19 (23) is now considered a low risk from
a mid-term perspective as the impact from COVID-19 such as
excess mortality and consequences on supply-chains are
further weakening and to a certain extent already realized.

The risk from ESG requirements (24) is now considered a
medium risk from a mid-term perspective due to still growing
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requirements for improved ESG performance and levels of
disclosures we could possibly not fulfill, potentially leading to
decreased ESG related rating scores.

Opportunities management

Opportunities Management System

As a vertically integrated dialysis company we are able to
identify industry-specific trends and requirements along our
value drivers as well as the resultant opportunities at an early
stage and gear our actions to them. We also perform compre-
hensive quantitative and qualitative analyses to enable us to
capture business opportunities. This involves systematically
evaluating relevant market data, closely examining research
projects and taking general social trends into consideration.
Our analyses focus on general economic, industry-specific,
regional and local developments as well as regulatory changes.

Opportunities

Fresenius Medical Care offers almost all of the products and
services that seriously and chronically ill patients require
across the renal care continuum. Our network of 3,925 dialysis
clinics in around 50 countries is the largest of its kind in the
world. As a result, we possess valuable dialysis expertise that
is unique in the industry. Thanks to this wealth of experience,
we know that high quality is not only the key to a better quality
of life for patients, but can also make a significant contribution
to reducing the costs of health care. In this context, we see
vast opportunities in digitalization, which offers us new possi-
bilities in kidney therapy, especially in the field of telemedicine
and home dialysis. Digital enablement allows us to personalize
therapeutic options more quickly. By applying analytics, artifi-
cial intelligence (Al) and machine learning and predictive
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models, we can create actionable insights for better patient
care and thereby improve therapy outcomes and economics.

Based on this understanding and our business model, major
opportunities arise that could have a positive impact on the
results of operations, financial position and net assets of
Fresenius Medical Care as things stand today. Unless other-
wise stated, the opportunities mentioned apply to all segments.

Industry-specific opportunities

Growth in patient numbers and
demographic development

The increasing prevalence of diabetes and hypertension, two
conditions often preceding the onset of chronic kidney failure,
propels the growth in dialysis patients, particularly in regions
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with advanced health care systems and an aging population.
According to estimates, the global number of individuals
suffering from chronic kidney failure and requiring dialysis
treatment is increasing at a rate of approximately 4% to 6%
annually. It is expected to reach around 4.3 M patients in 2024
and over 7.0 M by 2035 (CHART 2.34). In developing and
emerging countries, the growing population and steadily
improving access to dialysis due to increasing wealth are key
factors further boosting the demand for dialysis products and
services. Our commitment is to continue making a significant
contribution to meeting this demand in the future.

Growing demand for holistic, value- and risk-based
health care

As aresult of increasing cost pressure and the growing number
of patients, demand for holistic and value- and risk-based
health care concepts for patients with chronic kidney failure is
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evolving. Value-oriented models are changing the role of
health care providers: In systems of this kind, we not only offer
dialysis but also take responsibility for the patient’s medical
well-being beyond dialysis. We believe this is a substantial
opportunity beyond dialysis patient growth.

Value- and risk-based health care models help to deliver high-
er-quality treatment and better results at a lower cost. The aim
here is to establish sustainable partnerships with payors
around the world with the aim of driving forward the transition
from fee-for-service payment to pay-for-performance models.

We have supported this development from the start, because
we know the needs of our dialysis patients best. We have
combined the coordination of all aspects of medical care in
our other health care services business. This encompasses
pharmacy services, vascular care ambulatory surgery center
services as well as value and risk-based care programs.

In 2019, the then U.S. President signed an Executive Order on
advancing kidney health. Among other things, it directs the
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services to develop
new Medicare reimbursement models. One of these, the ESRD
Treatment Choices Model (ETC Model), is mandatory and
creates financial as well as other incentives for home dialysis
treatments and kidney transplants. The model went into effect
January 1, 2021 and provides fundamental opportunities for
expanding home dialysis and kidney transplants, particularly
in the U.S.

Another value-based care model is the new Kidney Care
Choices model offered by the Center for Medicare and
Medicaid Innovation (CMMI). This includes the CKCC option
for Medicare beneficiaries with late-stage CKD and end-stage
renal disease that came into effect as of January 1, 2022. It is
designed to reduce Medicare expenditures while preserving
or enhancing the quality of care for patients with advanced
renal disease. Participants deliver coordinated, cost-effective
care and receive payment based on the risk assumed. As we
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are dedicated to being a leader in value-based care, we partic-
ipate in the CKCC model and we will help manage care by
providing specialized education and support services to slow
the progression of kidney disease, increase preemptive trans-
plants, and increase the prevalence of a planned start to
life-sustaining treatment.

With InterWell Health we are strengthening our leading posi-
tion in the treatment of chronic kidney diseases in the U.S.
The company employs a comprehensive clinical care model
that emphasizes early detection and prevention to slow the
progression of chronic kidney disease and to minimize the
need for costly interventions. InterWell Health stands out as
the sole value-oriented provider of kidney treatments with
access to the entire spectrum of care. The care model
extends to over 2,600 dialysis centers, InterWell Health
furthermore provides access to a network of 1,700 nephrology
service providers, including kidney care coordinators, an
exclusive platform for kidney disease education, and patient
engagement tools to involve patients. This integrated
approach ensures seamless coordination of patient care
among dialysis providers, InterWell’s care management
team, and medical professionals.

Expansion of home dialysis

If patient numbers grow as strongly as anticipated, cost pres-
sure continues to rise and clinics reach full capacity, home
therapies are expected to take on a more important role in
dialysis, not only as a result of the ETC Model. This develop-
ment could be advantageous for Fresenius Medical Care, as it
presents us with growth opportunities. We offer a host of
different products and innovative solutions for home dialysis.
With NxStage products and solutions for home dialysis, we
offer a comprehensive product portfolio for home dialysis.
Digital solutions in the field of telehealth and applications
underpin our plans and are essential to be able to offer this
form of therapy to more people. We focus firmly on the needs
of our patients by presenting them with the widest possible
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range of therapy options. This gives them the freedom to
choose what form of treatment is currently best for them.
Self-determination is a key pillar of our vision to improve our
patients’ quality of life. In the U.S. in particular, home dialysis
is becoming increasingly important. In 2022, around 15% of all
dialysis patients in the U.S. were treated in a home setting.
Based on its strategic business planning, Fresenius Medical
Care holds on its aspirational target for the further expansion
of home dialysis: The company aims to perform 25% of all
treatments in the U.S. at home by 2027, the latest.

Opportunities related to our
business operations

New products and technologies

Developing innovative products and technologies that deliver
lasting added value for patients and remuneration systems
right up until they are market-ready is another crucial factor in
our long-term success. We advance dialysis-related innova-
tions through our in-house R&D activities. In addition, we are
able to enhance existing products ourselves and adapt them
to the markets in which we operate. We will continue to add
innovative products and technologies to our range in the future
to capture growth opportunities and meet the demand for inte-
grated care as effectively as possible.

New forms of kidney therapy through digitalization and
Artificial Intelligence (Al)

We aim to develop new forms of kidney therapy with the help
of digital technologies such as artificial intelligence, the
Internet of Things and use of Big Data. In North America, for
example, we collect over one terabyte of patient data every
day to calculate risk models and forecast multiple treatment
paths. This data enables us to assess the health of each
patient more effectively. We can use the information not only
to reduce negative outcomes for patients, but also to make
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costs, clinical workflows,
processes more efficient.

production and development

As part of its growth strategy, Fresenius Medical Care is using
digital technologies and the capability to analyze huge amounts
of data to develop new forms of renal therapy. The information
will be used to potentially make a diagnosis earlier, slow the
progressive course of chronic kidney disease and enable inter-
vention with new innovative therapies. Frenova’s new genomic
registry will contain genetic sequencing data from chronic
kidney disease patients worldwide, which will be used by
researchers to improve the understanding of kidney disease.
Remnant samples of blood will be stored from samples already
taken monthly from end-stage kidney disease patients which
will be used for genomic analysis. As the program expands to
include individuals not on dialysis, samples of blood or saliva
may be used for the same information. By combining clinical
and genetic sequencing data from ethnically, demographically,
geographically and pathologically diverse participants, this
invaluable resource will help scientists better understand how
genetic variations in patients can lead to more precise diag-
noses and therapies that help improve outcomes by
individualizing care, known as Precision Medicine.

COVID-19 in particular, has prompted a significant accelera-
tion in the implementation of digital projects in telehealth and
integrated health care. They are key to our ability to increase
the share of home dialysis. We have already taken important
steps with Kinexus, a digital solution that comprehensively
connects our devices and our digital hubs for patients,
providers and care teams. In addition, we are digitalizing
numerous business processes to provide even better support
for those working from home. This offers us greater flexibility
at a lower cost.

Digital applications are also employed specifically in therapy
preparation. Since 2021, patients have benefited from a virtual
reality (VR) tool, stayesafe MyTraining VR, designed to support
their patient training in preparation for CAPD. With stayesafe
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MyTraining VR, patients can perform virtual dialysis treatment
to learn key aspects of the dialysis process.

Our pursuit of operational excellence extends to the core of
our clinics, where we use Al to improve efficiencies by mini-
mizing manual tasks and optimizing overall facility functionality.
Moreover, we see significant opportunities for Al in clinic
management. For instance, Al could assist in appointment
scheduling, considering patient preferences and clinic
resources, predict arrival times for efficient patient flow, and
automate documentation and reporting from clinical notes.
This streamlining of documentation facilitates more data-
driven decision-making.

Growing demand for critical care solutions

The number of patients requiring continuous renal replace-
ment therapy to treat acute kidney failure is set to rise from
around 1.0 million patients in 2023 to over 1,5 million per year
over the next decade. Fresenius Medical Care will expand its
acute care portfolio to include other extracorporeal critical
care therapy areas, such as the treatment of acute heart, lung
and multi-organ failure. Hence in the medium term, we see
major growth opportunities in critical care solutions.

Investments and complementary assets

We generate ideas for growth initiatives from market analyses
and assess them as part of our annual budget planning, or
more frequently if necessary. We manage the investments
required for implementing projects using a detailed coordina-
tion and evaluation process. The Management Board sets the
investment budget for the Group as well as the focus of invest-
ment. Before realizing investment projects, an internal
committee examines the individual projects and measures,
taking into account their yield requirements and potential
return on investment. Projects are undertaken only if they help
to increase the Company’s value.
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We will supplement and strengthen our existing network where
feasible through additional partnerships, investments and
acquisitions in the field of R&D. This will help us to create
added medical value while saving costs. The close collabora-
tion between our Strategy and Planning departments and the
managers responsible for our acquisitions means that we can
identify suitable potential purchases worldwide at an early
stage. It will allow us to build an even stronger and more resil-
ient foundation for our future growth to 2025 and beyond.

Internal organization and procedures
Fresenius Medical Care's business model

We have reached a significant milestone as part of the FME25
Program by restructuring our business into two global oper-
ating segments: Care Enablement and Care Delivery. This
underscores our commitment to clarity, accountability, and
transparency. Our new operating model offers a variety of
strategic advantages. Not only does it provide a separate
Profit and Loss structure and reinforce accountability, but it
also serves as a catalyst for greater cost efficiency. The FME25
transformation is not just about adapting our company to the
current environment; it is a commitment to leverage our exper-
tise, accelerating value creation, refining capital allocation,
and fostering a culture of agility, innovation, inclusion, and
accountability.

As a vertically integrated dialysis company, we not only offer
almost all of the products and services that a patient with
chronic kidney failure requires for treatment, but also use
these on a daily basis in our own clinics. As a result, we can
incorporate the feedback from our patients, physicians and
nurses worldwide in developing and manufacturing new prod-
ucts as well as in organizing our clinic management. This gives
us a crucial competitive edge.
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Fresenius Medical Care benefits from a number of long-term
opportunities in the way it is organized and designs its busi-
ness operations. For example, all production sites follow the
lean manufacturing approach. In the U.S. and at nine of twelve
plants in Europe, Middle East and Africa, this includes the
Lean Six Sigma management system. The focus of lean manu-
facturing and Lean Six Sigma is on continuously improving
manufacturing processes to achieve a low defect rate and,
consequently, better product quality while reducing manufac-
turing times. In addition, constantly improving business
processes and rigorously optimizing cost structures will allow
Fresenius Medical Care to become even more profitable and
competitive.

Portfolio optimization

As part of the implementation of our portfolio optimization
program, we are aligning our business towards markets that
offer the greatest sustainable growth potential and the highest
strategic value. The objective is to minimize distractions and
foster a stronger focus on markets within our core dialysis
business, characterized by attractive revenue and profit
profiles. In this context, we are withdrawing from non-sustain-
able markets and divesting businesses that do not align with
our core operations.

Deconsolidation and change of legal form

On November 30, 2023, we opened a new chapter in our
history with the completion of the Conversion and the related
deconsolidation from Fresenius SE. This required the approval
of the shareholders, which was granted at an EGM on July 14,
2023. Our new legal form simplifies our governance structure
and allows for more focused, faster and agile decision-making.
The Conversion also allows for a clearer focus on the interests
of the Company and greater flexibility concerning our financial
strategy. We consider the Conversion a decisive step in our
efforts to further grow and unlock value as the leading kidney
care company.
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Sustainability

To identify, assess and capture the opportunities associated
with sustainable development, Fresenius Medical Care contin-
uously analyzes key economic, social and environmental
issues linked to our strategy and business activities. In doing
so, we look at the entire value chain of our business activities
and also consider global trends. Developing an effective global
sustainability management system is key for us to embed
sustainability in our business activities systematically and
structurally. Our sustainability management system helps us
to meet increased demand for sustainability in our business
operations from key stakeholders and to maintain our
reputation and acceptance in society. This results in further
opportunities for Fresenius Medical Care to position itself as a
reliable, efficient partner and an attractive employer.
Opportunities can also arise from the increasing number of
political regulations aimed at sustainability. For example, if we
differentiate ourselves from the competition through proven
sustainability management or sustainable products and
services, and qualify for new contracts, or if we leverage
opportunities from sustainable finance.
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Assessment of the overall risk
position and the opportunities
by the management

Our risk management system forms the basis for assessing
overall risk. The overall risk position of Fresenius Medical Care
is determined by the individual risks described above. Changes
in the Group’s risk situation compared to the previous year
occurred as stated in the paragraph of the same name. Neither
one of the identified individual risks nor one of the risk areas
described above are threatening the Company’s continued
existence and based on the comparison of the aggregated risk
position with the established risk-bearing capacity, there are,
to a reasonable degree of certainty, currently no indications
that the going concern of Fresenius Medical Care is at risk. In
the course of the Company-wide review as part of the inte-
grated management system, we also monitor the effectiveness
of the implemented risk management system and make
improvements where necessary. The Management Board will
continue to expand our risk management as well as the review
of the associated management system to be able to identify,
examine and evaluate potential risks even more quickly and
initiate appropriate countermeasures. We believe that we have
taken all necessary organizational steps to recognize potential
risks early on and to respond to them appropriately.

We furthermore remain confident that our integrated global
business model and our earning power provide us with a
sound basis for our business development, allowing us to
capture the opportunities arising for the Company. In view of
our leading position in the dialysis market, our innovative
strength, our dedicated staff and our structured processes for
identifying risks early on and managing opportunities, we are
convinced that we can continue to make the most of any
opportunities that arise for our business in a responsible
manner in the future.
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Corporate
(Governance
Fundamentals

The Company has the legal form of an
AG (previously KGaA, before the
Conversion). The Company’s corpo-
rate structure consists of its Annual
General Meeting, its Management
Board and its Supervisory Board.
Further information on the members
of the Management Board and the
Supervisory Board is set out in the
appendix of the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements. The
corporate governance structure is set
out in the “Corporate Governance
Declaration” in the chapter “Corporate
Governance” in the Annual Report.
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Corporate Governance
Declaration

In fiscal year 2023, the Company made use of the option to
publish the Corporate Governance Declaration (Erkldrung zur
Unternehmensfiihrung) on the Company’s website pursuant
to sec. 315d German Commercial Code (HGB) in conjunction
with sec. 289f para.1 HGB. The Corporate Governance
Declaration is available on the Company’s website at https:/
www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/investors/corporate-
governance/declaration-on-corporate-governance.

It is also set out in the chapter “Corporate Governance” in the
Annual Report.

Changes in management
structure

Martin Fischer was appointed as CFO as of October 1, 2023.
He succeeded Helen Giza who was appointed as CEO and
Chair of the Management Board in December 2022 and
continued to serve as acting CFO, until September 30, 2023.

Additionally, on October 31, 2023, Fresenius Medical Care
announced the appointment of Craig Cordola as a new
Management Board member for the Care Delivery segment,
commencing his new role on January 1, 2024.

Compensation Report

The compensation paid to the Management Board and the
Supervisory Board of the Company are included in the
Compensation Report according to § 162 of the German Stock
Corporation Act (AktG) which is part of the chapter “Corporate
Governance” in the Annual Report.
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Takeover-Related Disclosures

The share capital held by the Company’s shareholders as of
December 31, 2023, totals approximately €293 M, divided into
293,413,449 non-par bearer shares, and a nominal value of €1
each. As of December 31, 2023, the Company does not hold
any treasury shares.

The rights of the shareholders are governed by the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and the Company’s Articles of
Association. Each share shall be entitled to one vote at the
Company’s general meeting and is decisive for the share-
holders’ share in the Company’s profit. This does not apply to
treasury shares held by the Company, which do not entitle the
Company to any rights. In the cases of Section 136 AktG,
voting rights from the shares concerned are excluded by law.

As of December 31, 2023, Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA, Bad
Homburg v. d. Hohe, Germany holds 94,380,382 shares of the
Company, which corresponds to a 32.17% holding and hence
exceeds 10% of the Company’s total share capital.

Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA, Bad Homburg v. d. Héhe, Germany,
is entitled to appoint one of the members attributable to the
shareholders to the Supervisory Board, if it holds shares in the
Company representing at least 15% of the Company’s share
capital according to the Articles of Association of the
Company; if Fresenius SE Co. KGaA holds shares in the
Company representing at least 30% of the Company’s share
capital, it is entitled to appoint two of the members attribut-
able to the shareholders to the Supervisory Board.

The appointment and removal of members of the Management
Board by the Supervisory Board are governed by Sections 84
and 85 AktG and Section 31 of German Co-Determination Act.
In accordance with Section 6 (1) of the Articles of Association,
the Management Board consists of at least two members.
Otherwise, the Supervisory Board determines the number of
Management Board members.


https://www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/investors/corporate-governance/declaration-on-corporate-governance
https://www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/investors/corporate-governance/declaration-on-corporate-governance
https://www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/investors/corporate-governance/declaration-on-corporate-governance

FRESENIUS
MEDICAL CARE 2023

TO OUR
SHAREHOLDERS

90

Amendments to the Articles of Association of the Company
can be made in accordance with Sections 119 (1) No. 6, 179 in
conjunction with 133 AktG. The Articles of Association entitle
the Company’s Supervisory Board to make amendments to
the Articles of Association which concern only its wording
without resolution of the general meeting.

The Management Board is entitled, subject to approval by the
Supervisory Board, to increase the Company’s share capital
as follows in accordance with the resolutions passed by the
shareholders at the general meeting:

> Authorization to increase on one or more occasions until
August 26, 2025 the Company’s share capital by up to a
total of €35 M by issuing new bearer ordinary shares in
return for cash contributions (Authorized Capital 2020/1).

> Authorization to increase on one or more occasions until
August 26, 2025 the Company’s share capital by up to a
total of €25 M by issuing new bearer ordinary shares in
return for cash contributions and/or contributions in kind
(Authorized Capital 2020/1).

In both cases, the Management Board is entitled, with the
approval of the Supervisory Board and in accordance with the
resolutions passed at the general meeting, to take a decision
on the exclusion of shareholders’ pre-emption rights.

In addition, the share capital is subject to a conditional
increase of up to €8.957 M. This conditional capital increase
was only be carried out to the extent that options were issued
in accordance with the Stock Option Plan 2011 based on the
shareholders’ resolutions of May 12, 2011 and May 12, 2016,
provided the holders of such options exercises their rights and
the Company did not issue any of its own treasury shares to
settle those options. Options under the Stock Option Plan
2011 could be issued for the last time in 2015 and could be
exercised for the last time in 2023.
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In accordance with the resolution taken at the general meeting
on May 20, 2021, which was amended in view of the Compa-
ny’s Conversion by resolution of the EGM on 16 May 2023, the
Management Board is authorized to acquire treasury shares
until May 19, 2026 and up to a maximum of 10% of the share
capital in place on the date of the resolution. At no time shall
the acquired shares together with the treasury shares held by
the Company or attributable to it pursuant to Sections 71a ff.
AktG exceed 10% of the Company’s share capital. The acqui-
sition can be made via the stock exchange or by means of a
public invitation to submit offers for sale. The authorization
may not be used for the purposes of trading in its own shares.
The Management Board is authorized to use the shares of the
Company acquired on the basis of this or an earlier authoriza-
tion for all legally admissible purposes, in particular also (i) to
redeem them without any requirement for a further resolution
to be taken at the general meeting, (i) to sell them to third
parties in return for contributions in kind, (iii) rather than using
conditional capital, to award them to employees of the
Company and its affiliates (including to members of the exec-
utive managements of affiliates) and to use them to service
rights or commitments to acquire shares of the Company, and
(iv) to service bonds with option or conversation rights issued
by the Company or by affiliated companies as defined by
Section 17 AktG. No treasury shares were acquired in 2023.
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Under certain circumstances, a change of control resulting
from a takeover offer could impact several of the Company’s
long-term financing arrangements which include market stan-
dard change of control clauses. These clauses give creditors
the right to call for early repayment of outstanding amounts in
the event of a change of control. However, with regard to most
of these financing agreements — in particular in case of bonds
placed on the capital markets — this right to terminate only
exists if the change of control involves the Company’s rating
being downgraded.

Hof (Saale), February 23, 2024
Fresenius Medical Care AG

Management Board
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Sustainability
Management

Business model

Fresenius Medical Care is the world’s leading provider of
products and services for individuals with renal diseases
based on publicly reported revenue and the number of patients
treated. We provide dialysis and related services, as well as
other health care services. We care for over 332,000 dialysis
patients in around 4,000 proprietary dialysis clinics in around
50 countries worldwide. We manage the world’s largest
network of dialysis clinics in terms of the number of people
treated to accommodate an ever-rising number of patients.

We also develop, manufacture, and distribute a wide variety of
health care products, which we sell to customers in around
150 countries in addition to using them in our own health care
service operations. We operate around 40 production sites in
around 20 countries (see CHART 3.1).

More information on our business model and the Conversion
into a German stock corporation can be found in the “About
us” section on page 30 and in the “Business model” section of
the Group Management Report starting on page 31.

Strategy

At Fresenius Medical Care, we focus on serving patients. This
approach shapes how we manage sustainability: We place
emphasis on our contribution to global health care challenges
and on activities with the biggest impact for our company
vision. Our commitment to sustainability is also incorporated
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in our company mission statement: “We provide the best
possible care. Sustainably in diverse health care systems. For
a growing number of patients around the world.”

Over the past years, we have continually stepped up our
sustainability activities. Following the successful completion
of our Global Sustainability Program at the end of 2022, we
defined new global targets to further drive the integration of
sustainability into our business and improve our sustainability
performance. We focus on three strategic areas: Enhancing
quality of care and access to health care, building the best
team to serve patients, and reducing our company’s environ-
mental footprint.

We continue to integrate sustainability into our business oper-
ations and incorporate it in relevant processes. These include,
among others, our corporate strategy and business planning,
operations, corporate risk management internal controls, as
well as finances and our compensation systems. In 2023, we
started a project to integrate sustainability key performance
indicators (KPIs) related to climate reporting and patient satis-
faction into our company-wide internal controls system (ICS).
This will allow us to further strengthen and harmonize our inter-
nal controls of our sustainability KPIs. We have set up pro-
cesses for collecting sustainability-related data and testing
relevant controls that will be fully implemented in 2024. We are
also planning to incorporate additional KPIs. In addition, we
further integrated sustainability-related aspects in our corpo-
rate budgeting process.

To understand and continuously improve our sustainability
performance, we monitor and measure various performance
indicators and regularly disclose information on our progress
(see CHART 3.2 on page 94). In the reporting year, we devel-
oped an approach for a Portfolio Sustainability Assessment to
evaluate the sustainability performance of our products and
services. This will create a basis for strategic portfolio deci-
sions that consider our portfolio’s sustainability impact.

CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHER
INFORMATION

= Q

c31 COMPANY OVERVIEW

Fresenius Medical Care at a glance

more than

332,000 Patients

more than

11 9,000 Employees

around

4,000 Dialysis clinics

around

40 Production sites

around

52 million Teatments

more than

70,000 Suppliers
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c 3.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT
Environment Social Governance

— We reduced our Scope 1 and
Scope 2 emissions by 16%
compared with 2020.

— Energy management system
were installed in more than
1,100 of our U.S. clinics.

— We expanded our global water
stress-related assessment
coverage of our sites by 28%.

to 34%.

Throughout the year, we monitored regulatory changes to
sustainability management and reporting. In the context of the
new EU Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD),
a project team was set up to prepare for implementing the
extended reporting requirements. The goal of the project is to
educate topic owners within the Company on the upcoming
requirements, facilitate communication and support the
establishment of auditable processes for new KPIs that will be
reported on in the coming years.

Our business activities touch upon several UN Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs). In line with our corporate vision
and business model, we particularly contribute to SDG 3,
which aims to achieve healthy lives and promote well-being.
In addition, we seek to make meaningful contributions to
SDG 4 (Quality Education), SDG 8 (Decent Work and
Economic Growth), and SDG 12 (Responsible Consumption
and Production).

— We provided treatments to
more than 332,000 patients and
home therapy to around
31,000 patients.

— 78% of our patients would

highly recommend our services.

— The share of women in the top
two management levels below
Management Board increased

— Nearly 94% of employees
completed compliance training.

— More than 116,000 employees
participated in data
privacy trainings.

— More than 50% of internal
audits included topics related
to human rights.

More information on our strategy can be found in the
“Corporate strategy and objectives” section of the Group
Management Report starting on page 35.
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Global targets

We set global targets to measure value creation and progress of
our sustainability performance along the value chain. Our global
environmental, social and governance targets support three
focus areas: Enhancing our quality of care and access to health
care, building the best team to serve patients, and reducing our
environmental footprint (see CHART 3.3 on page 95).

To embed sustainability as an important performance
indicator in implementing our strategy, Management Board
compensation is also linked to our sustainability-related
progress. For 2023, the Supervisory Board defined three
sustainability targets as a short-term incentive: patient satis-
faction, employee satisfaction and developing a measurable
sustainability assessment of the Company’s product and
service portfolio.

Patient satisfaction was determined using the Net Promoter
Score (NPS). The NPS measures patient satisfaction with the
Company’s health care services on the basis of patient
surveys. Employee satisfaction was measured using the
employee engagement index, which is based on a Group-wide
survey to evaluate feedback from our employees. The sustain-
able portfolio assessment target is in line with our goal of
carrying out an assessment of the sustainability performance
of our relevant product and service portfolio by 2026.

In 2024, the Supervisory Board will submit a fully reviewed and
revised system for the compensation of the Management
Board. It is intended to include sustainability as a performance
target for the long-term incentive plan.

More information on sustainability in the compensation
system and the 2023 targets included in the short-term incentive
plan can be found in the Compensation Report starting on
page 155. Detailed information relating to the targets and their
progress, can be found in the sections on “Patients” starting on
page 101 and 102 as well as “Employees” starting on page 109.
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Cc3.3 GLOBAL SUSTAINABILITY TARGETS

Strategic focus areas

Global targets

Progress in 2023

Enhance quality of

care and access to
health care

Patient experience (p.102)

Achieve a patient Net Promoter Score of at least 70 (annual target)

Net Promoter Score of 72

Product safety and quality (p.106)

Keep global key performance indicator for critical and major audits

findings below 1.0 (annual target)

Audit score of 0.4

Access to treatments (p. 103)

Perform 25% of dialysis treatments in the U.S.
in a home setting by 2027*

16% of treatments in the U.S. performed in home setting

Build the best team
to serve patients

Employee engagement (p.110)

Achieve an Employee Engagement Score of at least 63% by 2027

Employee Engagement Score of 55%

Diversity, equity, and inclusion
(p.111)

Achieve proportion of women in leadership positions by 2027:
> 35% in the first level below the Management Board
> 45% in the second level below the Management Board

At the end of 2023:
> 24% in the first level below the Management Board

> 86% in the second level below the Management Board

Increase the representation of ethnically diverse managers in the
U.S. year over year by 2030

At the end of 2028, 32 % of U.S. managers were ethnically diverse

Compliance (p.120)

Train at least 90% of employees on our Code of Ethics
and Business Conduct (annual target)

Almost 94% of employees trained on our Code of Ethics and

Business Conduct

Reduce our

environmental
footprint

* Target extended

Emission reduction (p. 116)

By 2030, reduce our Scope 1 Achieve climate neutrality for
and Scope 2 emissions by 50% 9 Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions

as compared with 2020 by 2040

Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions footprint reduction of 16%

compared with 2020

Resource efficiency (p.118)

Develop sustainable water plans for sites in extreme water stress
areas by 2026

We expanded our global water stress-related assessment coverage

of our sites by 28%

Sustainable portfolio (p. 105)

Implement sustainability performance assessment of our relevant

product and services portfolio by 2026

Assessment methodology developed; nearly 60% of revenue

assessed and 99% of our locations and 17 product types reviewed
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Material topics

Managing our sustainability impacts as well as sustainability-
related risks and opportunities starts with understanding which
sustainability topics matter most to our business and our stake-
holders. In 2023, we conducted a full materiality assessment
(see CHART 3.4).
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The 2023 materiality assessment confirmed the material topics
from the previous full materiality assessment, conducted in
2019 as well as the annual materiality reviews. The topic of
resource use and circularity was added as new material topic.
The outcome of the assessment reflects our stable business
model and business scope. Changes in material topics are
primarily related to strategic priorities, our progress in

c3.4 OVERVIEW OF MATERIAL TOPICS
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— Anti-bribery and anti-corruption

— Anti-competitive behavior
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company-wide sustainability management as well as shifts in
societal and regulatory expectations of companies.

Our materiality assessment fulfills the German Commercial
Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB) requirements. It was also
conducted to prepare for the requirements laid out in the
CSRD. To this end, we applied the key principles of double
materiality: We considered both our impact on people and the
environment (impact materiality) as well as sustainability-
related risks and opportunities that may affect our business
(financial materiality) over the short, medium and long term as
well as along our entire value chain. We identified negative and
positive, actual and potential impacts of our business activities
on people and the environment.

We compiled an initial list of more than 180 topics and sub-
topics including our existing list of topics and input provided
by internal subject matter experts. We also reviewed and
considered topics from external sources. These included the
CSRD requirements, ratings and rankings, trend and media
analyses, other reporting standards like those of the Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI), Sustainability Accounting Standards
Board (SASB), the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD), and the EU Taxonomy requirements as
well as stakeholder requests.

Materiality thresholds were defined to evaluate the impact and
financial materiality of the topics. In line with our risk manage-
ment framework, we considered financial sustainability
opportunities and potential risks, that may affect our business,
as well as the aspects in accordance with § 289c of the
German Commercial Code. A detailed description of risks and
opportunities can be found in our “Risk and Opportunities
Report” (page 69).

In a series of assessments and workshops involving senior
management from the business segments and global
functions, 25 topics clustered into ten groups were identified
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c3.5 SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

Supervisory Board

Accountability and

M B
decision making CUEEHIUCIR AL

Corporate Sustainability Committee

Global Sustainability Department

Human Rights Office

Steering and
implementation

Business Segments and Global Functions

Cross-functional Project Steering Committees

Expert Networks
Project Teams

and validated as material topics. The results were discussed
and validated by the Management Board.

Sustainability governance

Following the successful conclusion of our Global Sustainability
Program and in the context of our FME25 transformation
program, we have adjusted our sustainability governance

(see CHART 3.5). The new governance reflects the changing
requirements when it comes to integrating sustainability
into our strategy and business globally. Accountability
and decision-making lie with the Management Board,
supported by the Corporate Sustainability Committee (CSC).
The CSC comprises senior representatives nominated by the
Management Board for the business segments and global
functions. The Management Board takes decisions on strategic
initiatives, while the CSC is responsible above all for operational
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aspects and projects that require broader senior leadership
guidance. The former Sustainability Decision Board is no longer
part of the new governance.

The Supervisory Board deliberates on sustainability matters in
its general board meetings as well as meetings of the Audit
Committee. It reviews the progress of our sustainability
management, which is then published in the separate Non-
financial Group Report.

The Global Sustainability department drives our strategic
sustainability activities and manages initiatives in close coop-
eration with the relevant teams from the business segments
and global functions. The Global Head of Sustainability
provides regular updates to the Management Board and the
Supervisory Board on the progress and status of target
achievement. Formal cross-functional project steering
committees, project teams and expert networks support the
implementation of sustainability projects. The Corporate Risk
Committee analyzes and discusses sustainability risks as part
of our enterprise risk management. The results are compiled
twice a year and communicated to the Management Board.

Risk and opportunity
management

We monitor and assess sustainability risks as part of our busi-
ness processes and enterprise risk management. Our risk
assessment is based on a catalogue of potential non-financial
risks, which is reviewed about twice a year. In accordance with
the German Commercial Code, we report on known severe
risks in our value chain (upstream, own operations and
downstream), business relationships, products, or services
that are very likely to occur and would have a severe negative
impact on material sustainability topics. We did not identify any
material non-financial risks of this kind in the reporting year.
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We are continuously monitoring and increasing the granularity
of our risk assessment to better understand how our business
operations impact the environment and vice versa. We use
external and internal data to evaluate our impact on climate
change, water stress and consumption of resources as well as
how these factors pose a risk for our business. In 2023, we
implemented a process to include our sustainability opportunity
assessment as part of our central risk management system.
Risks and opportunities were also considered in the course of
our materiality analysis.

Our sustainability risk management approach involves assess-
ing the impact of our business activities on potentially affected
stakeholder groups as well as on the environment. This factor
has been incorporated in our risk management system and
risks are reviewed on an annual basis. Following a detailed
global human rights risk assessment in 2022, we conducted
around 20 country and site-level assessments during the
reporting year. These provided us with insights on previously
identified focus areas and stakeholders.

To evaluate the impact of physical and transition risks on our
business model in connection with climate change, we
initiated a physical climate scenario analysis. We plan to
continue conducting a transition risk assessment in 2024 to
evaluate risks related to our management of the transition to
renewable energy and climate neutrality. In addition, we are
reviewing potential impacts, risks and opportunities related to
biodiversity and pollution. We also continued to integrate the
recommendations of the TCFD into our enterprise risk
management approach.

More information on our enterprise risk management system
can be found in the “Risk and Opportunities Report” section of
the Group Management Report starting on page 69. More
information on our risk assessment on human and labor rights
can be found in the “Human Rights” section starting on
page 126, and the “Supplier Management” section starting on
page 125.
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Stakeholder inclusion

As a company with global operations, our business activities
affect many stakeholder groups. These include our patients,
employees, shareholders as well as the communities in which
we work. Representatives from academia, politics, media, and
international organizations are also important interest groups.
Communicating with relevant stakeholders is essential to
understand their expectations of our company. It is also an
important part of building trust and reliable partnerships and
helps us to share and gain knowledge, thereby promoting
scientific progress.

In the reporting year, we continued to participate in several
expert groups such as Kidney Care Partners and the Dialysis
Patient Citizens in the U.S. We also engaged with political
stakeholders and government offices, including the Govern-
ment Accountability Office and the Congressional Black and
Hispanic Caucuses in the U.S. In 2023, we engaged in close to
500 conversations with investors on sustainability topics such
as the environment, our sustainability strategy, and gover-
nance matters, especially in the context of the change in legal
form. Over 150 of these focused solely on labor-related topics.

We are subject to a wide range of legislative and regulatory
processes that affect our business. Therefore, we periodically
take part in policy discussions and collaborate with third
parties as part of our lobbying efforts. Our principles in
relation to these activities are stated in our Code of Ethics and
Business Conduct. They provide the basis for our political
dialogue in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
These principles also apply to our interactions with associa-
tions. We published a position paper on political engagement
and advocacy. Inthe U.S., we have a Political Action Committee
in place which gives eligible U.S. employees the opportunity to
participate voluntarily in public policy advocacy that impacts
our business and patients.
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To understand customers’ changing requirements globally
and adapt our product and service offering, we conducted an
analysis with internal experts across key markets. The results
will inform the development of our products and services
portfolio and influence how we offer our services. We also held
our first virtual sustainability summit for internal stakeholders
in the reporting year. During the event, the Company’s sustain-
ability community had the opportunity to learn about the
progress of key projects and strategies.

Our corporate citizenship strategy was modified in 2023 in line
with our business strategy and new organizational structure. A
global Corporate Citizenship Committee was established to
approve activity planning and donations. The new strategy
focuses our activities on donations linked to kidney care and
kidney disease. Through our support for different initiatives,
we aspire to expand access to health care and support health
equity, engage in medical education as well as reduce our
environmental footprint.

More information on our collaboration with research and
innovation partners can be found in the “Research and devel-
opment” section of the Group Management Report starting
on page 43. For information about our dialogue with employee
representatives, see the “Employees” section starting on
page 109. For information on how we collaborate to improve
health care, see our “Patients” section starting on page 101.
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EU Taxonomy

We report on our economic activities in accordance with the
EU Taxonomy Regulation (EU Taxonomy) for sustainable
activities. In 2022, we reported on the taxonomy-eligible and
taxonomy-aligned shares of economic activities that potentially
make a substantial contribution to climate change mitigation
and climate change adaptation as defined in the Climate
Delegated Act of the regulation. In June 2023, the EU Commis-
sion published the new Environmental Delegated Act covering
additional environmental objectives, pollution prevention and
control, among others.

It is important to emphasize that the delegated acts of the
EU Taxonomy, the respective annexes as well as the
supplementary publications contain wording, definitions, and
requirements which leave room for interpretation. As a result,
our conclusions might be subject to change over time due
to standardized interpretations and new publications by the
EU Commission.

Methodology

In 2023, we conducted an impact analysis of our operations
for all newly published economic activities to assess whether
one or more of our economic activities are eligible for EU
Taxonomy reporting. An economic activity is considered
taxonomy-eligible if it meets the definition in one of the
annexes of the EU Taxonomy. The conclusions of the impact
analysis were verified by experts in our business areas.

This analysis outcome results in a change in our EU Taxonomy
reporting. Previously, our revenue-generating business activities
were not covered by the climate-related environmental objec-
tives. Medical services including our dialysis care delivery and
medical devices, which together make up the majority of our
business, are currently not considered by the EU Taxonomy.
Even though our core business activities are still not covered
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by the regulation, in this year’s reporting we are able to disclose
taxonomy-eligible revenue, capital expenditures (Capex) and
operating expenditures (Opex) for the production of medicinal
products. Under the environmental objective of pollution
prevention and control, for example, some of the dialysis
solutions we produce are considered medicinal products. The
alignment assessment for this activity considered eligible
under the new Environmental Delegated Act, will be reported
in the 2024 Non-financial Group Report according to the
regulatory timeline.

We also re-evaluated our reporting on construction and real-
estate activities, compared with our EU Taxonomy reporting in
2022. Due to the nature of our business model, our construc-
tion and real-estate activities are focused on the provision of
health care. Accordingly, we carefully analyze on a case-by-
case basis if the buildings meet the specific requirements for
our operations, their accessibility and business continuity,
which includes a preference for long-term leases. Thereby, we
only have limited control over energy efficiency and other build-
ing characteristics related to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions.
Consequently, we regard construction and real-estate activi-
ties as individual measures, which are not primarily intended
for GHG reductions and no longer report them as eligible under
Capex C. This change in reporting also reflects the fact that
business activities in the health care industry are currently not
a focus of the EU Taxonomy. Nevertheless, we will continue to
monitor potential opportunities to reduce GHG in connection
with our building activities.

In the reporting year, activities relating to energy efficiency
equipment, energy performance devices and renewable
energy technologies are included in the reporting scope. By
definition, they pertain to GHG emission reductions. Please
refer to the chapter “Reducing our carbon footprint” on
page 116 of the Non-financial Group Report for information on
the implementation of energy management systems and the
installation of solar panels. The eligible activities described
above contribute to climate change mitigation and are
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therefore reported under this environmental objective. We do
not disclose any taxonomy-eligible activities that specifically
contribute to climate change adaptation wunder this
environmental objective. We did not generate revenue from
taxonomy-eligible activities relating to climate change adap-
tion, nor did we identify any related Capex or Opex. The
individual measures described in the technical screening
criteria make a substantial contribution to this climate
objective. However, as we are still preparing the required
climate risk and vulnerability assessments, there is currently
insufficient evidence that the individual measures fulfill the
criteria for doing no significant harm to other environmental
objectives. Therefore, in 2023, we cannot report our activities
relating to energy efficiency equipment, energy performance
devices and renewable energy technologies as being
taxonomy-aligned.

Key Performance Indicators

The EU Taxonomy defines three KPIs that must be disclosed:
the proportion of taxonomy-eligible and taxonomy-aligned
shares of revenue, Capex, and Opex. Key information
pertaining to each KPI is summarized below (see TABLE 3.6 on
page 100). We calculated the three KPIs based on the figures
in our financial reporting system, which ensures reconciliation
with the corresponding items in the consolidated financial
statements. Regarding the shares of our business activities
that are taxonomy-eligible and taxonomy-aligned, we identified
all relevant revenues, Capex, and Opex and allocated them
accordingly. By doing so, we ensure that our revenue, Capex
and Opex are not considered more than once.

Revenue

For the first time, part of our product portfolio is covered by
the regulatory scope of the EU Taxonomy. The eligible revenue
consists of sales to external customers of dialysis solutions



FRESENIUS
MEDICAL CARE 2023

TO OUR
SHAREHOLDERS

100

that are classified as medicinal products, and is compared to
total revenue (see TABLE 5.1 on page 198).

Capex

The EU Taxonomy distinguishes between three types of
Capex: Capex A refers to assets and processes related to
taxonomy-eligible economic activities. Our investments, for
example in machines used for the manufacturing of eligible
medicinal products, are therefore reported under Capex A.
Expenditures are allocated to the respective eligible product
on product line and site level. Capex B includes investments in
assets and processes that are covered by a Capex plan, and
is currently not considered of relevance for medicinal products
in scope of our Taxonomy reporting. Capex C refers to the
purchase of output or individual measures that enable green-
house gas reductions. Individual measures relating to energy
efficiency equipment, energy performance devices and
renewable energy technologies are reported as taxonomy-
eligible Capex C. In 2022, Capex C also included construction
and real-estate activities, which are not covered in 2023. Due
to the updated Capex C reporting, Capex was 0.3% in 2023
(2022: 0.2%).

Opex

Corresponding to the Capex A to C definitions, Taxonomy-
eligible Opex, such as maintenance and repair-related
expenditures for the manufacturing of medicinal products, is
classified as Opex A. Opex is allocated to the respective
eligible product for different product lines and sites. Similar to
Capex B, Opex B is not relevant for us. In addition, Opex
relating to energy efficiency equipment, energy performance
devices and renewable energy technology measures is
reported as taxonomy-eligible Opex C. In 2022, Opex C also
included construction and real-estate activities, which are not
covered in 2023. Due to the updated Opex C reporting, Opex
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T3.6

ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES TO TOTAL REVENUE, CAPEX, AND
IN %

Key Performance Indicators

OPEX'

Taxonomy-aligned

Taxonomy-eligible
but not aligned

CONTRIBUTION OF TAXONOMY-ALIGNED, TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE BUT NOT ALIGNED, AND TAXONOMY NON-ELIGIBLE

Taxonomy non-eligible

Revenue 1.5 98.5
Medicinal products 1.5

Capex 0.0 0.4 99.6
Medicinal products 0.1
Energy efficiency equipment 0.0
Energy performance devices 0.3
Renewable energy technologies 0.0

Opex 0.0 2.3 97.7
Medicinal products 2.2
Energy efficiency equipment 0.1
Energy performance devices 0.0
Renewable energy technologies 0.0

! For the full tables on revenue, Capex and Opex and the detailed KPI definitions, see page 128 of the Non-financial Group Report. The tables for nuclear energy and fossil gas are not included as we do not

have relevant business activities in these areas.

was 0.1% in 2023 (2022: 0.2%). In 2022, Opex C included
expenditures relating to charging stations.

Outlook

In 2024, we will focus on assessing the alignment of medicinal
products and whether eligible products make a substantial
contribution to pollution prevention and control while doing no
significant harm to the other environmental objectives. In
addition, we will evaluate our compliance with the minimum
safeguards. Furthermore, we plan to conduct climate risk and
vulnerability assessments for our energy efficiency equipment,
energy performance devices and renewable energy technol-
ogy activities. We will continuously monitor the development of
the EU Taxonomy and publications of the EU Commission.
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Patients

Progress

— Patient Net Promoter Score
improved to 72

— Published 176 scientific research
documents

— Signed the global Zero Health Gaps
Pledge to demonstrate commitment
to advance health equity

— Launched a Portfolio Sustainability
Assessment to evaluate the global
sustainability performance of our
products and services

Our patients’ well-being is our top priority. As part of our
commitment to delivering safe, high-quality health care to
patients with kidney disease, we continually monitor the
performance of our products and services. Our focus in doing
so is on the quality, safety and accessibility of treatment, and
on patient experience. We continuously invest in innovations
and new technologies, and leverage insights from scientific
research and cooperation with partners.

The Global Medical Office led by our Global Chief Medical
Officer drives our medical strategy and coordinates activities
that contribute to the advancement of medical science and
patient care. Medical and clinical insights identified by the
Global Medical Office are reviewed by multiple stakeholders
across the Company. These findings are published on a
regular basis and shared with the medical community. Our
Care Delivery organization works closely with the Global
Medical Office to deliver the best possible treatment and
thereby improve our patients’ quality of life.
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Quality of care

Our commitment to continuously improve quality of care
is included in our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct.
Principles, responsibilities, and processes in connection with
our medical strategy and quality measures, patient experience
surveys, and patient grievance mechanisms are outlined in our
Global Patient Care Policy. Responsibility for integrating the
policy into our business operations lies with our interdisciplinary
patient care teams across the globe.

As one of the global leaders in providing life-saving dialysis
treatments to patients, we operate in diverse health care
systems. This requires us to navigate regulations, payment
models, and operational frameworks for each market in which
we treat patients. Navigating these differences is a key chal-
lenge to effectively and efficiently provide care and maintain
compliance. This requires a deep understanding of local
health policies and an ability to adapt care delivery models
accordingly while maintaining high quality standards.

We continually measure and assess the quality of care we
provide in our dialysis clinics based on internationally recog-
nized standards. These include those of the global non-profit
“Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes” (KDIGO)
initiative, the U.S. National Kidney Foundation’s Disease
Outcomes Quality Initiative (KDOQI), and the European Renal
Best Practice guidelines. We also consider industry-specific
clinical benchmarks and set our own targets for patient care.

Monitoring quality of care

We evaluate medical indicators on an ongoing basis to measure
the quality of care provided in our dialysis clinics. The global
hospitalization rate measures the length of time a patient
spends in hospital. This is an important indicator, as hospital-
ization reflects patients’ medical complexity and impacts
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c3.7 GLOBAL INDICATORS - QUALITY OF CARE

Hospitalization Rate

— Days spent in hospital per patient per year

Quality Index

— Dialysis effectiveness: Measures how well the
body is cleaned of waste substances

— Vascular access: Measures the share of patients
who do not receive dialysis via a dialysis catheter

— Anemia management: Measures hemoglobin lev-
els and specific medications given during dialysis

health care payment systems and the medical infrastructure. It
also impacts patient experience. If the hospitalization rate
changes, we initiate an evaluation of the contributing factors
and identify opportunities to improve the quality of care. In
2023, the global hospitalization rate was 10.6 days per patient,
the same as in 2022.

We use a quality index to manage our high standard of quality
across the Care Delivery business segment. This indicator
enables us to continuously measure and improve our quality of
care on a global level. In 2023, our quality index score was
81%, the same as in 2022. We set country performance
targets for vascular access, dialysis efficacy and anemia
management based on local quality systems we have estab-
lished. These targets consider the specific circumstances of
local health care systems, the workforce and how we operate
in these regions. Our quality improvement initiatives are based
on annual assessments that reflect local needs and the
dynamic environment of the health care market (see CHART 3.7).



FRESENIUS
MEDICAL CARE 2023

TO OUR
SHAREHOLDERS

102

To further educate our medical community on quality improve-
ments, we plan to set up a new global training program that
will be piloted in the U.S. in 2024.

Patient experience

It is important to us that our patients feel comfortable and are
satisfied with the care they receive. As part of our global
patient experience program, we aim to conduct patient
experience surveys at least every other year. We use the infor-
mation collected to evaluate the services provided by our
dialysis clinics and implement improvement plans.

We are continually strengthening our efforts to improve patient
education, service quality and individualized patient care.
Based on the feedback from the patient surveys, we develop
educational programs that help clinic staff inform their patients
more comprehensively about health-related topics. Patient
treatment education and engagement delivery is provided
globally. Our regional and local teams of the Care Delivery
segment are responsible for patient education and initiatives,
including instructing patients according to their individual
needs and medical outcomes. Our patients have access to
information through various channels such as awareness
campaigns, patient apps, posters, factsheets, and guides, as
well as our website. Patient safety education covers topics
such as infection prevention, emotional health, preventing
falls, medication, and adhering to the prescribed treatment. To
involve our patients more actively, we provide education on
symptoms and possible complications so that they become
aware and know how to prevent and detect complications.

70

Annual Target

Achieve a Net Promoter Score
of at least
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They also learn how to alert the care team. All patient education
material is reviewed for suitability, readability, and appropriate-
ness before being published.

We measure patient experience in our dialysis clinics using the
Net Promoter Score. The NPS reflects patients’ overall
satisfaction with our services and how well cared for and
supported they feel. We have set ourselves a global target of
achieving an NPS of at least 70 every year which is above the
health care industry standard. In 2023, we were able to improve
our 2022 NPS by one point to 72 globally. Our NPS threshold
target demonstrates our aim to continuously attain excellent
scores and improve patients’ experience despite challenges
such as staffing shortages. We also measure the share of
patients that would recommend Fresenius Medical Care. In
the reporting year, 78% of our patients answered in our survey
that they would highly recommend our services. In addition to
the NPS, we track survey coverage and response rates. In
2023, we achieved a response rate of 74% and a global
coverage rate of 91% in line with our target of 75% or above.

In addition to patient experience surveys, we provide patients
and their representatives with other feedback channels.
Patients can report grievances, make suggestions, or raise
concerns anonymously if they wish. Our feedback channels
include hotlines and email addresses, complaint and sugges-
tion boxes, as well as a feedback form on our website. In 2023,
we received 22,408 reports (2022: 23,011). We are committed
to resolving issues in a timely manner. Our policies allow
patients to file reports without fear of reprisal. We also provide
training locally to support staff in following patient grievance
guidelines. Refresher trainings that follow local and regional
training guidelines are held yearly or every two years. A
detailed description of our approach to handling complaints is
available on our website.

More information about handling complaints can be found in
the “Compliance” section of this Non-financial Group Report
starting on page 120.
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Access to health care

We are committed to improving access to health care and are
working to provide affordable treatment to a growing number
of patients worldwide. Our focus is on improving both access
to care and level-of-care outcomes. Topics include barriers to
access such as cost and ease of travel to our dialysis clinics,
lack of education on kidney disease, and treatment options.
We aim to increase the number of patients on home dialysis as
well as those who receive kidney transplants. We also have
crisis contingency processes in place so that patients have
continued access to treatment during disaster and emergency
situations.

Health equity

We believe that every patient, regardless of their ethnic origin
or race, nationality, age, ability, gender identity, sexual orienta-
tion, religion, or socio-economic status, should be given equal
opportunities and support to maintain and improve their
health. Our Global Health Equity Statement outlines our
commitment to expand our knowledge and services in ways
that advance equity in care. To underline our commitment, we
have signed the first global Zero Health Gaps Pledge - the first
ever global, multi-sector, CEO-level pledge to help advance
health equity launched by the Global Health Equity Network.
As a signatory, we commit to carrying out meaningful action
and collaboration toward health equity.

As part of our efforts to build knowledge about health equity
among health care providers, we developed and introduced
education modules of social determinants of health (SDOH) in
the U.S. in 2023. We recognize that non-medical factors that
influence health outcomes are interlinked and have a direct
impact on people’s health. Providing education on SDOH is
foundational to evolving our approach to person-centered care.
The education modules differ by clinical role and are mandatory
for employees with specific clinical responsibilities in the U.S.
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In 2023, our U.S. dialysis business piloted a program in the
state of lllinois with the nation’s leading social care network
focused on patients’ health-related social needs. As part of
the pilot program, the social workers in dialysis clinics offered
standardized screening for health-related social needs.

One of the Group-wide initiatives undertaken this year involved
a qualitative assessment of global perspectives on health
equity. The Global Medical Office conducted interviews with
participants in 17 countries across Asia-Pacific, Europe,
Middle East and Africa and Latin America. The interviews
identified gaps and opportunities to advance health equity in
these regions.

In 2024, we intend to establish a global governance for health
equity and create a framework for the use of global data to
identify health disparities. This updated approach accounts
for organizational changes as a result of our transformation.

Supporting patients in
underserved communities

Our Corporate Citizenship activities focus on areas in which
we as a health care company can contribute to society, such
as health equity and access to health care, prevention and
medical education. In the course of expanding the Kidney Kid
program to the U.S. in 2023, we engaged over 26,000 youths
in various programs on health education. Food security and
access to healthy meals are important aspects for people with
chronic kidney disease. To support high-risk, high-need
populations, we partnered with the Food is Medicine Coalition
(FIMC) in the U.S., an association of non-profit medically
tailored meal providers, and contributed to its Food is
Medicine Accelerator program.

Demand for affordable health care products and services is
growing in emerging markets. To facilitate access to dialysis
treatment, we developed the 4008A dialysis machine series.
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These machines meet high therapy standards while reducing
costs for health care systems. They are designed to be easy to
handle and combine high-quality hemodialysis treatment with
proven reliability and operational efficiency. Since 2019, the
4008A series has been successfully launched in nine emerging
markets in Asia.

Treatment options

We treat patients across the full spectrum of chronic kidney
disease. Our aim is to empower them to make informed
decisions about the treatment options that best fit their unique
circumstances. Home dialysis can provide patients with the
opportunity for greater independence and control over their
time and health outcomes. It also allows us to expand our
health care capacity, increasing the number of patients that
can receive dialysis treatment.

As part of our ongoing approach to harmonize reporting and
data, we adjusted our calculation methodology for global
home patient data in 2023. U.S.-specific methodology for data
on the number of home treatments performed and patients on
home dialysis remains unchanged and is consistent with
previous reporting.

As of December 31, 2023, the number of our patients receiving
dialysis at home worldwide was 31,258 (2022: 30,888), corre-
sponding to 9% of our total patient base (2022: 9%). In the
reporting year, 16% of treatments in the U.S. were performed
in a home setting. Throughout the year, we educated new
patients on home modalities. In the U.S., we informed over
57,000 people living with chronic kidney disease or end-stage
kidney disease about their home dialysis options in 2023, with
the support of more than 200 internal kidney care advocates.
In the U.S., where we experience higher rates of home therapy
adoption, we have launched health equity initiatives that focus
on identifying barriers to home therapy and interventions with
the aim of increasing patient success with this modality.
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2027 Target
Perform

25%

As the decision by patients to receive dialysis at home is
influenced by numerous factors, achieving our aspirational
goal of performing 25% of treatments in the U.S. in a home
setting is expected to require more time. It may be delayed by
18 to 24 months. This is partly due to the pandemic, which
lasted longer than expected, and the impact of a challenging
situation on the labor market. We now aim to achieve our goal
by 2027.

of dialysis treatments
in the U.S.
in a home setting”

* Target extended

In 2023, we initiated several projects in the U.S. to streamline
ways in which we provide our services. We evaluated our
services according to different criteria: adherence to treat-
ment, patient admissions and referrals, accessibility for
patients, medication and pharmacy options. These initiatives
aim to improve patient education, reduce the number of
missed treatments, provide convenient channels for medication
management, and retain new patients. We also worked with
the Medical Education Institute, a U.S.-based NGO, to roll out
its My Kidney Life Plan program to Germany and Sweden. The
program helps people living with chronic kidney disease to
learn about the different treatment options and choose the
treatment that best fits their lifestyle and conditions.

In 2023, Fresenius Medical Care conducted the CONVINCE
trial together with the CONVINCE consortium led by the
University Medical Center Utrecht. The study demonstrated
that the mortality rate among kidney patients can be signifi-
cantly reduced with high-volume hemodiafiltration (HDF)
technology. As one of the leading providers of dialysis
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products, we aim to explore ways to encourage the adoption
of hemodiafiltration and make this therapeutic option accessi-
ble to patients in countries where it is currently not available,
such as in the U.S.

Improving access to kidney
transplantation

Kidney transplantation is the treatment of choice for most
patients with advanced chronic kidney disease and end-stage
renal disease. Our Head of Transplantation Medicine leads our
worldwide efforts to improve access to transplantation for our
patients. In 2023, we completed the initial rollout of our Referral
Ready IT platform in our U.S.-based clinics. This platform
provides our clinic staff with a simple tool to compile a
complete transplant referral with nearly 170 different data
points. The platform also securely transmits the referal to
appropriate transplant centers. Designed together with trans-
plant professionals, the Referral Ready platform has delivered
referrals to nearly 200 transplant centers in the U.S. Since its
rollout in April 2023, we have registered a significant increase
in the number of referrals compared to 2022. Cumulatively,
from January to December 2023 we observed an increase in
new referrals of 42% compared to the same time period
in 2022.

Crisis and emergency response

We provide access to health care even under challenging
circumstances, for example, in the case of health crises or
natural disasters. This is a core part of our commitment to
patients. We have clinics all over the globe and must be
prepared to adapt to different environmental, geographic,
social, and economic conditions. These clinics serve a vulner-
able population of patients who need dialysis treatment
several times a week. To allow us to continue treating our
patients in challenging situations, we have reorganized our
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emergency response to support the Company’s new operating
model. To this end, we have implemented a Global Incident
and Crisis Response (ICR) Committee comprising country
teams for an immediate response at a local level.

In order to be ready in times of emergency, we regularly test our
emergency response procedures and assess our service safety.
The support we provide includes humanitarian goods as well as
donating dialysis supplies to organizations that require and
request support in regions affected by crisis events.

In 2023, we initiated crisis response measures during several
disasters and in volatile situations. In the summer of 2023, our
disaster response team was dispatched when a major fire
swept through the Hawaiian island of Maui. As an active
member of the Hawaii Healthcare Emergency Management,
our local team helped coordinate response calls with all
providers, organized the shipment of supplies, and made sure
that our home patients could receive in-center treatment due
to the disruption of the supply chain and the ability to get
supplies for home therapy to the island.

In the wake of the war in the Middle East, our Israeli team has
taken measures to make sure that operations and services
to our patients were continued uninterrupted. In addition to
keeping our own clinics operating, they work with local hospi-
tals and other smaller local care providers to organize the safe
transfer, treatment and care of patients. In the reorting year,
we have also provided essentials and medical support to
areas impacted by crises and disasters, such as Morocco,
Sudan, Ukraine and Turkey, among others. This included
donating and loaning life-saving equipment including dialyzers
as well as adult and pediatric HD blood lines.
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Advancing health care

We are committed to advancing health care while upholding
ethical standards and managing related risks. As stipulated in
our Bioethics Principles position paper, we advocate patient
rights and respect animal welfare. It is important to us that our
research partners adhere to guidelines that are similar to our own.

Scientific research

We strive to make the results of our research activities available
to the broader public to help advance health care. In 2023, we
published 176 scientific documents worldwide. These covered
topics such as impacts on renal transplantation, health literacy
and utilization of artificial intelligence in machine learning.

We carry out scientific research to support our goal of
continuously improving the care we provide to patients. This
includes facilitating clinical trials as a crucial step in developing
new treatments. We are also exploring data-based methods
that allow us to advance care by means of mathematic modelling,
artificial intelligence, and virtual clinical trial simulations. Our
research and development activities follow regulatory guidance
for clinical research practices and comply with ethical standards.
In the reporting year, we completed three clinical trials.

In 2023, we developed a universally structured global dialysis
dataset called Apollo Dial DB. This is a fully anonymized,
global analytics platform that uses harmonized and uniformly
structured patient treatment data. It is expected to improve
both the speed and the robustness of our analytical capabili-
ties to provide consistency in global analytics. It is currently
part of a global research project to assess the feasibility of
expanding the Anemia Control Model, an artificial intelligence
model used in many countries to optimize the benefits of
medications that stimulate the production of red blood
cells and iron therapies in dialysis patients (see page 106 for
more details).
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Our Frenova Renal Research Institute provides research
services to third parties. Work on a project aimed at developing
the largest renal-focused genomic registry in the world is
ongoing. We have adjusted our goal to enroll 50,000 patients
(initial goal: 100,000) by 2025. Based on new research insights,
achieving the adjusted goal will enable us to meet our research
needs. The registry will contain genetic data from patients with
chronic kidney disease worldwide, with the aim of fostering
collaboration amongst researchers and improving their under-
standing of kidney disease and treatments.

We are also part of the European “Initiatives on advancing
patients’ outcomes in renal disease” (INSPIRE). This is an
academic and industry project set up to identify critical inves-
tigations, models and insights to advance medical practice in
nephrology. Presently, the INSPIRE group is actively advancing
the nephrology communitiy’s understanding of bleeding
events in dialysis patients.

More information about our scientific research and the
Frenova Renal Research division can be found in the Group
Management Report in the sections “Opportunities manage-
ment” starting on page 85 and “Research and development”
starting on page 43.

Portfolio Sustainability Assessment

In 2023, we launched a Portfolio Sustainability Assessment
in order to evaluate the sustainability performance of our
products and services. The assessment aims to provide
greater transparency on our portfolio’s sustainability taking
into account social and environmental contributions as well as
economic aspects. It creates a basis for strategic portfolio
decisions that systematically consider our sustainability
impact (portfolio steering).

By defining performance criteria and applying performance
thresholds, we plan to assess significant social contributions
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2026 Target

Implement a sustainability performance assessment
of our relevant product and services portfolio

and the environmental impact of our products and services in
relation to their profitability. Our significant social contributions
pertain to how we improve our quality of care and advance
health care in underserved markets. The environmental impact
analysis includes aspects such as our carbon footprint and
consumption of resources or recyclability in production and
care delivery. We obtain the data from environmental assess-
ments of locations and product types.

We intend to gradually implement the Portfolio Sustainability
Assessment as a standard operating procedure to evaluate all
products and services by 2026. In 2023, a pilot assessment
was conducted to establish the feasibility of the methodology.
One service group and one product group that jointly account
for almost 60% of revenue were included in the assessment
scope, and more than 4,000 of our locations and 17 product
types were reviewed during the year. In 2024, we aim to
increase revenue coverage to 75%.

Innovation and digitalization

Innovation and digitalization are important strategic elements
that contribute to our success. In line with our Code of Ethics
and Business Conduct, we aim to develop innovative, safe,
and user-friendly digital products and systems that meet our
quality standards. Our goal is to further improve the quality
and efficiency of care. To this end, we are continuously devel-
oping digital products and services designed to improve
access to and advance health care. Our Care Enablement
segment oversees the development of our products. The
Global Medical Office is responsible for our clinical digitaliza-
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tion strategies and the use of digital clinical data for research
and operations.

To access the latest innovative technologies, we invest in
research and development and collaborate with external
partners, including academic institutions. In 2023, we launched
a global event aimed at fostering innovation in our product
business. As part of this, the most important innovation
challenges, such as sustainability and efficiency improve-
ments, were defined by the respective business functions,
and employees were encouraged to develop new ideas
and solutions.

In 2023, we continued to develop digital options with the aim
of empowering patients to actively manage their own health
and improve clinical outcomes. Our digital platforms enable
virtual contact, keeping patients and care teams connected.
The platforms provide easy access to the latest treatment
data, which is vital to monitor and improve medical outcomes,
patient experience and the effectiveness of care.

We provide two patient engagement platforms that are acces-
sible via apps. Our PatientHub app is used predominantly
in the U.S., while our MyCompanion app is available in 24
countries in Europe, Africa, Asia-Pacific and Latin America. In
the U.S., we recorded nearly 162,000 remote telehealth visits
between patients, care teams, and physicians via the Patient-
Hub app by the end of 2023. The MyCompanion app was
launched in Australia and the Philippines in the reporting year.
Combined, the PatientHub and MyCompanion apps had more
than 27,000 active users in 2023 (2022: 25,000). They were
widely adopted due to restrictions in interpersonal contact
during the COVID-19 pandemic.

We also use virtual reality and gamification technologies to
support health care professionals in training their patients in
home dialysis procedures. Our virtual reality tool is currently
available in eleven centers in Germany and has been piloted in
an additional four.
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For more information about research and development, please
see the “Research and development” section of the Group
Management Report starting on page 43.

Collaborating to improve health care

We work with external organizations to advance research,
scientific progress and clinical care. This includes areas such
as computational medicine, data analytics and technology to
accelerate their translation into applied medicine. In 2023, our
Global Medical Office’'s Affairs, Transplant Medicine, and
Clinical Advanced Analytics divisions, and the Renal Research
Institute were involved in 65 key partnerships with academia,
research institutes and peers. Focus areas included cardio-
protection, personalized and precise medicine, public health
and the impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable patient populations.

In the reporting year, we continued our efforts to share best
practices relating to dialysis treatment. Worldwide, nearly 2,800
people attended external workshops hosted by us on topics
such as in-center therapies, home dialysis and critical care. We
also organized 235 webinars on various dialysis product and
care-related subjects and developed an open global e-learning
course on best practices in dialysis care. The webinars were
viewed by over 18,000 attendees in 2023, and the e-learning
course was attended by more than 82,000 participants.

A further focus is on expanding access to and improving trans-
plantation medicine processes by investing in innovative
programs and solutions. In addition to the work being done on
transplantation by the Global Medical Office, the Fresenius
Medical Care Foundation collaborates with leading organiza-
tions in the U.S. to raise awareness and provide support to
people living with kidney disease.

More information on our collaboration with research and innova-
tion partners can be found in the “Research and development”
section of the Group Management Report starting on page 43.
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Product stewardship

We aim to develop safe, high-quality products that meet the
demands and needs of patients and their caregivers. Our
approach takes into consideration social and environmental
aspects along the value chain as well as developing solutions
that enable us to contribute to advancing the quality of care we
provide. Thanks to our global network of production sites, we
control the procurement, production, distribution and supply
of products for renal and multi-organ therapy. We manage
quality and safety in our product business over the entire
product life cycle, from their design and development to
operation and application.

As we strive to enhance our competitiveness and foster a
culture of innovation, we implemented an innovation manage-
ment IT system across our Care Enablement organization to
drive innovation, efficiency and continuous improvement. To
measure the effectiveness of our innovation efforts, we aim to
develop a global KPI by the end of 2024.

We are subject to governmental regulation in nearly every
country in which we operate. This includes, for example, EU
legislation on the Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and
Restriction of Chemicals (REACH) and the Restriction of Haz-
ardous Substances (RoHS). Further relevant regulations are
the Medical Device Directive (MDD) as well as the Medical
Device Regulation (MDR). In addition, we comply with the
Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) of the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (FDA).

Product safety and quality

Our products must comply with safety and quality standards
concerning product development, manufacturing, their use in
clinics, customer training and the handling of complaints.
These standards are embedded in our Global Product Busi-
ness Policy. This is taken as the basis for Global Management
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Enhance quality of care and access to
health care

Improving patient care with artificial intelligence

Apollo Dial DB is the foundation for our global long-term digital and
artificial intelligence aspirations. Apollo Dial DB is an anonymized
database that combines patient data from multiple clinical systems
throughout the world into a central cloud environment that is
accessible worldwide.

The database provides a detailed insight into the clinical care we
provided to more than 540,000 patients on life-saving dialysis treat-
ments. It aggregates data from 40 countries across six continents on
more than 350 patient treatment parameters, over 140 million dialysis
treatments, and more than 34 million laboratory assessments. The
goal of the database is to increase both the speed and the robustness
of the Company’s analytical capabilities, while allowing for more
consistency and transparency in global reporting and analytics.

Apollo Dial DB holds great promise as a platform that provides
insights to accelerate the real-world advancement of patient care.
We aim to improve health outcomes by making kidney disease care
more personalized and precise.
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System manuals covering management responsibilities, docu-
ment control, training, risk management and audits that are
required to fulfill national and international regulations. Our
Care Enablement segment oversees product safety and
quality. It aims to identify potential risks of medical devices
and assures the effectiveness and quality of products
throughout their lifecycle. The Management Board is regularly
informed about our global quality and safety performance.

For all our medical devices, diagnostics, and pharmaceuticals,
we assess and manage the risks to and impact on the health
and safety of our patients. Risk and impact assessments are
performed according to international standards such as ISO
14971 and ICH Q9.

In 2023, in the course of implementing our global FME25
transformation program, we started to consolidate our
management systems for quality, environmental manage-
ment and occupational health and safety into a unified global
management system. This new system will enable us to facil-
itate decision-making and increase efficiency in our everyday
work, among other aspects.

As part of this project, we have also consolidated our training
processes. In 2024, we plan to roll out our new global elec-
tronic training system.

Certification and audits

We regularly carry out internal audits to review the design and
operating effectiveness of our management systems as well as
compliance with internal and regulatory standards. This
includes quality management systems certified according to,
for example, ISO 9001 and ISO 13485 (see TABLE 3.8). Our
production sites are also subject to regular external quality
audits that review the implementation of the management
system in accordance with local requirements. Audits are
carried out according to local regulations, Good Manufacturing

" Production sites managed by the Manufacturing and Supply Chain division.

Practice (GMP), current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP),
ISO 9001, ISO 13485, or the Medical Device Single Audit
Program (MDSAP).

We have defined KPIs to monitor our quality objectives and
prevent adverse events. In 2023, more than 58 certification
audits (2022: 50) were performed at our production sites. All
audit findings are documented and escalated depending
on their criticality and used to determine and implement
appropriate corrective and preventive measures.

We have set ourselves the target of achieving an average global
audit score that does not exceed 1.0 in order to maintain the
effectiveness of our quality management systems and certifica-
tions. This score indicates the ratio of major and critical findings
to the number of external audits. In 2023, we achieved an audit
score of 0.4 (2022: 0.3). The increase was related to findings
during an external audit at one of our sites in the U.S. It identified
areas of improvement in relation to cGMP (see TABLE 3.9).

Annual Target

Keep global key
performance indicator
for critical and major
audit findings below

1.0
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T3.8 CERTIFICATION OF OUR PRODUCTION SITES T3.9 AUDIT SCORE

IN %
Production sites certified' 2023 2022

Certification 2023 2022 Audit score' 0.4 0.3

1SO 9001/13485 75 77 " Production sites managed by the Manufacturing and Supply Chain division.

GMP/cGMP 44 46

MDSAP 28 29

Post-market surveillance

Post-market surveillance, or the act of monitoring products
that have been released to the market, is an integral part of
our quality management. It is essential that our products are
effective and safe to use as well as reliable in their role in
sustaining our patients’ lives. Our standards for planning,
conducting, and monitoring clinical studies help us enhance
the quality and safety of our products. Should any issue arise
concerning the safety of our products, we follow a clear
protocol and take corrective action. Depending on the severity
of the issue, this could range from publishing further informa-
tion and data on the product after market introduction to
recalling the product from the market. There were 3 recalls
(2022: 2) of medical devices and no recalls (2022: none) of
medicinal products in 2023 in all global markets excluding the
U.S. In the U.S. there were 7 recalls (2022: 9) of drugs and
devices in 2023 in the form of removals, corrections, or alerts.
We adhere to legal and regulatory requirements in monitoring
the adverse effects of drugs — also known as pharmacovigi-
lance — and medical devices. We collect, review and transpar-
ently report on information relating to adverse events and
product complaints. This topic is incorporated in our Code of
Ethics and Business Conduct.

More information on quality management at our production
sites can be found in the “Quality management” section of the
Group Management Report starting on page 47.
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Employees

Progress

— Increased share of women in the
top two management levels below
Management Board to 34%

— Achieved an average number of
38 training hours per employee in
2023

— Became a signatory with the United
Nations Women’s Empowerment
Principles, the German Charter for
Diversity, and the CEO Action for
Diversity and Inclusion

Our people are key to successfully implementing Fresenius
Medical Care’s strategy. Hiring and retaining the best
employees, inspiring them to stay with us long-term, and
supporting their development is a foundation of our business
success globally, both now and in the future. We aim to
cultivate a working culture in which each individual feels
valued and part of a winning team.

We developed a global Human Resource (HR) strategy in 2023
that supports our key business priorities, while also focusing
on external market forces and our current internal talent land-
scape. The HR strategy comprises three pillars: strategic HR
business partnering in line with our operating segments,
centers of excellence, and HR operations that support adminis-
trative processes relating to all areas of employment as
efficiently as possible.

Our Global Human Resources function, which reports to the
CEQ, is responsible for coordinating our employment-related
processes worldwide. We are continuously developing and
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c3.10 EMPLOYEES ACROSS REGIONS

0%

North America
(%

Men 28 %
Women 2%

South America
Men 32%

Women 68 %

Men

Women

improving the HR standards that govern our global activities.
Our global HR policies provide the framework for our strategic
approach to talent management, diversity, equity and inclusion.

At the end of 2023, Fresenius Medical Care had 119,845
employees worldwide (2022: 128,044) (see CHART 3.10). Most
of our employees work in our Care Delivery segment (74%),
followed by the Care Enablement segment (23%). The region
with the largest number of employees is North America (56%),
followed by Europe, the Middle East, and Africa (24%). In the
year under review, we hired around 25,000 new employees. The
average tenure of our employees increased from 7.9 years in

Ao,

Europe, Middle
East and Africa

3%

34 %
o Asia-Pacific
Men 34 %
Women 66 %
Employees

2022 to 8.2 years in 2023 (see TABLE 3.11 on page 112 for an
overview of key employee figures).

In line with the targets of our FME25 transformation program,
we continued to identify and select leaders to fill top positions
in the new organizational structure. The FME25 Transformation
Office initiated additional activities to address topics such as
change management, employee engagement, listening and
giving feedback, including country manager calls, launching
a transformation catalyst network and introducing feedback
mechanisms. Via the transformation catalyst network we
hosted listening sessions, during which employees and teams
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in different functions around the world could join on a voluntary
basis to share feedback, comments and thoughts on the
FME25 transformation program.

To support our employees worldwide, in 2023, we decided
to expand the Fresenius Medical Care CARES Fund to all
employees starting in 2024. The CARES Fund was created
following Hurricane Katrina to help U.S. employees who were
facing financial hardship immediately after a natural disaster
or an unforeseen personal hardship. It is managed by an
independent philanthropy services firm which reviews and
evaluates all applications for assistance and administers the
grants. In 2023, the CARES Fund supported 1,623 employees
in the U.S., Ukraine, Turkey, and Israel totaling nearly $1.6 M
(€1.7 M) in grants.

Attracting, developing, and
retaining talent

We aim to remain an attractive employer and continue to
recruit, engage, and retain excellent employees. To strengthen
our competitive position, we are further expanding our learning
and development opportunities, career planning and benefits.

We are committed to providing all employees with a range of
learning and development opportunities for their individual
career path. As we operate in a regulated environment, it is
also critical to our success that we continuously develop our
employees’ skills and train them in line with best practices to
maintain operational and regulatory compliance.

In 2023, employees completed an average of over 38 hours
of training. We conducted training evaluation surveys in the
U.S. to determine the effectiveness of our education courses
and programs. We expect to expand these surveys in the
coming years by leveraging a new global learning manage-
ment system.
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We aim to continuously increase the use of our online learning
platforms to allow employees to pursue their career goals and
interests in a self-directed manner. In this context, we have
developed a global learning measurement strategy that aims
to improve the learning experience and drive employee
engagement. In 2023, more than 143,000 employees world-
wide (2022: 156,000) participated in training courses on our
digital learning platforms on topics such as compliance,
leadership, health and safety. In the U.S., we increased the
number of leaders with direct reports that completed our
regional leadership development program to 1,469 in 2023
(2022: 781), primarily by including it in the clinical leader training.

We identify individual learning needs in conversations with
employees on their development and career. The performance
management module in our global HR system that we imple-
mented in 2023 allows managers and employees to work
together to plan, monitor, and review each employee’s devel-
opment goals, performance and overall contribution to the
success of the organization. The module is currently accessible
to 70% of our employees, surpassing the goal of a 50%
coverage that we set for ourselves in 2022. We intend to make
this process available to the remaining employees by the end
of 2026.

Our voluntary turnover rate was 16.9% in 2023 (2022: 19.9%)).
We believe this reflects the effectiveness of our measures to
retain employees. For example, in the U.S., we launched an
Engagement Check-In program in 2023, encouraging clinic
and field leadership to conduct one-to-one conversations with
employees to understand what is going well and where there
is room for improvement. Both internal and external research
has found these “stay interviews” to be an effective method of
improving employee engagement and retention.

We were once again named one of Newsweek’s Most Loved
Workplaces in the U.S. for the third consecutive year, putting
us among the top 100 companies in terms of employee
satisfaction at work. Our China team earned a place in the Top
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Employers of China, also for the third consecutive year. In
addition, we received an award in Singapore from HR Asia
Best Companies to Work for in Asia™ 2023 (Singapore Edition).

Employee engagement

We strive to give every employee the opportunity to provide
feedback and engage in open and honest dialogue directly
with company representatives. Our Global Engagement Policy
outlines our approach to conducting regular engagement
surveys and responding to the results. We use these surveys
to identify strengths that we can continue to build on, as well
as opportunities to improve our culture and work environment.
Our global target, which we set ourselves in 2022, is to achieve
an employee engagement score by 2027 that is in line with the
health care industry benchmark of 63%. Our overall employee
engagement score is based on the extent to which employees
speak positively about working at Fresenius Medical Care,
whether they intend to stay with the Company, and how
inspired they are to do their best work every day.

During the reporting year, we conducted our fourth global
employee engagement survey. Over 71,000 employees partic-
ipated, corresponding to a response rate of 68%, slightly down
from the prior year (71%). Our global employee engagement
score for the reporting period was 55%, which is consistent
with last year’s results. Given the continued challenges we
experienced during the reporting year, including a health care
labor shortage, ongoing organizational transformation, and the

2027 Target

Achieve an Employee Engagement Score of at least 63%

2023 _ 5%
" O o
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sustained impact of COVID-19, the results reflect our effort
and commitment to building an engaged, global team.
Managers were provided with training to understand the
results in order to get their teams involved and develop team-
level action plans.

We continue to monitor the extent to which our employees feel
a sense of belonging at work. We consider this an important
driver of overall employee engagement and a critical aspect of
the diverse and inclusive culture we foster across the
Company. As in the previous year, 69% of employees expressed
a sense of belonging at work. In addition to the employee
engagement score, the results of our engagement survey are
reflected in a global employee engagement index. This index
rates the same three questions that make up our engagement
score on a scale from 1 (I fully disagree) to 6 (I fully agree). As in
2022, our employee engagement index in 2023 was 4.4.

In 2023, Fresenius Medical Care deployed various initiatives
to encourage employee welfare and provide support to
employees. For example, we organized a comprehensive
campaign to help managers support employees and offer
tools to combat burnout and stress.

Compensation and benefits

We are committed to providing fair compensation and benefits
to our employees and strive to develop compensation and
benefit packages that attract and retain motivated staff. We
offer employees total rewards packages that are designed to
reflect the relative value of each job and support career
progression in line with market trends and local requirements.
In 2023, we further refined our global rewards strategy by
assessing our existing approach and incorporating company
developments. In the coming years, we plan to establish a
consistent, global compensation and benefits offering. Our
key priorities in doing so will be to review our global job
architecture and harmonize programs, processes and stan-
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dards, such as incentive plans, salary structures, benefit
offerings and eligibility.

As outlined in our Fair Pay Statement, we are committed to
applying fair pay and compensation principles to employees.
We focus on developing pay structures that are market-
competitive and internally equitable. Our pay structures are
also designed to support career progression and reward and
incentivize measurable performance.

Our long-term incentive plan aims to enable leaders and key
talents to participate in our company’s long-term value creation.
More than 1,200 employees participated in the long-term
incentive plan in 2023, similar to 2022.

Information on personnel expenses can be found in the
“Employees” section of the Group Management Report starting
on page 46.

Diversity, equity, and inclusion

We believe that promoting diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI)
benefits all employees. Our aspiration is to make everyone in
the Company feel safe, welcome, and appreciated, and to
cultivate a sense of belonging. This is also incorporated in our
Code of Ethics and Business Conduct. We have three global
policies in place that outline our approach to advance our DEI
strategy: the Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Policy, the
Employee Resource Group Policy and the Diverse Candidate
Slate Policy. To underline our commitment, we have become a
signatory of the United Nations Women’s Empowerment
Principles, the German Charter for Diversity and the CEO
Action for Diversity and Inclusion.

By the end of 2027, we aim to increase the share of women in
the first level below the Management Board to 35%, and the
share of women in the second level to 45%. The first manage-
ment level below the Management Board includes all managers
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2027 Target

Percentage of women in leadership positions:

— In the first level below the Management Board

s

— In the second level below the Management Board

2023 _ 36%
e

45%

worldwide who report directly to a member of the Management
Board and participate in the long-term incentive plan. The
second management level includes all managers worldwide
who report directly to a manager of the first management level
and participate in the long-term incentive plan. As of December
31, the proportion of women in the first two levels below the
Management Board was 34% (2022: 30%).

We also set ourselves the goal of increasing the representa-
tion of women in management positions so that it reflects the
percentage of women in the global employee population by

2030 Targets

— Increase the representation of women in
management positions to reflect the percentage
of women in the global employee population

— Increase the representation of ethnically diverse
managers in the U.S. year over year
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2030. As of December 31, 2023, 61% of our managers were
female, while women accounted for 70% of our total
workforce. Furthermore, we aim to grow the proportion of
ethnically diverse managers in the U.S. year-on-year by 2030.
At the end of 2023, 32% of managers in the U.S. self-
identified as being in a race and ethnicity category defined by
the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission as
ethnically diverse compared to 31% in 2022.

Providing leadership development opportunities for women
and underrepresented groups through education and oppor-
tunities to connect across the globe was a key focus of our DEI
initiatives in 2023. As part of our efforts, we educated more
than 1,400 employees on reflective leadership, with an
emphasis on building trust and fostering inclusion, authentic-
ity and empowerment. In addition, almost 2,000 women
participated in a three-part workshop hosted by our Women’s
Employee Resource Group (ERG) with a focus on owning
development, personal branding and the importance of
conversations on personal development.

One of the ways we promote a diverse and supportive environ-
ment is by encouraging employees to form and join an ERG, in
which they can build community, develop leadership skills and
connect with colleagues across the globe. ERGs also provide
a platform for employees to engage with the Company’s
mission, values, business objectives and sustainability efforts.
Some ERGs, such as those for women or for different ethnic
groups, are specifically designed to foster a sense of inclusion
and belonging in the workplace. We continue to have 16 active
ERGs, with more than 6,000 employees involved in one or
more ERGs. We expect these numbers to continue to grow as
more employees engage in such groups.

More information on gender diversity in the Management
Board, the Supervisory Board, and at the two levels below the
Management Board can be found in the “Diversity concept
and targets” section of the Corporate Governance Declaration
starting on page 147.
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Employment overview 2023 2022 Employee retention 2023 2022
Employees' 119,845 128,044 Voluntary turnover rate (%)* 16.9 19.9
Employees (FTE) 112,382 120,216 External hire rate (%)° 20.6 26.0
Staff costs in € M 7,768 7,939 Average service length in years 8.2 7.9
Average staff costs per employee (€/FTE) 67,302 64,975

Demographic 2023 2022

Employees per region (%) 2023 2022 Average age in years 43 44
Europe, Middle East, Africa (incl. Germany) 24 24 Share of employees under 30 (%) 14 15
Germany 6 6 Share of employees between 30 and 50 (%) 58] 55
North America 56 55 Share of employees 50+ (%) 31 30
Asia-Pacific 13 12
Latin America 7 9 ::3::;1 /uo)verall and at different leadership 2023 2022
Employees per functional area (%) 2023 2022 Company overall 0 69
Production and services 86 86 Supervisory Board % 83
Administration? 5 . Management Board 40 40
Sales and marketing? 7 6 First management level® 24 26
Research and development ] ] Second management level” 36 31
Employees per segment (%)? 2023 2022 Employee engagement (%) 2023 2022
Care Delivery 74 Engagement score® 58 55
Care Enablement o3 Participation rate 68 71
Global Medical Office <1
Global functions and administration 3

" Headcount includes all regular, fixed term contract and temporary employees. Calculation based on headcount if not otherwise stated.

2 Restated due to adjusted methodology.

¢ Data provided for the first time in 2023 following the implementation of the FME25 transformation program.

4 Calculated as the number of employees who left the organization voluntarily in relation to the number of employees at the end of the year.

¢ Calculated as the number of employees who joined the organization in relation to the number of employees at the end of the year.

% Includes all managers worldwide who directly report to a member of the Management Board and participate in the long-term incentive plan.

7 Includes all managers worldwide who directly report to a manager in the first level below the Management Board and participate in the long-term incentive plan.
& Calculated based on the percentage of affirmative responses to three questions in the engagement survey (see section on employee engagement on page 110).
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Dialogue with employees and
their representatives

We believe the best way to interact with our employees is
through open and direct communication. We are committed to
responding promptly and fairly to questions, concerns, or
issues, and encourage all employees to speak directly with
their supervisors, managers or an HR representative if they
have concerns. They can also use other available channels,
such as our Compliance Action Line, to raise issues.

We are committed to sharing information directly with our
employees, through intranet updates and town halls, as well as
following applicable information and consultation procedures
with elected or established collective bodies that represent
our workforce. These include works councils, recognized
unions, or other established employee representative groups.
If our employees choose to be represented by one of these
organizations, we cooperate in good faith and in accordance
with applicable laws and practices. Collective bargaining
agreements apply to different groups of employees within
Fresenius Medical Care, depending on local laws and
practices. In Europe, these apply to 51% of our employees and
worldwide to 22%. In addition, we follow standard procedures
such as compensation guidelines, employee handbooks or
standard employment contracts.

In Germany, we have various works council agreements in
place that define rights and duties at the workplace as well as
processes and procedures. These include implementation
and use of various IT tools and software solutions, flexible
work programs, and others. Throughout the reporting year,
our management was in regular exchange with the works
council and its committees, and followed applicable information
and consultation procedures. Furthermore, we implemented
various operational changes together with the German works
councils as part of the FME25 transformation program. These
included details of change measures (balance of interest
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plans) and social plans to mitigate any adverse effects of
these changes.

Following the Conversion and deconsolidation from Fresenius
SE, the general works council at Fresenius Medical Care in
Germany was re-established. Local works councils were
mostly unaffected by the change, and remained in office. At
our Bad Homburg location, the local works council started a
separate election process in December 2023.

Until the Conversion, Fresenius Medical Care employees in
Europe were covered by the Fresenius SE European works
council, which included members from twelve countries.
Should Fresenius Medical Care employees in Europe wish to
establish a Fresenius Medical Care European works council in
the future, management will respond to such a request in good
faith, and following the applicable laws and procedures for the
establishment of such a body.

More information on employee grievance mechanisms can be
found in the “Compliance” section starting on page 120. For
more information on our labor standards and human rights
principles, see the “Human Rights” section starting on
page 126.

Occupational health and safety

We are committed to providing a safe and healthy work
environment for our employees and contractors, in line with
applicable occupational health and safety (OHS) standards.
The Global Occupational Health and Safety Policy outlines
our key principles on employee protection, compliance,
management systems, awareness training, monitoring and
improvement. Our Global Occupational Health and Safety
function, which is part of the Global Legal function, drives
the Company’s global OHS strategy. It is supported by a
Company-wide network with representatives from all business
segments and regions.

CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHER
INFORMATION

= Q

Building the best team to serve
our patients

Providing support systems for our nurses

In our dialysis clinics, our nurses navigate the complex and emotion-
ally charged landscape of day-to-day patient care. Nursing is a
highly demanding profession that requires not only medical exper-
tise but also a spirit to address challenges that are inherent to health
care settings. To provide a consistently high quality of care, they also
need to be highly resilient.

Drawing on the personal experience of our nurses, one of our Care
Delivery nurse teams developed a practical program to address
resilience in health care. It trains participants in building self-aware-
ness, developing a positive mindset and coping skills, and on mind-
fulness and self-care. Nurses can test themselves to boost their
resilience. The first modules will be available at the beginning of
2024, with the remainder being rolled out during the year.

Resilience in the workplace and its impact on health and well-being
have become important topics in recent years. A major reason for
this is the impact of the recent COVID-19 pandemic on the global
workforce, resulting above all in staff shortages.
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2023 2022
Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate' 2.69 2.55
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate? 0.71

' Defined as the total number of recordable work-related injuries per 200,000 hours worked.
2 Defined as the total number of work-related lost time injuries per 200,000 hours worked.
The “Lost time Injury Frequency Rate” was measured for the first time in the reporting year.

We focus on identifying, mitigating, and preventing potential
occupational health and safety-related hazards and risks
with the aim of protecting our employees and contractors.
As part of our OHS management practices, we conduct
internal reviews and audits to monitor our compliance with
corresponding regulations, policies and procedures.

To measure the success of our efforts, we track and analyze
accidents at a local and regional level. We work to identify their
root causes and take corrective action. Since 2019, we have
tracked and reported work-related fatalities on a global level.
No work-related fatalities have been recorded since then.
In 2023, the Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR)
was 2.69.

In the year under review, we also began reporting on a new
global indicator: the Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR).
Lost time injuries are injuries that result in an employee not
being able to work for more than one day, not counting the day
of the injury. This rate is a significant KPI to evaluate the severity
of accidents at our locations. In 2023, our LTIFR was 0.71. We
also intend to monitor work-related illnesses globally in the
future (see TABLE 3.12).

To collect information on accidents more efficiently, we have
implemented a global OHS software to standardize data
capture, and centralize occupational health data. The tool
marks a milestone in our progress towards digitalization and
centralization as it enables us to manage OHS globally and
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collect real-time data in relevant countries. This will create
more transparency on the data collected and allow our
locations to improve their approach to incident risk manage-
ment. The tool has been rolled out to all our locations in North
America as well as production sites globally. We achieved our
target of 80% of users reporting data within the tool by the end
of 2023. To further support implementation, we provided user
training as part of the rollout, which will be extended into 2024.

We continue to implement programs to address specific OHS
risks and challenges both locally and globally. For instance,
we organized several initiatives in Ecuador, Colombia and Peru
to increase awareness of issues such as well-being, drug use
and handling psycho-social matters. We recognize resilience
as an important aspect of mental health in the health care
sector, and have developed a dedicated training program for
nurses with implementation in the U.S. scheduled for 2024
(see page 113 for more details).

Our employees receive regular training in line with local and
regional guidelines on health and safety to increase their
awareness of potential hazards relevant in their work environ-
ment. In our dialysis clinics, these training courses focus on
the safe use of sharps and disposables, hand hygiene,
infection prevention and emergency management. Employees
at our production sites receive training on the safe handling of
work equipment and chemicals, emergency prevention and
response, among other topics. We have been awarded the
CNA Safety in Excellence Award in the U.S. for the 22nd
year, as a testament to our successful safety programs
and initiatives.
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Environmental
Protection

Progress

— Reduced Scope 1 and 2 emissions
by 16% compared to 2020

— Implemented 100 environmental
projects as part of our
Green & Lean initiative

— Performed a global analysis of
Scope 3 emissions

We are dedicated to developing, producing, providing and
applying our products and services in an environmentally
sustainable way. Our focus is on using energy, water and raw
materials efficiently. In our business practices, we strive to
continually reduce our impact on the environment.

Environmental management

Our approach to environmental management is outlined in our
Global Environmental Policy. The policy specifies our principles
and objectives for environmental protection and addresses how
we manage and monitor our environmental impact. In addition,
we have standard operating procedures (SOPs) in place that
help us manage global data and report on environmental
indicators relating to energy consumption, greenhouse gas
emissions and water withdrawal. The SOPs are currently being
reviewed in preparation for the requirements of the EU Corpo-
rate Sustainability Reporting Directive and reflect recent
changes to our organizational structure. In 2023, we estab-
lished additional process descriptions that include indicators
such as waste management and Scope 3 GHG emissions.
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Our Global Sustainability department leads our strategic
sustainability activities on environmental topics and works
closely with our business functions to implement our activities.
The Care Delivery segment is responsible for environmental
management in our dialysis clinics, while the Care Enablement
segment is accountable for sustainable manufacturing, product
development, supply chain and sales operations. Our
Management Board receives regular status updates and
defines global targets.

Part of our environmental management involves monitoring
national and international regulations concerning the environ-
ment. We have established internal environmental standards,
which we complement with external certifications where
necessary or appropriate (see TABLE 3.13). Our production
sites, distribution centers, laboratories and dialysis clinics are
subject to internal and external audits. This involves checking
their compliance with environmental laws and local regulations,
certification requirements and internal guidelines. We inform
our employees across all levels of the organization about our
progress on environmental topics through various channels
such as internal articles, workshops and Q&A sessions.

We track and analyze data on the environmental impact of our
dialysis clinics and production sites worldwide. Various digital
tools support our environmental data collection and reporting
across our business segments and functions. We aim to contin-
uously improve data availability and quality, which includes
reducing data extrapolations and extending the reporting scope
in preparation for our Science Based Targets initiative’s (SBTi)
commitment and CSRD requirements. For example, in 2023 we
increasingly automated the consolidation and analysis of our
clinic data in the U.S. We provided employees involved in data
collection and reporting with training on the latest internal
reporting requirements. We also support the recommendations
of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
when analyzing opportunities and risks arising from climate
change to our business.
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At our production sites, we are involved in local environmental
projects that we report on as part of our global Green & Lean
initiative. Each production site is responsible for defining,
planning and implementing these projects. The Green & Lean
initiative enables best practices to be shared across the orga-
nization with the objective of reducing emissions, promoting
the efficient use of natural resources and increasing recycling
rates. For example, in 2023, we conducted energy diagnostics
workshops that brought together teams from our largest
production sites to exchange best practices.

By the end of 2023, 100 projects were reported as part of the
initiative. They were aimed at using efficient equipment to
reduce energy consumption and improving processes to
save water. As a result of these projects, we expect to save
more than 22,000 MWh of energy (1% of our total energy
consumption), prevent 5,500 tons of CO, equivalent emissions
(1% of our total Scope 1 and 2 emissions), save more than
89,000 m? of water (0.2% of our total water consumption) and
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T3.13 COVERAGE OF CERTIFIED PRODUCTION SITES
IN %

Certification 2023 2022
ISO 14001 25 25
1SO 50001 5 5

recycle or reuse more than 260 tons of waste every year (0.1%
of our total waste) (see CHART 3.14).

We also include environmental considerations in our scientific
activities at clinic level. For example, in 2023, we participated in
research on strategies for saving water in dialysis.
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Energy and climate protection

We are committed to contribute to the goals of the Paris
Agreement on climate change. For this reason, we defined
emission reduction targets.

We aim to achieve climate neutrality in our operations by 2040.
By 2030, our aim is to reduce our direct (Scope 1) and indirect
(Scope 2) GHG emissions by 50% compared to 2020
(see CHART 3.15). To achieve our targets, we will focus on:

> procuring renewable electricity,
> reducing process-related emissions and
> implementing energy-efficiency measures.

Our GHG emissions are calculated based on energy data
reported by our production sites and electricity data reported
by our dialysis clinics. We developed our targets using the
SBTi target setting tool. In January 2024, we submitted our
commitment to the SBTi, and have officially committed to the
initiative’s goals.

We aim to increase the transparency of our Scope 3 emissions
and reduce the carbon footprint of our value chain by
integrating our suppliers into our climate neutrality roadmap
within the next two years. Based on our ongoing assessment
of Scope 3 emissions, we formalized the reporting process in
line with the revised edition of the GHG Protocol. We have
analyzed Scope 3 emissions in 15 categories and are reporting
on those that are relevant for our business (see TABLE 3.18 on
page 118). Purchased goods and services as 